Public Document Pack

THREE RIVERS e R ey
DISTRICT COUNCIL e Wos SRl

GENERAL PUBLIC SERVICES AND
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

NOTICE AND AGENDA

For a meeting to be held on Tuesday, 1 July 2025 at 7.30 pm at Penn Chamber, Three Rivers
House, Rickmansworth.

Members of the General Public Services and Community Engagement Committee:-

Councillors:

Sarah Nelmes (Chair) Steve Drury (Vice-Chair)
Christopher Alley Kevin Raeburn

lan Campbell Paul Rainbow

Lisa Hudson Narinder Sian

Stephen King

Joanne Wagstaffe, Chief Executive
Monday, 23 June 2025

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public on agenda items at the General
Public Services and Community Engagement Committee meetings. Details of the procedure are
provided below:

For those wishing to speak:

Members of the public are entitled to register and identify which item(s) they wish to speak on
from the published agenda for the meeting. Those who wish to register to speak are asked to
register on the night of the meeting from 7pm. Please note that contributions will be limited to one
person speaking for and one against each item for not more than three minutes.

In the event of registering your interest to speak on an agenda item but not taking up that right
because the item is deferred, you will be given the right to speak on that item at the next meeting
of the Committee.

Those wishing to observe the meeting are requested to arrive from 7pm.

In accordance with The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 any matters
considered under Part | business only of the meeting may be filmed, recorded, photographed,
broadcast or reported via social media by any person.

Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of
those doing the recording and reporting to ensure compliance. This will include the Human
Rights Act, the Data Protection Legislation and the laws of libel and defamation.

The meeting may be livestreamed and an audio recording of the meeting will be made.

Page 1



Apologies for Absence
Minutes

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the General
Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure meeting held on 18
March 2025.

Notice of Urgent Business

Items of other business notified under Council Procedure Rule 30 to be
announced, together with the special circumstances that justify their
consideration as a matter of urgency. The Chair to rule on the admission
of such items.

Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of interest.

Petition received under Council Procedure Rule 18

The Committee is asked to receive a petition which requests the Council
to include Fairfield Avenue into the parking permit area being arranged
for Gosforth Lane, as detailed below. The petition has been signed by
58 residents.

"We, the undersigned, call upon Three Rivers to include Fairfield
Avenue into the parking permit area being arranged for Gosforth Lane.
We have the same parking problems with people using the Social
Centre and garage using Fairfield Avenue as a free car park, leaving
residents with nowhere to park.”

Presentation from Amanda Williams on the work of the Watford and
Three Rivers Trust

Variation of the Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) with
Restrictions for Dogs

This report requests seeks agreement to variation of the Public Spaces
Protection Order (PSPO) for the restriction for dogs for the remaining
period of the current PSPO i.e. until 315 March 2028.

Recommendation

That approval is granted to vary the current PSPO relating to dog control
for the remainder of the current PSPO.

Community Safety Annual Report 2024-2025
This report presents the Annual Community Safety Report 2024-25.

Recommendation

That members of the committee consider and comment on the Community

Safety Annual Report.

Page 2

(Pages 5 - 8)

(Verbal Report)

(Pages 9 - 50)

(Pages 51 - 60)



10.

11.

Housing Allocations Policy Review 2025

This report sets out recommended changes to the Housing Allocations
Policy and seeks approval for a public consultation on the proposed
changes.

Recommendation

That the Committee agrees that the recommended changes to the
Council’'s Housing Allocations Policy are progressed to a four week
(minimum) public consultation.

App Based Parking Payment Solution

This report recommends the Council’'s approach to adopting a phone
app-based parking payment solution. This system would be usable at
existing ‘pay by plate’ locations including council carparks and certain
on-street locations.

Recommendation
That:

i)  Members note the report and approve officers to progress the
implementation of an app-based parking payment solution including
entering an agreement/contract with a provider;

ii)  Members approve the mitigations outlined in 2.5;

i) Members agree to not pursue the National Parking Platform but
plan for future compatibility as outlined in 5.2;

iv) Members agree for officers to progress with procuring an app under
the recommendation outlined in 5.4;

v) Members delegate the final details to progress an app-based
parking solution to the Director or Finance in conjunction with the
relevant Lead Member, to implement the new system in the current
financial year;

vi) That public access to the report be immediate; and
vii) That public access to the decision be immediate.
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Following consideration of a draft LCWIP at GPSCS&I Committee in
October 2024, Officers have made further amendments and redrafted
the LCWIP for adoption (Appendix A). This updated document reflects
the previously agreed amendments detailed at GPSCS&I which were
based on the analysis of the response to the public consultation held
from 22 May to 17 July 2023.

The LCWIP is a 10-year plan which enables Three Rivers district to

benefit from central government funding to improve walking and cycling
routes.

Page 3

(Pages 61 - 112)

(Pages 113 - 130)

(Pages 131 - 262)



Recommendation

That Members agree that the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure
Plan (LCWIP) attached at Appendix A is adopted.

12. Other Business - if approved under item 3 above

13. Work Programme (Pages 263 - 264)
To comment on the Committee’s work programme.

Exclusion of Public and Press

If the Committee wishes to consider any items in private, it will be appropriate for a
resolution to be passed in the following terms:

“that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public be
excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in Part | of Schedule 12A to the Act. It has been decided by the
Council that in all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.”

(Note: If other confidential business is approved under item 3, it will also be necessary to
specify the class of exempt or confidential information in the additional items).

General Enquiries: Please contact the Committee Team at
committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk

Page 4


mailto:committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2

THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL e D3 TRL

General Public Services, Community Safety & Infrastructure
MINUTES

Of a meeting held in the Penn Chamber, Three Rivers House, Rickmansworth, on
Tuesday, 18 March 2025 from 7.30 - 8.14 pm

Present: Councillors Sarah Nelmes, Andrew Scarth (in the Chair), Oliver Cooper,
Lisa Hudson, Joan King, Kevin Raeburn, Narinder Sian and Mike Sims

Also in Attendance:

Councillors Stephen King, Chris Lloyd and Chris Whately-Smith

Officers in Attendance:

Michelle Howell, Interim Head of Finance

Emma Lund, Senior Committee Officer

Kimberley Rowley, Head of Regulatory Services

33 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Louise Price and Christopher Alley.

Councillor Mike Sims substituted for Councillor Christopher Alley.

34 MINUTES

The minutes of the General Public Services, Community Safety & Infrastructure Committee

meeting held on 14 January 2025 were confirmed as a correct record, subject to checking of

the Committee’s decision relating to resolution (ii) of the Parking Management Programme at

Minute 27.

Subsequent to the meeting it was confirmed that the Committee had resolved that officers

should bring an interim report to the Committee in 2026. Resolution (ii) of Minute 27 is

therefore amended as shown below:

(i) Officers continue to develop the Parking Management Programme as outlined in this
report for 24 months, bringing an interim report in 2026 and a further programme setting
report in 2027.

35 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

36 NOTICE OF URGENT BUSINESS

No urgent business had been notified.

37 PETITIONS RECEIVED UNDER COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 18

Page 5



37a GADE BANK HMO DEVELOPMENT

Angela Horan, the Lead Petitioner, presented a petition which objected to the proposed
development of 10 Gade Bank into a 6-bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (HMO).

Councillor Sarah Nelmes responded to the petitioner on behalf of Councillor Louise Price who
was not present at the meeting, as follows:

‘From a planning perspective it is unlikely that planning permission would be required from the
Council for a change of use from a dwelling house to a House in Multiple Occupation. If the
house is to be occupied by fewer than 6 residents then planning permission is automatically
granted by Government legislation known as the General Permitted Development Order (as
amended), otherwise known as ‘permitted development.’ In such cases, the Council has no
decision-making powers and therefore no ability to assess such a proposed development.

In terms of an Article 4 Direction to withdraw these permitted development rights, regard has
to be had to national planning policy on this matter as well. The wording of the National
Planning Policy Framework limits the ability of local planning authorities to implement Article 4
Directions unless they have significant justification and robust evidence for doing so. Such
evidence would include, for example, if there were a significant increase in HMO conversions
in the district which was having a significant and detrimental impact on local housing supply.
This is not considered to be the case in Three Rivers given that there are actually currently
only 14 registered HMOs within the district and currently no new HMO licence applications
have come in. Furthermore, it is not considered appropriate to apply an Article 4 Direction to
one solitary street within a district on the premise that a single dwelling may be converted to
an HMO. Article 4 Directions take significant time and resources to implement, including
needing the approval of the Secretary of State and a lengthy consultation prior to
implementation. So it is very unlikely that an Article 4 Direction could take place if a dwelling
in Gade Bank is converted to a HMO.

However, notwithstanding the planning position outlined, all HMOs - irrespective of size - must
comply with the Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation Regulations 2006. These
regulations, which are enforced by the Council’s Residential Environmental Team, define the
legal responsibilities for landlords and managers of HMOs in England and Wales. This would
include matters such as the fire risk concerns and that sort of thing. Any HMO rented to 5 or
more individuals forming 2 or more households and sharing facilities must hold a mandatory
licence issued by the Council. The licensing process focuses on assessing the property’s
suitability and the landlord’s ability to manage it effectively, prioritising safety and management
standards such as amenities, space requirements and fire safety. No application for an HMO
licence has currently been received by Residential Environmental Health for an address in
Gade Bank.’

37b  OLD MILL ROAD PARKING

Simon Ash, the Lead Petitioner, presented a petition which requested a limit to the number of
vehicles parked between the chicane and the double yellow lines towards the Shell garage at
Old Mill Road.

The Lead Member, Councillor Sarah Nelmes, responded as follows:

‘In responding to this petition we will request Officers record the request on the District
Council’s parking management request list, and in fact Councillor Whately-Smith has already
done that so it is on that list.

We have significant numbers of requests for new parking controls and every request is
carefully prioritised against an agreed set of criteria to determine whether it will be included in
the Parking Management work programme. The next scheduled review of the work
programme, and the re-ordering of it if any is required, is January 2027. If your request is

Page 6



investigated you will hear about it through an initial public consultation exercise, when we
consult all local addresses and the public to confirm the scale and nature of the problem. This
could lead to a statutory legal process to create new parking restrictions but will depend on the
response to the public consultation.’

37c  MONEYHILL PARADE PARKING

Michael Charnock, the Lead Petitioner, presented a petition which requested that the Council
suspends parking restrictions on Moneyhill Parade.

The Lead Member, Councillor Sarah Nelmes, responded as follows:

The objective of any parking scheme is to improve and manage the parking on the public
highway, a situation that needed investigation in this location given the previous public
requests we had received and initial support for considering parking in the locality. Whilst any
scheme progressed will change the current parking situation and result in a degree of
displacement parking it is intended there are wider benefits of any scheme, which includes in
this scheme encouraging a short term parking churn outside the shops/businesses for
customers to be able to park and improvements to road safety and the passage of through
traffic. As with any parking scheme Officers have to consider the requirements of a number of
different users (i.e. residents, visitors, employers and their employees) in formulating a
scheme.

The Rickmansworth West parking scheme was initiated in 2017 following agreement from the
Sustainable Development, Planning and Transport Committee (the report can be found here:
Sustainable Development, Planning and Transport Committee - 6 September 2016 | Three
Rivers District Council ). During investigation of the scheme it has incurred a lengthy process
of public consultation. Over the past 7 years the Council has consulted extensively with both
residents and businesses and taken into account feedback in how the scheme has been
developed. We have consulted on this scheme by letter / post with two public exhibitions and
this has included letters to residential and commercial properties in the scheme area and site
notices erected on affected roads.

A further detailed Committee report on the scheme was presented to the Infrastructure,
Housing and Economic Development Committee in November 2022, to determine which roads
to pursue controls in and which to exclude.

Parking and business permits have been introduced to ensure there is parking made available
for residents and businesses. The costs of those permits reflect those around the rest of the
district and specifically for Rickmansworth in terms of business permits.

The Council has committed to reviewing the scheme within 12 months of implementation and
as such the scheme will be reviewed later in the year to evaluate the impact of the new
parking restrictions and to review any suggestions for improvement.’

38 BUDGET MANAGEMENT REPORT P10

The Interim Head of Finance presented the P10 budget report. It was noted that the
comprehensive budget monitoring report had been presented to the Policy & Resources
Committee on 10 March and this had sought approval to a change in the Council’'s 2024/25 —
2027/28 medium term financial plan.

The Interim Head of Finance highlighted that there was a forecast favourable variance for the
revenue budget of £0.129m compared with the forecast reported at P8. The revenue budgets
within each service area which had contributed to the variance were explained in detail and
were also set out in the report.

Page 7


https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/meetings/sustainable-development-planning-and-transport-committee-6-september-2016
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/meetings/sustainable-development-planning-and-transport-committee-6-september-2016

Virements were detailed in Annex B and had predominantly been linked to the receipt of
grants and corresponding expenditure within Community Partnerships, expenditure linked to
the planned use of earmarked reserves for neighbourhood plans, and the transfer of a repairs
and maintenance budget from Garden Waste to Street Cleansing.

The latest capital investment programme for 2024/25 was £5.241m and the forecast year-end
position was estimated to be £5.056m, resulting a service variation of c£185,000. The
forecast variances to agreed budgets were set out in Annexes C and D.

The Interim Head of Finance reported that all income streams (set out at Annex E) were
currently on target to achieve budget income levels in 2024/25.

The Committee noted that the report had included three vacancies as at 31 January 2025, and
of those vacancies employment offers had now been made in relation to two posts.

A Committee Member noted a budget increase related to the increased cost of removing
abandoned vehicles and recommended that officers investigate whether these costs could be
recharged to the last registered owner through tracing of the registration plate.

In response to a Member’s question about the £100,000 transport infrastructure item which
was being rephased into next year, officers responded that this was due to the fact that no
significant capital schemes (for example, the verge hardening programme) had been
progressed from that budget in the current year. Additionally, the development of the Local
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan, which was due to come forward for adoption later in
the year, meant that no cycling schemes had been progressed. There had also been capacity
issues arising from staff absence.

Committee Members asked questions about the details of the report which were responded to
by officers.

RESOLVED:

That:

() Members note and comment on the contents of the report.

39 WORK PROGRAMME

The Committee noted its future work programme.

In response to a question officers advised that the work programme was reviewed regularly,
and items for the meetings which were scheduled for later in the year would be added in due

course. Officers were asked to note that it would be helpful to committee members to be
notified of future agenda items via the work programme at an early stage.

CHAIR

Page 8



Agenda Item 7

VARIATION OF THE PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) WITH
RESTRICTIONS FOR DOGS

General Public Services and Community Engagement Committee — 1 July 2025

(ADE)
1. Summary

1.1. This report requests that Council varies the Public Spaces Protection Order for the
restriction for dogs for the remaining period of the current PSPO i.e. until 31 March
2028.

2. Background

2.1. The Council first implemented a PSPO relating to the control of dogs which came into
effect on 1% April 2016. The PSPO was then extended in 2019 and then again in 2022.
If was further extended in April 2025, via an Urgent Decision, to ensure it did not expire
but allowing time for a full report to be considered in relation to the proposed variations
as set out in this report.

2.2. The current level of Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) is £100.
2.3. The current PSPO lists the following offences:
=  Failing to remove dog faeces - district wide.

=  Failing to keep a dog on a lead- applies only to the area directly surrounding the
café at The Aquadrome.

=  Failing to put a dog on a lead if directed to do so by an authorised officer - district
wide.

=  Permitting a dog to enter or remain on specified land from which dogs are
excluded - children’s play areas, courts, outdoor gyms, skate areas, fenced
picnic areas - district wide.

e Permitting a dog to enter or remain on land used for the grazing of animal on
Chorleywood House Estate - between 1st June and 30th September inclusive.

¢ Restrict the number of dogs one person can be in charge of to a maximum of 4
- district wide.

2.4, Since the implementation of the PSPO the Council has issued six FPNs for a range
of breaches and has also banned a commercial dog walker using the CPN route.
More detail can be found via www.threerivers.gov.uk/news/commercial-dog-walker-
banned-three-rivers-area.

3. Public Consultation
3.1 The public consultation on the proposed extension of the PSPO along with proposals

for amendment was undertaken from 26" November 2024 to 315t December 2024. The
consultation was publicised through the council website, social media and e-updates.

Page 9


https://cdn.threerivers.gov.uk/files/2025/04/ce1fad90-1086-11f0-bb44-0338f010bc38-public-space-protection-order-pspo-dogs-2025.pdf
http://www.threerivers.gov.uk/news/commercial-dog-walker-banned-three-rivers-area
http://www.threerivers.gov.uk/news/commercial-dog-walker-banned-three-rivers-area

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

In addition to the public consultation the proposals were directly communicated to
Parish Councils, the Police, the Police and Crime Commissioner, Hertfordshire
County Council and The Kennel Club.

The proposed variations consulted on were as follows:

» Failing to have a dog on a lead on land that is in active use for the grazing of
animals. This variation reflects the changes to grazing on council land since the
initial introduction of the PSPO and would replace the restriction detailed as
shown in point 2.3.

= Failing to put a dog on a lead within the Aquadrome. This variation reflects
consultation feedback received as part of the development of the Aquadrome
Management Plan and the adoption of the Aquadrome Asbestos Management
Plan and would replace the restriction detailed in 2.3

» Failing to put a dog on the lead in the area surrounding the café at Leavesden
Country Park.

» Failing to put a dog on the lead on land adjacent to the highway — district wide.

The consultation responses are shown in the Appendix. Seven Three Rivers’
residents responded, two of which were dog owners. Three respondents advised that
they had experienced problems with dogs. Three out of the seven also felt that there
was a fairly or very big problem with dogs out of control and four residents felt that
there was a problem with dog mess.

All participants feel that dog walkers should clean up after their dogs, be placed on
leads by direction and be excluded from children’s play areas.

In relation to the questions to do with dogs on grazing land and ungated children’s
play areas opinions were inconclusive.

Five respondents felt that dogs should continue to be kept on leads around the café
in the aguadrome and four believe that the same should be introduced at Leavesden
County Park.

Three respondents were not in favour of having dogs on leads across the whole
aquadrome site.

The majority of the respondents believed that four should be the maximum number
of dogs permitted to be walked by any one person.

The majority also felt the proposals were proportionate.

The Council also received a submission from the Kennel Club, which raised a number
of points, the key issues being as follows:

e  Query on dog restrictions over Croxley Common Moor - officers response is that
the restrictions are only in direct relation to the areas and timing of livestock
presence.

e Support expressed for measures to address dog fouling, but advocate for

awareness raising rather than solely focussing on PSPOs — officers response is
that the council promotes responsible dog ownership and this with continue.

Page 10



4.2

e  Support expressed for reasonable on-lead orders in specific areas but opposes
the blanket ban on dogs being off-lead at Rickmansworth Aquadrome — officer
response is that the proposal is reasonable to balance the needs to the dog
owners, other users of the site and the protection of the nature reserve, its fragile
ecosystems and to manage the risk of asbestos exposure.

e  Support for dogs on lead by direction where officers enforcing are knowledgeable
about dog behaviour to ensure fair application — officer response is this is in
place.

e Opposition to blanket exclusions from public spaces and arbitrary limits on the
number of dogs one person can walk, suggesting instead accreditation schemes
for commercial dog walkers as a more effective way to promote responsible
behaviour — officer response is that public consultation has and continues to
demonstrate public support for this restriction.

e Advocation for flexibility within the order in relation to assistance dogs — officer
response is that this is already considered and included.

Options and reasons for recommendations

Option 1 (Officer Recommendation) — Approve the variations of the current PSPO
relating to dog control throughout the district for the remainder of the current PSPO,
until 31% March 2028. By maintaining the current powers and adding the variations
related to dog control ensures there are deterrents in place and penalties for those
who fail to behave responsibly. It aids in balancing the needs of dog owners and other
members of the community as well as the needs of our natural spaces and
ecosystems and in dealing with anti-social behaviour.

Option 2 — Maintain the current PSPO relating to dog control throughout the district
without implementing the additional proposed variations.

Policy/Budget Reference and Implications

The recommendations in this report are within the Council’'s agreed policy and
budgets.

Community Safety and Public Health

Having the PSPO will aid ensuring that all members of the community can safely
enjoy the amenity space provided by the council and will assist Officers in dealing
with the activities of irresponsible dog owners across the district.

Communications

Signage throughout the district will be updated in due course. The website will also
require updating. This can all be met within existing resources.

Legal Implications

The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act) provides Local
Authorities with powers to make Public Spaces Protection orders (PSPOs). These
orders are intended to address activities carried out in public spaces which have a
detrimental effect on those in the locality.

Page 11



8.2

9.1
10

10.1

10.2

11
111
12
12.1
13

13.1

13.2

Under the Act, a PSPO runs for 3 years unless extended and/or varied in accordance
with the provisions of the Act. The current PSPO period ends on 315 March 2028.

Financial Implications
None specific to this report.
Staffing Implications

The Council employs one Animal Welfare Licensing Inspector (AWLI) who is
authorised to issue FPNs under the PSPO. The enforcement of this PSPO
represents just one of a number of responsibilities of this officer, therefore proactive
enforcement of the PSPO is limited.

So, whilst the PSPO can and has been enforced, with six FPNs being issued since
implementation of the PSPO, the number is minimal. This does not mean that the
PSPO is not needed, it remains a deterrent and is a tool to enforce should the need
arise.

Equal Opportunities Implications

An equalities impact assessment has been undertaken

Climate Change and Sustainability Implications

A sustainability impact assessment has been undertaken resulting in a score of: 3.2
Risk and Health & Safety Implications

The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on the
website at http://www.threerivers.gov.uk. In addition, the risks of the proposals in the
report have also been assessed against the Council’s duties under Health and Safety
legislation relating to employees, visitors and persons affected by our operations. The
risk management implications of this report are detailed below. 1

The subject of this report is covered by the Waste and Environment Service Plan.
Any risks resulting from this report will be included in the risk register and, if
necessary, managed within that plan.

Nature of Consequence | Suggested Response Risk Rating

KBS K:/Izgtsr&les (tolerate, treat | (combination
terminate, of likelihood
transfer) and impact)

Dogs are A resident falls | PSPO Publicise the 2

allowed to foul | ill through enforcement

without their contact with Byelaws powers of the

faeces being | dog faeces Use of CPNs | council and

picked up restrictions of
the PSPO

Aggressive Risk of PSPO Publicise the 6

and attack/injury on enforcement

uncontrolled people, wildlife Byelaws powers of the

dogs and other dogs | Use of CPNs | council and

Page 12



13.3

151

15.2

16

16.1

restrictions of
the PSPO

The above risks are scored using the matrix below. The Council has determined its
aversion to risk and is prepared to tolerate risks where the combination of impact and
likelihood scores 6 or less.

|_\
(6]
< Low High
@
= 4 8
—
.
D .
< Low Medium
s |3 6
.
cg Low Low Medium High
>0
S |2 4 6 8
o
v Low Low Low Low
1
3 1 2 3 4
=1
© Impact
Low » Unacceptable
Impact Score Likelihood Score
4 (Catastrophic) 4 (Very Likely (=80%))
3 (Critical) 3 (Likely (21-79%))
2 (Significant) 2 (Unlikely (6-20%))
1 (Marginal) 1 (Remote (£5%))

In the officers’ opinion none of the new risks above, were they to come about, would
seriously prejudice the achievement of the Strategic Plan and are therefore
operational risks.

The effectiveness of the management of operational risks is reviewed by the Audit
Committee annually. Progress against the treatment plans for strategic risks is
reported to the Policy and Resources Committee quarterly. The effectiveness of all
treatment plans are reviewed by the Audit Committee annually.

Recommendation

It is recommended that:

Page 13



16.2 Approval be granted to vary the current PSPO relating to dog control for the
remainder of the current PSPO.

17 Appendices
17.1 Appendix 1: Response Data from public consultation
17.2 Appendix 2: EIQA

17.3 Appendix 3: Sustainability Impact Assessment

Background Papers:

Report prepared by: Jennie Probert, Environmental Strategy Manager

Data Quality

Data sources: Public Consultation on Dogs PSPO
Data checked by:

Carl Harris- Consultation Officer

Data rating: Tick

1 | Poor
2 | Sufficient | X
3 | High

Background Papers

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

Page 14



Project Report

01 October 2024 - 31 December 2024

Have Your Say Three Rivers

Variations and extension of Public Spaces
Protection Order

@ GRANICUS

Visitors Summary Highlights

MAX VISITORS PER
| TOTAL VISI§ DAY

100 72 20
NEW
REGISTRATI
ONS
50 2
ENGAGED INFORMED@ AWARE
VISITORS VISITORS VISITORS
2AA /\ J ™\ AN
1 Nov '24 1 Dec 24 7 39 56
— Pageviews Visitors
Aware Participants 56 Engaged Participants 7
Aware Actions Performed Participants Engaged Actions Performed
Registered Unverified Anonymous
Visited a Project or Tool Page 56
Informed Participants 39 Contributed on Forums 0 0 0
. . Participated in Surveys 7 0 0
Informed Actions Performed Participants
Contributed to Newsfeeds 0 0 0
Viewed a video 0
. Participated in Quick Polls 0 0 0
Viewed a photo 0
Posted on Guestbooks 0 0 0
Downloaded a document 20
i i 0 0
Visited the Key Dates page 0 Contributed to Stories 0
Visited an FAQ list Page 0 Asked Questions 0 0 0
Visited Instagram Page 0 Placed Pins on Places 0 0 0
Visited Multiple Project Pages 29 Contributed to Ideas 0 0 0
Contributed to a tool (engaged) 7
Page 15




Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

ENGAGEMENT TOOLS SUMMARY

0 1 0 0 0

FORUM TOPICS SURVEYS NEWS FEEDS QUICK POLLS GUEST BOOKS

0 0 0

STORIES Q8A S PLACES

Tool Type Contributors
Engagement Tool Name Tool Status Visitors
Registered Unverified Anonymous
Survey Tool | Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) options 29 - 0 0

Page 16

Page 2 of 22




Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

INFORMATION WIDGET SUMMARY

8 0 0

0 0

DOCUMENTS PHOTOS VIDEOS FAQS KEY DATES
L
Widget Type
Engagement Tool Name Visitors Views/Downloads
D t
ocumen Chorleywood House Grounds PSPO.pdf 10 10
Document
The Aquadrome Cafe PSPO.pdf 7 7
D
ocument Dog Control - DRAFT CONSULTATION 6 8
Document
The Aguadrome PSPO (003).pdf 6 6
D
ocument Croxley Common Moor PSPO (003).pdf 5 6
Document )
The Horsefield PSPO.pdf 4 4
D t
ocumen The Withey Beds PSPO (003).pdf 3 3
Document
! Leavesden Country Park PSPO (003).pdf 2 2
Key D
ey Dates Key Date 0 0

Page 3 of 22




Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

ENGAGEMENT TOOL: SURVEY TOOL
Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) options

Visitors Contributors CONTRIBUTIONS

In what capacity are you responding to this questionnaire?

L 7(100.0%)

Question options
® Ilive in Three Rivers

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

a]
Page 4 of 22 g



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Are you a dog owner?

_— 2(28.6%)

5(71.4%) —

Question options
®Yes © No

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 19

Page 5 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Are you an assistance dog * owner ?

L 2(100.0%)

Question options
® No

Optional question (2 response(s), 5 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 6 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Are you a professional dog walker?

L 7(100.0%)

Question options
® No

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

a]
Page 7 of 22 >



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Have you or a member of your family or someone you know had any problems
regarding dog behaviour in Three Rivers in the past year?

3(42.9%) — —— 3(42.9%)

L 1(14.3%)

Question options
® Yes (me) © Yes (someone | know) @ No

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 8 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

As you answered yes to Have you or a member of your family or someone you know
had any problems regarding dog behaviour in Three Rivers in the past year was this
related to any of the following (please select all that apply)

Question options
® Dog fouling @ Dog running out of control @ Dog attack on dog or another pet or animal @ Dog attack on person
@ Dog loose in children’s play areas or other dog free area @ Felt threatened by dogs behaviour ~ @ Stray dog

Optional question (4 response(s), 3 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 9 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Do you think that there is a problem with dogs being out of control in Three Rivers?

1(14.3%) ~

2(28.6%)

;o 1(14.3%)

——  2(28.6%)

Question options
@ Avery big problem @ A fairly big problem @ A fairly small problem @ Not aproblem @ Don't know

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

a]
Page 10 of 22 g



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Do you think that dog mess is a problem in Three Rivers?

1(14.3%)

_— 2(28.6%)

2(28.6%) —

- 2(28.6%)

Question options
@ Avery big problem @ A fairly big problem @ A fairly small problem @ Not a problem

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 11 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Do you agree the following should be continued in Three Rivers A ‘dog fouling of
land’ prohibition. Dog walkers must clean up after their dog.

L 7(100.0%)

Question options
® Agree

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 12 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Do you agree the following should be continued in Three Rivers: A ‘dogs on leads by
direction’ requirement (as detailed above)

L 7(100.0%)

Question options
® Agree

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

%J
N
~

Page 13 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Should the following be retained in Three Rivers: Dog exclusion: excluded from all
gated children’s play areas and sporting areas (such as multi use games areas
(MUGA), tennis courts, bowling greens etc) in Three Rivers

L 7(100.0%)

Question options
® Agree

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Y
Q)
Q
@
N
(00]

Page 14 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Should the following be introduced in Three Rivers: Dog exclusion: excluded from all
areas of council land where and when active grazing is taking place - this would
apply to the locations shown on the maps belowThe Withey BedsCroxley common
Moor

_— 2(28.6%)

4(57.1%) —

- 1(14.3%)

Question options
®Yes © No @ Don'tknow

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 15 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Should the following be introduced in Three Rivers: Dog exclusion: excluded from all
ungated children’s play areas and sporting areas in use (such as football and cricket
pitches, outdoor gym areas) in Three Rivers

3 (42.9%) — ——  3(42.9%)

L 1(14.3%)

Question options
®Yes © No @ Don'tknow

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

%J
w
@)

Page 16 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Should the following be retained in Three Rivers: Dogs must be kept on a lead in the
area surrounding the Café in the Park in The Aquadrome, Rickmansworth,
Hertfordshire. The area is shown edged in yellow on the map.

1(14.3%)

1(14.3%) —

- 5(71.4%)

Question options
®Yes © No @ Don'tknow

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 17 of 22 Fadyc ol



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Should the following be retained in Three Rivers: Dogs must be kept on a lead in the
area surrounding the Café in the Park in The Leavesden County Park ,
Hertfordshire.The area is shown edged in red on the map.

2(28.6%) .

—  4(57.1%)

1(14.3%) —

Question options
®Yes © No @ Don'tknow

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Y
Q
Q
D
w
N

Page 18 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Should this be introduced in Three Rivers: Dogs must be kept on a lead within the
entire site The Aquadrome, Rickmansworth, Hertfordshire. Please view map of area.

2(28.6%) _— 2(28.6%)

L 3(42.9%)

Question options
®Yes © No @ Don'tknow

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 19 of 22 Fage oo



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

A ‘maximum number of dogs’ requirement limiting the number of dogs one person
can walk at a time to FOUR.

1(14.3%)

6 (85.7%)

Question options
®Yes © No

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Y
Q)
Q
@
w
M

Page 20 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

As you do not agree, how many dogs do you think one person could be able to walk
at one time?

L 1(100.0%)

Question options
@ Other (please specify)

Optional question (1 response(s), 6 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

)
Q
«
@D
w
on

Page 21 of 22



Have Your Say Three Rivers : Summary Report for 01 October 2024 to 31 December 2024

Do you think the proposals are proportionate?

1(14.3%) -

6 (85.7%)

Question options
®Yes © No

Optional question (7 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 22 of 22 Fage sb



)€ abed

Short Equality Impact and Outcome Assessment (EIA) Template
ElAs make services better for everyone and support value for money by getting services right first time.

ElAs enable us to consider all the information about a service, policy or strategy from an equalities perspective and then action plan to get the
best outcomes for staff and service-users! .They analyse how all our work as a council might impact differently on different groups 2

They help us make good decisions and evidence how we have reached these decisions.?
See end notes for full guidance. For further support or advice please contact the Community Partnerships Team
Equality Impact and Outcomes Assessment (EIA) Template

First, consider whether you need to complete an EIA, or if there is another way to evidence assessment of impacts, or that an EIA is not
needed 4

Title ® EXTENSION OF PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION | ID No © EPO02
ORDER WITH RESTRICTIONS FOR DOGS

Team/Service’ | Environmental Protection

Focus of EIA 8 | The Council implemented a PSPO relating to the control of dogs which came into effect on 1% April 2016. The PSPO was
then extended in 2019 and then again in 2022.

This report requests that Council varies and extends the Dogs Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for the District for
the period April 2025 — March 2022.

The current PSPO lists the following offences:
= Failing to remove dog faeces - district wide.
= Failing to keep a dog on a lead- applies only to the area directly surrounding the café at The Aquadrome.

= Failing to put a dog on a lead if directed to do so by an authorised officer - district wide.




g¢ abed

= Permitting a dog to enter or remain on specified land from which dogs are excluded - children’s play areas,
courts, outdoor gyms, skate areas, fenced picnic areas - district wide.

o Permitting a dog to enter or remain on land used for the grazing of animal on Chorleywood House Estate -
between 1st June and 30th September inclusive.

¢ Restrict the number of dogs one person can be in charge of to a maximum of 4 - district wide
In addition, it is requested that the additional offences be considered.

= Failing to have a dog on a lead on land that is in active use for the grazing of animals. This variation reflects the
changes to grazing on council land since the initial introduction of the PSPO and would replace the restriction
detailed as shown in point 2.3.

» Failing to put a dog on a lead within the Aquadrome. This variation reflects consultation feedback received as
part of the development of the Aquadrome Management Plan and the adoption of the Aquadrome Asbestos
Management Plan and would replace the restriction detailed in 2.3

= Failing to put a dog on the lead in the area surrounding the café at Leavesden Country Park.

= Failing to put a dog on the lead on land adjacent to the highway — district wide

Assessment of overall impacts and any further recommendations °

A public consultation was held between 26th November to 31st December 2024, with a total of seven respondents. Three respondents
advised that they had experienced problems with dogs. Three out of the seven also felt that there was a fairly or very big problem with dogs
out of control and four residents felt that there was a problem with dog mess. Implementing the restrictions above would ensure that locations
that are shared by dog walkers and non-dog walkers alike can be enjoyed equally by all without risk of attack or experiencing discarded dog
mess.




6E abed

Potential Issues

Mitigating Actions

Residents with protected characteristics of maternity/pregnancy, age
or disabilities (including long term health conditions) may be unable
to bend to remove dog faeces or comply with other restrictions.

A resident with an assistance dog may not be aware there are dog
faeces to remove or comply with other restrictions.

Residents speaking English as a second language may have limited
understanding of PSPO signage

Officers to receive training about this aspect of enforcement.

An FPN can be appealed and evidence provided about mitigating
circumstances.

Owners with liveried assistance dogs will not be challenged by an
enforcement officer.

PSPO information will be added to TRDC website, where “recite me”
tool can be used to translate into a range of languages and be
spoken.

Actions Planned °

Officers to receive training about this aspect of enforcement.

An FPN can be appealed and evidence provided about mitigating circumstances.

Owners with liveried assistance dogs will not be challenged by an enforcement officer.

PSPO information will be added to TRDC website, where “recite me” tool can be used to translate into a range of languages and be spoken.

EIA sign-off: (for the EIA to be final an email must sent from the relevant people agreeing it or this section must be signed)

Equality Impact Assessment officer: Jennie Probert

Equalities Lead Officer: Shivani Davé

Date: 07/03/2025
Date: 07/03/2025




0t obed

Guidance end-notes

1 The following principles, drawn from case law, explain what we must do to fulfil our duties under the Equality Act:
o Knowledge: everyone working for the council must be aware of our equality duties and apply them appropriately in their work.
¢ Timeliness: the duty applies at the time of considering policy options and/or before a final decision is taken — not afterwards.

¢ Real Consideration: the duty must be an integral and rigorous part of your decision-making and influence the process. e Sufficient
Information:; you must assess what information you have and what is needed to give proper consideration.

¢ No delegation: the council is responsible for ensuring that any contracted services which provide services on our behalf can comply with the
duty, are required in contracts to comply with it, and do comply in practice. It is a duty that cannot be delegated.

¢ Review: the equality duty is a continuing duty. It applies when a policy is developed/agreed, and when it is implemented/reviewed.
¢ Proper Record Keeping: to show that we have fulfilled our duties we must keep records of the process and the impacts identified.

NB: Filling out this EIA in itself does not meet the requirements of the equality duty. All the requirements above must be fulfilled or the EIA (and
any decision based on it) may be open to challenge. Properly used, an EIA can be a tool to help us comply with our equality duty and as a
record that to demonstrate that we have done so.

2 Our duties in the Equality Act 2010

As a council, we have a legal duty (under the Equality Act 2010) to show that we have identified and considered the impact and potential
impact of our activities on all people with ‘protected characteristics’ (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, and marriage and civil partnership.

This applies to policies, services (including commissioned services), and our employees. The level of detail of this consideration will depend on
what you are assessing, who it might affect, those groups’ vulnerability, and how serious any potential impacts might be. We use this EIA
template to complete this process and evidence our consideration

The following are the duties in the Act. You must give ‘due regard’ (pay conscious attention) to the need to:



T obed

e avoid, reduce or minimise negative impact (if you identify unlawful discrimination, including victimisation and harassment, you must stop
the action and take advice immediately).

e promote equality of opportunity. This means the need to: — Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by equality groups — Take
steps to meet the needs of equality groups — Encourage equality groups to participate in public life or any other activity where
participation is disproportionately low — Consider if there is a need to treat disabled people differently, including more favourable
treatment where necessary

o foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. This means: — Tackle prejudice —
Promote understanding

3 ElAs are always proportionate to:

The size of the service or scope of the policy/strategy
The resources involved

The numbers of people affected

The size of the likely impact

The vulnerability of the people affected

The greater the potential adverse impact of the proposed policy on a protected group (e.g. disabled people), the more vulnerable the group in
the context being considered, the more thorough and demanding the process required by the Act will be.

4 When to complete an EIA:

¢ When planning or developing a new service, policy or strategy

¢ When reviewing an existing service, policy or strategy

¢ When ending or substantially changing a service, policy or strategy

o When there is an important change in the service, policy or strategy, or in the city (eg: a change in population), or at a national level (eg:
a change of legislation)

Assessment of equality impact can be evidenced as part of the process of reviewing or needs assessment or strategy development or
consultation or planning. It does not have to be on this template, but must be documented. Wherever possible, build the EIA into your usual
planning/review processes.



Do you need to complete an EIA? Consider:

¢ Isthe policy, decision or service likely to be relevant to any people because of their protected characteristics?
¢ How many people is it likely to affect?

¢ How significant are its impacts?

e Does it relate to an area where there are known inequalities?

How vulnerable are the people (potentially) affected? If there are potential impacts on people but you decide not to complete an EIA it is usually
sensible to document why.

5 Title of EIA: This should clearly explain what service / policy / strategy / change you are assessing
6D no: The unique reference for this EIA. This will be added by Community Partnerships

’ Team/Service: Main team responsible for the policy, practice, service or function being assessed

2t obed

8 Focus of EIA: A member of the public should have a good understanding of the policy or service and any proposals after reading this section.
Please use plain English and write any acronyms in full first time - eg: ‘Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

This section should explain what you are assessing:

¢ What are the main aims or purpose of the policy, practice, service or function?

o Who implements, carries out or delivers the policy, practice, service or function? Please state where this is more than one
person/team/body and where other organisations deliver under procurement or partnership arrangements.
How does it fit with other services?

e Who is affected by the policy, practice, service or function, or by how it is delivered? Who are the external and internal serviceusers,
groups, or communities?

o What outcomes do you want to achieve, why and for whom? Eg: what do you want to provide, what changes or improvements, and
what should the benefits be? e What do existing or previous inspections of the policy, practice, service or function tell you?

o What is the reason for the proposal or change (financial, service, legal etc)? The Act requires us to make these clear.

9 Assessment of overall impacts and any further recommendations
e Make a frank and realistic assessment of the overall extent to which the negative impacts can be reduced or avoided by the mitigating
measures. Explain what positive impacts will result from the actions and how you can make the most of these.



¢ obed

e Countervailing considerations: These may include the reasons behind the formulation of the policy, the benefits it is expected to deliver,
budget reductions, the need to avert a graver crisis by introducing a policy now and not later, and so on. The weight of these factors in
favour of implementing the policy must then be measured against the weight of any evidence as to the potential negative equality
impacts of the policy,

e Are there any further recommendations? Is further engagement needed? Is more research or monitoring needed? Does there need to
be a change in the proposal itself?

10 Action Planning: The Equality Duty is an ongoing duty: policies must be kept under review, continuing to give ‘due regard’ to the duty. If an
assessment of a broad proposal leads to more specific proposals, then further equality assessment and consultation are needed.



This page is intentionally left blank



Gy abed

TRDC Climate and Sustainability Impact Assesment

This toolkit is a self-assessment to help officers think about how their policies, projects, procurements, commissioning
and services can align with Three Rivers' Climate Emergency and Sustainability Strategy. It also supports report authors
to draft the environmental implications section on decision reports, and procurement strategy reports.

How to use the tool

The self-assessment is intended to help officers reflect critically on their project or service's environmental impact. . Itis
a reflective tool, not a framework for approving or rejecting a decision, so it will work best if each question is considered
honestly and carefully.

We envision this tool will be used early in the design of a project/policy/procurement to identify areas where
environmental harms can be mitigated, and environmental benefits enhanced. If you would like advice, please discuss
with your Head of Service, and contact the Climate and Sustainability Team if necessary.

Once you are happy that your proposal is optimised, then complete this form, and copy the results in each section in to

your decision report (committee/synopsis report) where applicable. TH R E E RIVERS

The next tab presents a set of questions about the proposal on a range of sustainability criteria. Each answer is colour- DISTRICT COUNCIL
coded to indicate its environmental impact as below:

Colour code Recommendation
Dark green (4) Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect.
Light green (3) Some positive impact for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed.
Yellow (2 Some negative impacts sustainability. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where possible.
Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations.
Grey (0) Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.

Once you've selected your answer in the "Impact” column (C), then give the relevant score in the "Score" column (E).
Higher scores indicate more sustainable proposals.

These questions should be considered for services, goods and projects we procure as well as those we deliver directly.
Delivery models, specifications and tender evaluation should be shaped to ensure our contractors are aligned with our
sustainability and net-zero commitments.

Against each area, the assessment presents prompts to highlight best practice suggestions and enable consideration of
how negative impacts could be lessened on a project.

This assessment was inspired by Jim Cunningham at Hammersmith and Fulham Council and developed by officers of Three Rivers Distrcit Council.
Version Date
1




IS w N -

o

)

<

o abed

®

©

@

TRDC Climate and Sustainability Impact Assesment

Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect.

Some positive |mpacl for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed.

Some possible negative impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where possible.

Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations.
Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.

Guidance for use
Please answer all questions from the drop-down options in the 'impact
column (C), including ‘not applicable’ as needed.

Please email your completed copy of the form to
Joanna.Hewitson@threerivers.gov.uk.

Key to the colour coding of answers is given at the top of the page.

Name of project/policy/procurement and date TEXTENSION OF PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER WITH RESTRICTIONS FOR DOGS

Brief description (1-2 sentences): "The Council implemented a PSPO relating to the control of dogs which came into effect on 1st April 2016. The PSPO was then
extended in 2019 and then again in 2022.

This report requests that Council varies and extends the Dogs Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for the District for the period
April 2025 — March 2022.

Homes, buildings, infrastructure, equipment and energy

Question

Score (-1 Revised Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:
Impact (select from list) to4) Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list) Score (1-4)

What effect will this project have on overall energy use (electricity or
other fuels) e.g. in buildings, appliances or machinery?

- Insulate buildings to a high standard.
- Include energy efficiency measures when carrying out refurbishment to deliver improvement in EPC ratings.
0 0 - Replace gas boilers with renewable heating, such as heat pumps. Consider District Heat Networks where appropriate.

'What effect will this project have on the direct use of fossil fuels such
as gas, petrol, diesel, 0il?

- Construct new buildings to Passivhaus standard.
- Design and deliver buildings and infrastructure with lower-carbon materials, such as recycled material and timber frames.
o o - Use cmsuucnm methods that reduce overall energy use, such as modular, factory-built components, or use of electrical plant

[Does this project further The Use of existing building
space? E.g. co-locating services; bringing under-used space into
use; using buildings out-of-hours

o
- Instal\ Solar panels or other renewable energy generation, and consider including battery storage.
o o - Switch to a cerlified renewable energy provider e.g. utlise power purchase agreements (PPA)

Will any new building constructed or Fefurbished be Nighly energy
efficient in use? (e.g. high levels of insulation, low energy demand
per sq. m., no servicing with fossil fuels such as gas heatmg, EPC

Use energy-efficient appliances.
" install low-energy LED lighting.
- Install measures to help manage building energy demand, such as smart meters, timers on lighting, or building management

place of concrete

plant instead of petrol/diesel,

energy efficiency ratings?

Average Score

oes this make use of sustainable materials / unp systems.

project? E.g. re-used or recycled construction matenals, umber in

[ [
Does this use more sustainable processes in the creation of the
project? E.g. modular and off-site construction; use of electrical

[ [
Will this increase the supply of renewable energy? e.g. installing
solar panels; switching to a renewable energy tariff 0 0
Do any appliances or electrical equipment to be used have high

[ [

#DIV/O! #DIVIO!

Travel

Question

Reducing travel: what effect will this project have on overall vehicle use?

Revised
Score (0-4)

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

Score (0-4)  Justification or mitigation

Impact (select from list)
- Reduce the need to travel e.g. through remote meetings, or rationalising routes and rounds.

- Share vehicles or substitute different modes of travel, rather than procuring new fleet.

- Specify electric, hybrid, or most fuel efficient vehicles for new fleet o for services involving transport.

- Support users and staff to walk, cycle, or use public transport e.g. with cycle parking, training, incentives.
0 0 - Use zero-emission deliveries

- Model and mitigate the project’s effect on traffic and congestion e.g. retiming the service or deliveries

Average Score

Will this project use petrol or diesel vehicles or EV, hybrid? 0 0

Wil this support people to use active or low-carbon transport? E.g. cycling,

walking, switching to electric transport 0 0

Wil it be easily accessible for all by foot, bike, or public transport, including

for disabled people? 0 0

Has the project taken steps to reduce traffic? Using e-cargo bikes; timing

activities or deliveries to be outside peak congestion times 0 0
#DIV/O! #DIVIO!




/v abed

=

o

>

N

N
RN

N
@

N
R

N
&

N
>

nN
5

Goods and Consumption

Does the project create more habitat for nature? E.g. native plants, trees,

etc. Non-amenity= e.g. woodland, grassland, wetland, gardens, lakes,

Revised Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:
Question mpact Score (0-4) _|Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list) Score (0-4)
- Procure goods through sharing, leasing, or product-as-a-service models rather than ownership.
Has this project considered ways to reuse existing goods and materials to - Use pre-owned and reconditioned goods, and reduce reliance on procuring new goods.
the greatest extent possible, before acquiring newly manufactured ones? 0 0 - Use recycled materials, and procure items that can be reconditioned or recycled at end-of-life.
- Use lifecycle costing in business cases to capture the full cost of operation, repair and disposal of an item.
B . . . - Ensure meat and dairy is high-quality, high-welfare.
Does it reduce reliance on buying newly manufactured goods? E.g. repair
and rowves; sharing and fen d{ﬂgggm o betmor sorvioms D,peai o _ Design waste, including food waste, out of business models e.g. separating (and composting) food waste; replacing single-use
" i . . g items with reusable items.
feasing or product-as-a-servics rather than ownership 0 0 - Use contact points with residents, community groups and businesses to engage and enable them to adopt low-waste, low-
Does it use products and resources that are re-used, recycled, or carbon behaviours.
renewable? 0 0
Does it enable others to make sustainable choices within their lifestyles, or
engage people about this? 0 0
Is there a plan to reduce waste sent to landfill in manufacture? 0 0
Is the material used able to be re-used, re-purposed, or recyled at end of its
life? 0 0
as Tt taken steps 1o ensure any food Tt offers fs more sustainable? E.g.
less and high-quality (high welfare) meat and dairy; minimises food
waste; seasonal produce; locally sourced. 0 0
Average Score #DIVIO! #DIV/O!
Ecology ]
Revised Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:
Question mpact Score (0-4) _|Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list) Score (0-4) (Seek advice from Landscapes Team if required)
|Wha effect does This project have on (ofal area of y ome posTiive Impact for - This will ensure that uncontroled animals are | SOMe POSTIVe Impact for sustamabilty.| | ) ‘ »
space? (Amenity green space = playing fields, play areas, sporting lakes | Recommendation to further enhance this aspect unable to stray into chidrens play areas or | Recommendation to further enhance - Avoid converting green space to hard surfacing.
where possible and proceed. 3 areas of natural habitat. this aspect where possible and 3 - Use underutilised space for planting, such as green roofs and walls.

- Plant native plants and perennials, rather than non-native omamental species, to encourage biodiversity.
- Reduce trimming of grass and hedges, and avoid use of synthetic pesticides.
- Provide space for animals e.g. long grass areas, bird boxes, bat boes, ‘insect hotels', ponds, hedgehog hides and passages, log

Engagement and Influence

Question

Does this project raise awareness and understanding of the climate and
ecological emergency, and the steps that people can take?

Some positive impact for sustainability. responsbile dog ownership it will be promoted to further enhance
Recommendation to further enhance this aspect that these measures are to assist with this aspect where possible and
where possible and proceed. 3 protecting the nature reserve. proceed. 3

)

Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list)

As part of wider communications around SO !mpam oeteEgatly

Revised
Score (0-4)

and flowers 0 0 !
Ensuring that dogs are kepl on Ieads and piles o X
under control will ensure that they cannot - Consider the ecological impacts from manufacture and use of procured goods, e.g. water pollution; water consumption; land use|
P N " tray int that coud eith . change for farming; pesticide use; organic/regenerative farming methods
Does it make changes to existing habitats and have a negative impact on apeididelbandunp ksl rong positive impacts for
nature? E.g. use of pesticides, reduced extent and variety of plants, Strong positive impacts for sustainability. enable dog fasces to be identiied, picked up [N CIE L A e (R )
planting non-native species Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect. 4 and disposed of responsibly. proceed as is with this aspect.
Some positive impact for sustainability.
s L P bl As part o wider communications around {2 dation o further enh
) _ ome positive impact for sustainability. responsbile dog ownership it wil be promoted | RECOMMendation to further enhance:
Does it help people the value of , and to further enhance this aspect that these measures are to assist with this aspect where possible and
residents to support it in their private and community spaces? where possible and proceed. 3 protecting the nature reserve. proceed. 3
Average Score 3 3333333333
Adaptation |
Revised Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:
- Install water-s devices in taps, sh d toilets
Question Impact Score (0-4) |Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list) Score (0-4) potal waier i;‘/:rgin f;:,';a in Japs, showers and tolets
- g
b Janned " ot puidi includ . -Capture and re-use rainwater where possible e.g. water butts for use in car washing, watering garden, toilets
oes any planned project, construction or building use include measures to - Ensure all new building or refurbishment (especially of homes) models and mitigates future overheating risk, with adequate
conserve water? 0 0 Ventilation and shading
§ i - Avoid increasing areas of hard surfacing.
Does anythe project , consider how to sustainably protect people from - Convert hard surfacing to green and permeable surfacing where possible, and install Sustainable Drainage systems (SUDS).
extreme weather? 0 0 - Plant drought-tolerant plants and mulch landscapes to avoid water loss through evaporation.
Has any planned building work or infrastructure considered how to mitigate
flood risk? E.g. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS); de-paving areas;
green roofs 0 0
Does any planned infrastructure or building work increase the overall
footprint of hard surfacing? (as opposed to green or permeable surfacing) 0 0
Has the project considered its own resilience to future extreme heat, flood
risk, or water shortage? o 0
Average Score #DIVIO! #DIV/O!

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:
- "Make every contact count’, by using contact points with residents, businesses and community groups to promote understanding
of the climate emergency.

Average Score

Total Overall Average Score

347




gy abed

Now assesment is compelete copy and paste box into your business case, committee report. (under environmental
implications 6). Whole assesment can be an appendix. Procurement tenders are expected to submit complete report with
application.

Climate and Sustainability Impact Assessment Summary

Homes, buildings, i equipment and energy 0.00
Travel 0.00
Goods and C 0.00
[Ecology 333
Adaptation 0.00
Engagement and Influence 3
Total Overall Average Score 32




List 2 List 3

4 No No
3 To some exter N/A
2 N/A
-1
0 Yes Yes
Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed. 0
Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect. 4
Some positive impact for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed. 3
Some possible negative impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where possible. 2

Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitig: -

Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect.
Some positive impact for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed.

Some possible negative impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where
Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations.
Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.

61 abed



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

COMMITTEE
REPORT

01/07/2025

Community Safety Annual
Report 2024-2025

S5 THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



11

1.2

1.3

1.4

15

1.6

2.1

2.2

2.3

General Public Services and
Community Engagement Committee

PART |
Annual Community Safety Report 2024-2025

Summary

In April 2009, the Government introduced the Crime and Disorder (Overview
and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 and brought into force sections 19, 20 and 21
of the Police and Justice Act 2006. Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act
2006 places a duty on all local authorities to establish a crime and disorder
scrutiny committee.

It required every local authority to designate a committee to review and
scrutinise the activities of the Community Safety Partnership and the activities
of its partners. The committee may examine the activities of partners but only
as far as these relate to the partnership.

Since 2018 the Leisure, Environment and Community Committee has
received updates on the work of the Community Safety Partnership. Since
2024 reports have been taken to the General Public Services and Community
Engagement Committee and include the Community Safety priorities for the
year ahead.

The Terms of Reference state that the committee will ‘Review or scrutinise
decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge by the
responsible authorities of their crime and disorder functions (it is the Crime and
Disorder Committee for the purposes of the Police and Justices Act 2006).

This Annual Community Safety Partnership (CSP) Report forms part of our duty
under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, Regulations 2006 to scrutinise crime
and disorder.

The Committee can invite members of the Responsible Authorities Group,
(Connecting Three Rivers), to review certain projects or decisions if it chooses
to.

Details

In March 2024 Connecting Three Rivers agreed the priorities for the Community
Safety Partnership (CSP) to work towards during 2024-2025.

The priorities are reviewed annually and based on local crime data for the
previous year. Consideration is given to local concerns and trends, police
priorities set through community consultation, and taking into consideration the
impact of a crime type on the local community.

The agreed priorities for 2024-2025 were as follows:
o Burglary

o Theft of and Theft from a Motor Vehicle

Page 52



24

2.5

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

Robbery (Shop lifting)

Anti-social behaviour and Youth Crime
Domestic Abuse

Violence against Women and Girls
Hate crime and prevent.

Each priority had set objectives, against which actions were set and completed
by the Community Safety Partnership and overseen by the Community Safety
Coordinating Group.

The information below summarises some of the outcomes achieved by the
Community Safety Partnership in relation to the objectives.

Priority 1: Burglary

The objective - to prevent and pursue burglary, renew the Three Rivers
Community Safety Partnership CCTV cameras, promote partnership wide
season specific ‘Keeping your home safe’ material, support the transition from
Online Watch Link to Herts Connected and to provide reactive intervention.

Operation Guardian by Hertfordshire Constabulary has been a proactive
initiative aimed at reducing burglary rates in the Three Rivers area. It focuses on
delivering preventative advice and engaging with the community through events
to raise awareness and reporting lines. The operation has led to a significant
decline in burglary reports. Data relating to Burglary is shared at the Community
Safety Co-ordinating Group, this has declined. For example, in January 2024
there was 11 reports of burglary compared to 32 in 2023.

Safe and Well home visits, conducted by the Fire Service look at reducing risk
from fire and to provide advice on actions to take in the event of fire. These visits
also include information and advice to reduce vulnerability to crime. A total of
1262 visits were carried out this year across the Watford and Three Rivers.

Three Rivers Neighbourhood Policing Team’s and Neighbourhood Watch
attended multiple events across the district offering advice with the aim to reduce
vulnerability to burglary, including regular patrol plans in areas of the district
where burglary has taken place.

Herts Connected replaced Online Watch Link, known as OWL during 2024.
There have been over 5792 residents in Three Rivers signed up to receive
messages from the new platform. The service provides a fast and efficient way
of reaching residents and relaying information advice and guidance quickly. The
CSP has supported the transition by raising awareness of the new platform.

Priority 2: Theft of and Theft from a motor Vehicle

The objective - to reduce theft of or from a motor vehicle and reduce public
vulnerability to theft of or from a motor Vehicle.

Police carried out Operation Tafferal a cross-border action, working in
collaboration to disrupt cross border activity by analysing intelligence to target
offenders around Catalytic Converter thefts.

Page 53



4.2

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

6.2

Three Rivers Operation Scorpion officers conducted proactive patrols around
the district as part of Operation Pandilla. Operations have been coordinated and
delivered to tackle theft of and theft from motor vehicles.

Priority 3: Robbery (Shop Lifting)

The objective - to reduce the prevalence of robbery in the district and support
vulnerable premises.

Operation ‘Target’ patrols have been conducted in key locations around the
district including the targeting of repeat offenders. In the last year, the district
has seen the detainment of several prolific offenders.

Police, including the Crime Prevention Teams have continued to support
vulnerable premises. This has included work around CCTV, security, barriers,
and signage.

Neighbourhood Policing Team’s and Three Rivers District Council Community
Safety team continue to share advice and awareness campaigns on social
media and by attending community events. Additional patrol plans are in
operation at a number of premises with Rickmansworth High Street forming part
of a designated ‘hot spot’ area with intervention plans.

Priority 4: Anti-Social Behaviour and Youth Crime

The objective - to proactively expand the membership of the ASBAG (Anti-social
behaviour action group) to enhance the partnership working within the district,
to Commission and utilise a Community Support Service that enables tenancy
retention, create a New Anti-social Behaviour Policy, tackle Anti-social
behaviour (ASB) through the use of an electronic tool kit and the introduction of
accessible ways of reporting and eliminate the sale of restricted products to
underage children.

The Anti-social Behaviour Action Group (ASBAG) at Three Rivers remains the
heart of partnership working regarding the monitoring and managing of Anti-
social behaviour. The group continues to grow in both attendees and the volume
of complex cases dealt with. The group continues to work in collaboration with
statutory and voluntary organisations. An average of 12 medium to high-risk
cases are dealt with per month. Actions to best support residents, victims, and
perpetrators of ASB are agreed and monitored and repeat offenders are
escalated appropriately. ASBAG heard 131 cases in 2024-2025.

Hertfordshire Mind Network, Community Support Service (CSS) continues to
support residents with complex mental health and wellbeing needs. The service
has continued to be paramount in supporting residents of Three Rivers as
people’s needs grow. Evidence shows the complexity of these cases is
escalating. The service accepted over 70 referrals in 2024-2025 and supported
over 300 family members. There will be a change to the service for 2025-2026
due to a reduction in partnership funding. The service will provide 1 full time
equivalent worker who will work directly on Three Rivers cases referred by the
funders (Three Rivers Council and Thrive homes). We are keen that this service
remains for the residents of Three Rivers given the positive outcomes including
debt advice, support in helping with forms, sustainment of tenancy and the
reduction in ASB.

Page 54



6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

7.1

7.2

7.3

The new Three Rivers Anti-social behaviour policy was signed off by the Council
in 2024. The policy outlines the processes and procedures along with the
support that residents can expect should they be experiencing ASB.

Three Rivers continue to make improvements that support residents to report
ASB, this has included the implementation of a QR code on the existing ASB
Survey which allows residents to respond by scanning the QR code. This
resource is utilised by the whole Community Safety Partnership as part of our
joint working.

ASB clinics take place within the Healthy Hubs, at our temporary
accommodation. The ASB team also support the police at ‘Cop at the Council’
events to raise awareness and encourage the reporting of Anti-social behaviour.

The ASB reporting lines have been upgraded with an on-line toolkit to support
those reporting ASB. There is a wealth of links and support services to support
our community, including the application to apply for an ASB Case Review.
During the period of 2024 — 2025 Three Rivers carried out 5 case reviews all
resolved with positive outcomes. More details can be found here

Trading standards have worked tirelessly in the last 12 months to eliminate the
sale of restricted products and specifically the sale of these products to
underage children. They have worked with police cadets to tackle the sale of
vapes and illegal cigarettes to underage children and carried out unannounced
raids on shops. One of the operations saw a Closure Order granted on the back
of the sale of counterfeit sales and ASB.

Priority 5 & 6: Domestic Abuse and Violence against women and Girls

The objective - to produce a digital personal safety campaign that is inclusive
and available to all and raise awareness of the prevalence of domestic abuse
and support the international campaigns and local support services.

A personal safety campaign document that highlighted all the services available
to residents of Three Rivers was created and launched. This campaign was
shared with all partners and is available to all on the council’s website. The
campaign brings together specific domestic abuse support for people from all
communities including BAME, LGBTQ+ and Gypsy Roma Traveller.

Three Rivers has continued to support the countywide efforts for 16 days of
Activism in 2024. The Council raised its’ white ribbon flag on White Ribbon Day.
We also supported International Women’s Day this year by lighting up
Watersmeet Theatre in Rickmansworth, and organised a district wide charity
walk in aid of a local service. Multiple partners and residents supported the
event.

The Council continues to work towards the elimination of violence against
women and girls including the drafting of two new Domestic Abuse policies, one
for staff and one for the public. This work forms part of the White ribbon
accreditation commitment. The council also employ a Domestic Abuse
Caseworker to support applicants approaching the council for housing.

Priority 7: Hate Crime and Prevent

The objective - to increase knowledge and workforce development to ensure all
relevant staff are equipped to respond to concerns, monitor threats, increase

Page 55


https://www.gov.uk/guidance/anti-social-behaviour-asb-case-review-also-known-as-the-community-trigger
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/anti-social-behaviour-asb-case-review-also-known-as-the-community-trigger

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

9.2

10

community confidence in reporting Hate Crime, and manage and respond to
information gathering reports from Prevent.

Prevent training was delivered in September 2024 and offered to all staff. The
training was open to partners as well as staff and was fully booked. The new
Prevent Duty is embedded into the councils Prevent Delivery Plan. Designated
Safeguarding Leads have supported over 30 information requests from prevent
during the 2024-2025 period and have responded within the designated time for
all requests.

The council have a number of initiatives to comply with in 2025-2026 including
the implementation of Martyn’s Law and what that means for us including venue
hire.

All three Healthy Hubs became Hate Crime reporting centres and the Customer
Service Team at Three Rivers have undergone training to become a third-party
reporting station, which is at the Visitors Centre at Three Rivers House
(reception). The council are underway with a new process of managing Hate
Crime reporting and ensuring all more front line staff are trained.

The Community Safety Partnership works closely with Hertfordshire County
Council’s Prevent team to understand local issues that may impact on residents.
Officers are part of a number of partnership meetings and ensure the relevant
information is shared with partners and that appropriate and proportionate action
taken.

Three Rivers continues to deliver multiple local events to support the whole
community. In 2024 this has included Stephen Lawerence day, Roma Holocaust
memorial event, Hate Crime Awareness week, Herts Pride as well as community
events to raise awareness of Hate crime and the impact on the community. The
Police and Council delivered a presentation on Hate crime at the 2025
Community Safety Conference.

Cross Cutting Partnership Work.

A big project for the Community Safety Partnership in 2024 — 2025 was applying
for funding from the Community infrastructure levy for 9 new cameras to be
installed in the district. The locations were agreed by the Community Safety
Coordinating Group as per the new CCTV Policy, which was also reviewed in
2024. Installation of the camera’s is now underway and will support the
partnership in combatting crime and disorder.

The Community Safety Partnership also attended multi agency events including
OPALS, Herts Pride, Community Safety Clinic’s, Families first fun day and held
a Community Safety Conference with all Community Safety Partnership
organisations in February 2025.

Community Safety Priorities agreed for 2025-2026.

The Community Safety Priorities change year on year, based on what has been
reported to Police and Three Rivers local profile data and intelligence. They are
then agreed by Connecting Three Rivers which is our Community Safety Board.
An action plan is then developed by the Community Safety Coordinating Group
to deliver against each area. The only change in the priorities is the removal of
the words youth crime from the Anti-Social behaviour priority. Youth Crime
remains a key priority however now cuts across a number of priorities including
Anti-social behaviour and shop lifting for example.

Page 56



o Burglary

o Theft of and Theft from Motor Vehicle

o Robbery (shop lifting)

o Anti-social Behaviour

o Domestic Abuse and Violence against Women and Girls

o Hate Crime and Prevent

11 Options and Reasons for Recommendations

11.1 To comply with the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, Regulations 2009.

11.2 To invite Members of the Committee to comment on the work of the Community
Safety Partnership.

12 Policy/Budget Reference and Implications

12.1 The recommendations in this report are within the Council’'s agreed budgets.
The Crime and Disorder Overview and Scrutiny Regulations 2009 grants local
authorities’ powers for scrutiny of crime and disorder.

13 Financial, Legal, Equal Opportunities, Staffing, Environmental,
Community Safety, Public Health, Customer Services Centre,
Communications & Website, Risk Management and Health & Safety
Implications
None specific.

14 Equal Opportunities Implications

14.1 Relevance Test

Has a relevance test been completed for Equality Impact? N/A
Did the relevance test conclude a full impact assessment was N/A
required?

15 Risk and Health & Safety Implications

15.1 The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on
the website at http://www.threerivers.gov.uk. In addition, the risks of the
proposals in the report have also been assessed against the Council’s duties
under Health and Safety legislation relating to employees, visitors and persons
affected by our operations. The risk management implications of this report are
detailed below.

15.2 The subject of this report is covered by the Community Partnerships service

plan(s). Any risks resulting from this report will be included in the risk register
and, if necessary, managed within this/these plan(s).

Page 57




Nature of Risk Conseguence

To fail to scrutinise the | The CSP fails
work of the Community | to achieve its
Safety Partnership. plans.

Suggested Response Risk

Control (tolerate, treat Rating
Measures terminate, (combin
transfer) ation of

likelihoo
d and
impact)

Produce Tolerate 4

annual report

for the

committee to

review and

comment on.

Invite RAG

members to

present at

Committee.

15.3 The above risks are scored using the matrix below. The Council has determined
its aversion to risk and is prepared to tolerate risks where the combination of
impact and likelihood scores 6 or less.

210WRY ---------------------—--== K|3)IT AJOA
pooylexin

............. » Unacceptable

Impact Score
4 (Catastrophic)
3 (Critical)

2 (Significant)

1 (Marginal)

Likelihood Score

4 (Very Likely (=280%))
3 (Likely (21-79%))

2 (Unlikely (6-20%))

1 (Remote (5%))

15.4 In the officers’ opinion none of the new risks above, were they to come about,
would seriously prejudice the achievement of the Strategic Plan and are
therefore operational risks. The effectiveness of the management of operational
risks is reviewed by the Audit Committee annually.

Page 58



16

16.1

Recommendation

That;

Members of the Committee consider and comment on the Community Safety

Annual report.

That public access to the report be immediate

That public access to the decision be immediate

Committee Decision on Public Access:-

Public access to report -
Public access to report -
Public access to report -
Public access to report -
Public access to decision -

agrwONE

immediate

denied until (date): ...........ccuveeen.

Council agenda publication

denied until issue resolved (see future agenda)
immediate or Council agenda publication

Report prepared by: Jemma Duffell, Community Safety Officer and Michelle
Wright, Community Safety and Safeguarding manager.

Data Quality

Data sources:
Hertfordshire Constabulary

Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue

Domestic Abuse Support Services

Herts Mind Network

Data checked by:
Rebecca Young

Data rating:

1 Poor
Sufficient |/

3 High

Background Papers

APPENDICES / ATTACHMENTS

Not applicable

Page 59



S THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



Agenda Iltem 9

HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY
REVIEW 2025

General Public Services and Community
Engagement Committee - 01/07/2025

S5 THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



Housing Allocations Policy Review 2025 — Approval for public consultation

(ADCCC)
PART |
1 Summary
1.1 The council’'s Housing Allocations Policy sets out how the council will allocate

social/ affordable rented accommodation, via the council’s Housing Register.

1.2 Committee is asked to review and provide comment on the changes
recommended to this Policy and provide approval for a four-week (minimum)

public consultation on these recommended changes.

1.3 The updated Policy can be found at Appendix One.

14 A detailed comparison document outlining the changes recommended to the
Policy and the justification for these recommended changes can be found at
Appendix Two.

2 Details

2.1 Certain changes to the Policy are required, due to updated Government

guidance within the sector and legislative reform.

2.2 Other changes have been recommended that aim to provide additional clarity to
our customers, improve officer efficiency and to adopt best practice for specific

cohort/s engaging with the council’s Housing Service.

2.3 The changes recommended to the Policy are outlined below —

2.3.1  Section 1.5 of the Policy states that the service standards that you can expect
from the council’s Housing Service can be found on the council’s website. These
service standards are no longer listed on the website, therefore, the section has

been removed.

2.3.2 The council will retain the local connection criteria for customers supporting
family members with significant care or support needs within the district as set
out within the current Policy. However, we have introduced a new requirement
to this criteria that the customer must be able to demonstrate to the council that
the distance they currently travel to provide this care and support is
unreasonable, or creates a barrier to delivering effective care or assistance.

(2.2.1)

2.3.3  Within the current Policy the exemptions to the local connection criteria for
certain Armed Forces veterans (and family members) and all other cohorts are

listed within Section 2.2.1.

Page 62



234

235

2.3.6

2.3.7

2.3.8

2.3.9

2.3.10

2.3.11

2.3.12

The new Policy contains a new Section (2.2.2 — Armed Forces Exemptions) that
lists updated exemptions specifically for Armed Forces veterans. These
exemptions to the local connection criteria for Armed Forces veterans have been
updated in line with Government guidance.

Section 2.2.3 of the Policy (Housing Need) has been updated to adhere with our
current procedure regarding the process of the potential award of medical
banding. This addition confirms to customers that following any recommendation
of medical priority banding by the council’s independent medical advisor to be
awarded to an application, any decision to award medical priority banding will
be taken by the council’'s Housing Solutions Manager.

Ther exception for customers aged 60 years or over with a local connection to
require no housing need to join the council’s Housing Register to bid for
sheltered accommodation remains, however, the age limit has been lowered to
aged 55 or over. This reflects the fact that most Registered Providers now
advertise available sheltered accommodation within the district to those aged 55
or over. (2.2.3)

For the council to consider an application to the council’s Housing Register from
a customer who owns a property but are experiencing financial difficulty, a
requirement has been introduced to ensure this customer is engaging with the
council’'s Housing Options team. (2.2.4)

Section 3.8 of the Policy (Home Visits) has been amended to confirm to
customers that any visit to their property may be conducted as a scheduled visit,
at short notice or unannounced. If the customer is unavailable for a scheduled
visit if required, any offer of accommodation will be subject to reconsideration.
Clarification has been added to ensure that customers are aware that access to
all areas of the property must be granted during any home visit conducted.

Certain Armed Forces veterans, who as per legislation must be awarded
reasonable preference (4.1), will be awarded a Band C priority on the council’s
Housing Register. (4.2)

In addition to the customers currently listed within section 4.2 of the Policy who
may receive additional priority on the council’s Housing Register if certain criteria
are filled, a customer who has served in the Armed Forces who has joined the
Housing Register as they have a housing need, however, are not currently
homeless, will be awarded additional priority.

This priority will be awarded by backdating their band start date by 2 years.

The council’s Domestic Abuse Caseworker post is now specifically mentioned
within the relevant sections of the Policy. (5.2)

Additional clarification has been added to help customers understand the
affordability criteria set by our Registered Providers and a requirement added
for customers that evidence of the benefit entitlement required to cover the rent
of a property with an extra bedroom is provided to the council before the
household is able to bid on a property with an extra bedroom to their
requirement. (5.10)

If medical priority is granted for ground floor accommodation, the customer who
has been granted this priority will only be considered for accommodation of this
type (no external or internal stairs) (5.11)

Page 63



2.3.13

4.2

4.2.1

422

423

424
4.3

The council’'s Senior Housing Options Officer post that is referenced within the
Policy no longer exists and has been replaced by the council’'s Housing
Solutions Manager. Therefore, any reference to this title has been removed and
replaced with the new post title.

Options and Reasons for Recommendations

It is recommended that the Committee agree that the recommended changes to
the council’'s Housing Allocations Policy progress to a four-week (minimum)
public consultation.

This will ensure that the Council are compliant with updated legislation and
Government guidance, able provide additional clarity to our customers, improve
officer efficiency and adopt best practice for specific cohort/s engaging with the
council’s Housing Service.

Policy/Budget Reference and Implications

The recommendations in this report are within the Council’s agreed policy and
budgets.

The recommendations in this report relate to the achievement of the following
performance indicators.

HNO1 — Maximum number of households living in temporary accommodation on
the last day of the quarter.

HNO3 — Maximum number of households in temporary accommodation
throughout the year.

HNO6 — Promote access to the private sector lettings in order to prevent and
relieve homelessness.

HN11 — Percentage of households prevented or relieved from homelessness.
The impact of the recommendations on this/these performance indicator(s) is:

The implementation of the council’'s Housing Allocations Policy and the
allocation of the available social housing within the district has a direct impact
on the achievement of the above performance indicators. The Policy enables
the council to allocate social housing to households most in need, including
those who are currently homeless and placed within temporary accommodation
by the council.

Financial, Staffing, Environmental, Community Safety, Public Health,
Customer Services Centre, Risk Management and Health & Safety
Implications

None specific.

Legal Implications

Approval of an updated Housing Allocations Policy will ensure that the council
is complaint with relevant legislation and adhere to current Government
guidance.

Equal Opportunities Implications

Page 64



6.1

8.2

Nature of Risk

A short Equality Impact Assessment is contained within the appendices for this
report. It is not anticipated that the updated Policy will have any negative impact
on the groups with protected characteristics.

Communications and Website Implications

Communications support will be required to produce the public consultation on
the changes proposed. Further support from Communications will be required
to manage the consultation whilst it is ongoing and collate the responses to this
consultation for review post consultation.

Risk and Health & Safety Implications

The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on
the website at http://www.threerivers.gov.uk. In addition, the risks of the
proposals in the report have also been assessed against the Council’s duties
under Health and Safety legislation relating to employees, visitors and persons
affected by our operations. The risk management implications of this report are
detailed below.

The subject of this report is covered by the Housing Services service plan(s).
Any risks resulting from this report will be included in the risk register and, if
necessary, managed within this/these plan(s).

Risk
Rating
(combin
ation of
likelihoo
d and
impact)

Response
(tolerate, treat
terminate,

Consequence Suggested
Control

Measures

transfer)

compliant with
current
legislation and
lack adherence
to updated
Government
guidance.

The council do not The council’s For council Tolerate 2
adopt an updated Housing to adopt an
Housing Allocations Allocations updated
Policy. Policy would be | Housing
out of date Allocations
therefore, not Policy

impact and likelihood scores 6 or less.

8.3
< r
t‘Do;_'
288
=

Page 65

The above risks are scored using the matrix below. The Council has determined
its aversion to risk and is prepared to tolerate risks where the combination of




Medium

6

Low

Impact

» Unacceptable

8.4

Impact Score
4 (Catastrophic)
3 (Critical)

2 (Significant)

1 (Marginal)

Likelihood Score

4 (Very Likely (=280%))
3 (Likely (21-79%))

2 (Unlikely (6-20%))

1 (Remote (£5%))

In the officers’ opinion none of the new risks above, were they to come about,
would seriously prejudice the achievement of the Strategic Plan and are
therefore operational risks. The effectiveness of the management of operational
risks is reviewed by the Audit Committee annually.

Recommendation

That Committee agree the recommended changes to the council’s Housing
Allocations Policy are progressed to a four-week (minimum) public consultation.

Report prepared by: Jason Hagland, Strategic Housing Manager

Data Quality

Data sources:

N/A

Data checked by:
N/A

Data rating:

N/A

Background Papers

APPENDICES / ATTACHMENTS

Short EIA assessment
SIA Assessment

Housing Allocations Policy 2025

Housing Allocations Policy 2025 Comparison Document

Page 66



Page 67



S THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



Three Rivers District Council

Housing
Allocations
Policy

Updated April 2025

THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



1.0

11

12

1.3

14

2.0

2.1

2.2

221

222

2.2.3

224

2.2.5

2.2.6

2.2.7

2.3

24

25

2.6

2.7

2.8

Policy Overview
Introduction

Aims and Objectives
Links to other Policies
Equality and Diversity

Eligibility and
Qualification

Eligibility Test
Qualification
Local Connection

Armed Forces
Exemption

Housing Need
Home Ownership
Financial Means

Unacceptable
Behaviour

False, Misleading or
Withheld Information

Right to Move
Arrears

Deliberately Worsened
Circumstances

Household Members

Proof of Access to
Children

Change of
Circumstances

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.6.1

3.6.2

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

4.0

4.1

4.2

4.3

Administration of the
Housing Register

Bidding

Property Adverts
Time Limited Bidding
Approved Bidding
Direct Lets

Allocation and
Shortlisting

Shortlisting

Property viewings
Verifications

Home Visits
Withdrawal of Offers

Refusing an Offer of
Accommodation

Housing Panel

Right to Request a
Review

Cancelling an
Application

Local Government
Ombudsman

Data Protection

Priority Banding and
Additional Priority

Reasonable
Preference

Additional Priority

Housing Need and
Priority Banding

Page 70

5.0

51

5.2

5.3

54

55

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

5.10

511

5.12

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

Customers with
Additional
Requirements
Homeless Households

Domestic Abuse

UK Protected Persons
Service

Multi-Agency Public
Protection
Arrangements

Move On and Leaving
Care

Sheltered and Age
Restricted Housing

Welfare Needs

Medical Assessments
Adapted Properties
Extra Room for a Carer

Extra Room for Medical
Need

Ground Floor Flats
Other Information

Allocations to Council
Staff

Local Lettings Policies
Lettings in Villages

Lettings Covered by
this Policy

Appendix A —Banding
Scheme

Appendix B —Bedroom
Eligibility Matrix

Housing Allocations Policy



Definitions and Abbreviations

Application

CBL
DWP
The Council

Customer

The district
Homeseeker

Household

Housing Panel

RP

Transfer customer

TRDC

LLP

We/Us

An application to join the Three Rivers District Council Housing
Register

Choice Based Lettings
Department for Work & Pensions
Three Rivers District Council

A customer in the context of this document is used to define a
person making the application

The Three Rivers district

A customer who does not have an affordable housing tenancy
The people who normally reside with the customer making an
application and who might reasonably be expected to reside with
the customer

Decision making panel of senior officers within the Housing
Service consisting of the Housing Operations Manager, the
Housing Solutions Manager and other relevant officers if required.
Registered Provider of social housing (e.g. a housing
association). For the purposes of this document, any reference to
a social housing tenancy does not include temporary
accommodation

A customer who holds an affordable housing tenancy within the
Three Rivers district

Three Rivers District Council
Local Lettings Policy

Refers to Three Rivers District Council

Page 71 Housing Allocations Policy




1.0 Policy Overview

1.1 Introduction

Three Rivers District Council completed a large scale voluntary transfer to Thrive
Homes in 2008. However, the council does maintain a housing register and has
nomination rights to properties managed by registered providers in the district.

The council is committed to allocating all social and affordable housing within the
district to those in most need. This policy sets out how we prioritise customers for
registered provider homes based on a customer’s circumstances and housing need.
The banding criteria that is used to assess customers can be found in Appendix A.

The council operates a choice based letting (CBL) system which allows customers to
select properties they are interested in by placing a bid. A customer’s bedroom
entitlement can be found in Appendix B. Properties are allocated in priority band and
date order. Customers should apply to join the housing register online at:
www.threerivers.homeconnections.org.uk.

Unfortunately, the demand for accommodation within the district significantly exceeds
supply. Therefore, joining the housing register is not a guarantee that an offer of
accommodation will be made and customers are encouraged to explore other housing
options which may include:

e Low cost home ownership (covering current government schemes such as shared
ownership, shared equity, starter homes, Right to Buy/Acquire and Help to Buy;

e Existing social tenants can access mutual exchange agents such as Home
Swapper;

e Renting in the private sector.

This policy will be regularly reviewed to ensure it meets the stated aims and complies
with relevant legislation and statutory guidance.

The legislation listed below will be taken into consideration when implementing this
policy:

Housing Act 1985

Children’s Act 1989

Housing Act 1996 (as amended)
Homelessness Act 2002

Housing Act 2004

Children’s Act 2004

Equality Act 2010

Localism Act 2011

Welfare Reform Act 2012
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
Domestic Abuse Act 2021

For the purposes of this document, any reference to social housing tenancies does not
include temporary accommodation

Page 72 Housing Allocations Policy


http://www.threerivers.homeconnections.org.uk/

1.2 Aims and Objectives
The council’s Housing Allocations Policy aims to:

e set out who is eligible and qualifies to join the housing register;

e set out how customers on the housing register are prioritised;

e ensure that allocations and assessments are transparent, simple and easy to
understand and recognise diverse needs;

e provide customers with choice and give reasonable preference to those in housing
need, taking account of individual circumstances and waiting time;

e make best use of all registered provider housing stock the council has nomination
rights to and promoting sustainable communities.

1.3 Links to other Policies

The Housing Allocations Policy will work in parallel with a number of other key policies
of the council. These include the strategies and policies listed below:

The council’s Corporate Framework;

The Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy;
Private Rented Sector Offer Policy;

Tenancy Strategy;

Temporary Accommodation Placement Policy.

1.4 Equality and Diversity

The council is committed to promoting equality of opportunity in housing services and
has procedures in place to ensure that all customers are treated fairly and without
unlawful discrimination in line with the Equality Act 2010. An Equality Impact
Assessment has been completed on this policy and has found that no customers are
disadvantaged due to their protected characteristics.

2.0 Eligibility and Qualification

As a local authority, it is essential that all legal requirements are fulfilled that affect who
housing is allocated to.

A customer must be both eligible (see 2.1) and satisfy the qualification criteria (see
2.2) to join the housing register. If a customer on the housing register ceases to be
eligible or no longer qualifies, their housing register application will be cancelled. If a
customer who has been offered a property ceases to be eligible or no longer qualifies,
the allocation cannot continue.

Page 73 Housing Allocations Policy




2.1 Eligibility Test

To be eligible to join the housing register, a customer must:

e be 16 years of age or over;

e not be subject to immigration control or be a customer from abroad, except for those
listed in Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations
2006;

e be habitually resident in the common travel area (England, Scotland, Wales,
Ireland, Channel Islands and the Isle of Man).

Customers from abroad or subject to immigration control will be considered in line with
the Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 2006
and chapter three of the Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local Housing
Authorities in England.

2.2 Qualification

As well as the eligibility criteria, a customer must also fulfil the qualification criteria set

by the council. This means that they must:

e have a local connection to the district, as defined in 2.2.1;

e have a housing need, as defined in 2.2.2, 2.2.3, 2.2.4 and Appendix A.

e not have a history of unacceptable behaviour that would make them unsuitable to
be a tenant as defined in 2.2.5;

e not have committed fraud by giving false information or withholding information as
defined in 2.2.6.

2.2.1 Local Connection

To be considered as having a local connection to TRDC, at least one of the following

criteria must apply:

e have current residence (by choice) in the district and have lived in the district for at
least five of the last six years, excluding any time spent in temporary
accommodation. This requirement applies at the point of application and the point
of offer;

e have an immediate family member (parents, adult children, adult siblings) who is
currently resident and has continuously been a resident within the district for at least
ten years. The customer must have a relationship with that family member, a need
for their support or to provide support to that family member and must demonstrate
that the distance they currently travel to provide this support is unreasonable or
creates a barrier to delivering effective care or assistance. The council will consider
a need for support to be a formal care requirement, significant childcare needs, the
need to assist in the care of a child with high complex needs. This requirement
applies at the point of application and the point of offer.

There are some circumstances which mean that a customer may not need to meet the
local connection criteria in order to qualify, these are as follows:

Page 74 Housing Allocations Policy




a current registered provider tenant living within the district and the council has

nomination rights for the property;

e a customer who needs to move through the ‘Right to Move’ (see 2.3 below);

e avictim of domestic abuse (see 5.2);

e if the requirement of a local connection may infringe equality and diversity legislation
(e.g. Equality Act 2010). These applications will be considered on a case by case
basis by the Housing Panel;

e a customer the council owes the main homelessness duty under Part VII of the

Housing Act 1996 (as amended).

2.2.2 Armed Forces Exemptions

All Armed Forces veterans, irrespective the length of Service or when this Service
ended, are exempt from local connection criteria to join the council’s Housing Register.

This includes:

e Current serving members of the Armed Forces;

e Former members of the Armed Forces;

e Bereaved spouses or civil partners of Armed Forces members where (i) the
bereaved spouse or civil partner has recently ceased, or will cease, to be entitled
to reside in Ministry of Defence accommodation following the death of their Service
spouse or civil partner, and (ii) the death was wholly or partly attributable to their
service;

e Adult children of serving Armed Forces members who need to move out of family
accommodation.

e Serving or former members of the Reserve Armed Forces who are suffering from
a serious injury, illness or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their
service;

e Adivorced or separated spouse or civil partner of a Regular Armed Forces member
who needs to move out of accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence due
to a relationship breakdown.

This list is not exhaustive and the council’s Housing Panel (3.11) has the ability to
grant an exemption to the local connection criteria, on the grounds of exceptional
circumstances, to an Armed Forces veteran or family member who may not wholly
fulfil one of the above.

This will be considered on a case-by-case basis.

2.2.3Housing Need

To qualify for the housing register a customer must have a housing need. This means
that their current home does not meet their needs, as detailed in section 4.0 and
Appendix A.

However, there is an exception for customers over 55 years of age with a local
connection who do not have a housing need. These customers will only be considered

for age restricted properties and only prioritised in Band E.

A customer may be considered to have a housing need if they or a member of their
Page 75 Housing Allocations Policy



household has a medical condition or disability that is affected by their current housing
situation. A customer will be required to complete an online medical form and provide
supporting documentation dated within the last 12 months.

Medical needs will be assessed and may be referred to an Independent Medical
Advisor for a recommendation on whether medical priority should be awarded. Should
a recommendation on medical priority be provided by the council’s independent
medical advisor, any decision to award medical priority to the application will be taken
by the council’s Housing Solutions Manager.

2.2.4Home Ownership

Most customers who own a property will not be considered to have a housing need as
they have sufficient financial means to resolve their housing and will not quality to join
the housing register.

Applications from customers who own a property but are experiencing financial
hardship which may result in them losing their home will be considered on an individual
basis, however, these customers must be engaging with the council’s Housing Options
team.

2.2 5 Financial Means

A customer may not qualify to join the housing register if they have the financial means
to resolve their own housing need. Typically, a customer will not qualify if they meet
either of the following thresholds, both at the point of application and the point of offer:

e have in excess of £16,000 in savings;
e have a total gross household income in excess of the figures listed below for the
size of property required (in accordance with Appendix A).

One Bedroom Need £34,560.00
Two Bedroom Need £45,396.00
Three/Four Bedroom Need £61,200.00

Customers will be excluded from the above thresholds if they fall into any of the
following categories:

e a member or former member of the Armed Forces who has received a lump sum in
compensation for an injury or disability sustained on active service;

e aged over 60 and prioritised in Band E for age restricted properties only;

¢ have a specific housing need and do not have the financial means to source a
suitable property in the private rented sector or through home-ownership. For
example if a customer requires a property with adaptations (such as a stair lift) that
cannot be funded through other means.

2.2.6 Unacceptable Behaviour
Customers may not qualify to join the housing register if any member of their

household is the perpetrator of unacceptable behaviour serious enough that would
make them unsuitable as a tenant.

Page 76 Housing Allocations Policy



This can include where there is evidence that legal or other serious action has been
taken against any member of a customer’s household due to anti-social behaviour
(ASB) within two years immediately before the date of application. This decision will
be made by the Housing Panel, taking into consideration any of the below and all
available information. This will include information provided by the Community Safety
Partnership (CSP).

Acceptable Behaviour Contract
Community Protection Notices
Legal Undertakings

Anti-Social Behaviour Injunctions
Premise Closure Order

Criminal Behaviour Orders

2.2.7 False, Misleading or Withheld Information

Knowingly giving false or misleading information or withholding information is a Level
Five offence. The Council may prosecute a customer found guilty of this offence and
this may result in their housing application being cancelled.

False or misleading information can include:

e Giving false information;

e Not disclosing all information required;

e Customers not informing Housing Services of changes to their housing situation.

2.3 Right to Move

The Right to Move applies to existing social housing tenants seeking to transfer from

another local authority area in England who satisfy 2.3.1 and also 2.3.2 or 2.3.3:

2.3.1 have reasonable preference under s.166A(3)(e) of the Housing Act 1996 (as
amended) because of a need to move to the district to avoid hardship, and;

2.3.2 need to move due to employment in the district, or;

2.3.3 need to move to take up an offer of work (the customer must demonstrate that if
they were unable to move to take up a job offer that it would cause them
hardship).

The council needs to ensure that a customer has a genuine intention to take up the
offer of employment. Evidence will need to be provided, such as contract of
employment (12 months or more consisting of at least 16 hours a week), pay slips or
a formal offer letter. We may contact the employer in order to verify the offer of
employment. Voluntary work does not count for this purpose but an apprenticeship
would qualify.

The council must also be satisfied that the required move is based on need, rather
than wishes. The following factors would be taken into consideration:

¢ distance and/or time taken to travel between place of employment and home;
employment opportunities available closer to home;

contract length;

personal factors which may be affected if a customer were unable to move;
availability and affordability of transport.

Page 77 Housing Allocations Policy



This list is not exhaustive.

2.4 Arrears

A customer’s housing register application may be made non-active if a customer has
rent arrears or owes money to the council or a housing provider. This can include but
is not limited to:

e owing court costs to a landlord;

e current or former tenant arrears owed to any landlord (private, council, registered
provider) where there is no payment plan in place OR an acceptable payment plan
is not being adhered to for at least 12 weeks;

e Council Tax arrears;

e monies owed to the council for any previous tenancy on the council’s private rented
sector scheme whereby there is not a payment plan in place or a payment plan is
not being adhered to;

e any other monies owed to the council.

Discretion may be exercised in the following circumstances:

e an overpayment of housing benefit due to council or DWP error;

e arrears due to housing benefit payment being temporarily suspended.

e Serving or former members of the Regular Armed Forces or their former partners
who have accrued mesne profit debt whilst in accommodation provided by the
Ministry of Defence.

The above list is not exhaustive. The final decision will be made by the Housing Panel.
2.5 Deliberately Worsened Circumstances

If the council considers that a customer has deliberately changed their circumstances
to gain extra priority on the housing register, they will be placed in the priority band
they would have held before this change for a minimum of one year from the date of
the change.

Examples of this can include but are not limited to:

e customers moving from already suitable accommodation;

e homeowners who transfer their property to another family member;

e customers who have disposed of assets which could have been used to secure
housing;

¢ voluntarily moving into a property which results or will result in a customer becoming
statutory overcrowded which is not a result of a natural increase in family size.

2.6 Household Members

Customers will be required to give details of all members of their household. In most
cases, only someone who is living as part of the household on a permanent basis at
the date of application (or children born after registration) and the date of offer will be
considered part of their household.

Non dependent children (aged 21 or over and no longer in tertiary education or
apprenticeship) will not be considered part of a household unless they are unable to
live independently due to support or care needs.

Page 78 Housing Allocations Policy



Dependant adult relatives who have joined or already live in a customer’s household
because they are unable to live independently may be considered as part of their
household. This is usually due to care or support needs or for other medical reasons.
Such cases may be referred to the council’s Independent Medical Advisor.

An unborn child will be considered part of a household four weeks prior to the due
date.

2.7 Proof of Access to Children

When a customer has equal access rights to a child which could potentially lead to two
applications with the same child as a household member, the child will only be
considered part of the household from the child’s main and principle home. Proof of
the child’s main and principle home should be provided at the point of application and
the point of offer.

2.8 Change of Circumstances
It is the responsibility of a customer to update the council if their housing circumstances

have changed. A customer must complete a change of circumstances form online and
their application will be reassessed.

3.0 Administration of the Housing Register

3.1 Bidding

Once an application has been assessed and made live, customers can bid on available
properties through our Home Connections website.

3.2 Property Adverts

All properties advertised through Home Connections will be available to bid on for a
specific time period.

3.3 Time Limited Bidding

Some priority Band A and Band B applications will be subject to time limited bidding.

This means that there will be a timeframe for how long this priority will stand. This is

because the council acknowledges the urgency of the situation. Each case will be

reviewed on an individual basis and all customers should be aware of the following:

e a customer’s housing application could be reassessed and a lower priority band
may be awarded;

¢ the council may actively bid on a customer’s behalf;

e any priority awarded may be extended with a further review date.

3.4 Approved Bidding

Some customers will be subject to approved bidding. Customers will still be able to bid
for all properties, however the council will need to approve the bid as being suitable.
This can include the location or type of property.

Page 79 Housing Allocations Policy




3.5 Direct Lets

On some occasions properties will be allocated through a direct let. A direct let means
that a customer will not bid on properties but will receive an offer of suitable
accommodation. A direct let made to a customer who the council owes a main
homeless duty will be a final offer of accommodation.

Direct lets may also be used in the following circumstances:

e if a suitable property becomes available for a customer who requires significant
adaptions;

e for customers in high risk priority groups such as fleeing from domestic abuse or
UK Protected Persons Service (formerly witness protection). (see 5.0 for further
details);

e exceptional circumstances as approved by the Housing Operations Manager or
Strategic Housing Manager.

All direct lets will be considered on a case by case basis by the Housing Operations
Manager or Strategic Housing Manager.

3.6 Allocation and Shortlisting
3.6.1 Shortlisting

The customer with the highest priority band who has bid for a property will typically be
offered the property should this be suitable for their housing need.

If two customers who have bid for a property have the same priority band, the customer
with the earliest band start date will be offered the property.

If two customers in the same priority band have the same priority band start date, the
property will be offered to the customer for who the property is considered most
suitable. The Housing Panel will make this decision.

Some properties may have additional criteria. These will usually be identified in the
property advert. Examples include priority being given for customers with a medical
need for a ground floor property (see 5.11)

3.6.2 Property Viewing

In some cases, more than one customer may be invited to view a property. Therefore,
a viewing is not a guarantee of an offer of accommodation. If the property is offered to

Page 80 Housing Allocations Policy




a customer, they will have a period of time in which to accept or decline this offer (this
will usually be 24 hours)

3.7 Verifications

If a customer is successful in bidding, their application will be verified at the point of
offer. There may situations in which an application may be verified at the point of
application and the point of offer, specifically but not limited to applications made under
2.2.2 (medical) and 2.2.4. Should a customer exceed the limit of 2.2.4 or apply under
medical grounds of 2.2.2, the application will be verified at the point of application and
the point of offer.

A customer is required to provide the following for all household members:

e proof of identify: this includes passport or full birth certificate, proof of address,
National Insurance number;

e proof of income, expenditure, savings and any interest in a property;

e proof of residency of children: this includes a full birth certificate, proof of receipt of
Child Benefit, proof of receipt of Child Tax Credit or the child element of Universal
Credit;

e proof of pregnancy;

e confirmation of immigration status and recourse to an allocation of social housing if
relevant;

e medical evidence if this is relevant to a customer’s need to move to alternative
accommodation: this must be dated within the last 12 months;

e notice of eviction if relevant;

e Any other reasonable information relevant to customer’s circumstances.

A home visit may be conducted if necessary (see 3.8)

When an offer is made, the above documents must be provided within 48 hours
(unless there are exceptional circumstances). If the documents are not provided within
this time period the offer will be withdrawn and the property offered to the next
customer on the shortlist.

3.8 Home Visits

A customer may be visited at their home prior to an offer to confirm their
circumstances. Visits can be scheduled, requested at short notice, or conducted
unannounced. If a customer is unavailable for a scheduled visit, the accommodation
offer will be subject to reconsideration. If a customer does not have any settled
accommodation, a visit may be made to the address provided on the application form.
These visits are essential, with access granted to all areas of the property as part of
this verification process.

Page 81 Housing Allocations Policy




3.9 Withdrawal of Offers

In the following circumstances an offer of accommodation may be withdrawn from a

customer by either the council or the registered provider:

e where there has been a change in the customer’s circumstances;

e a customer is no longer eligible or do not qualify to remain on the housing register;

e a property has been offered in error;

e a customer could be at risk of harm following the allocation;

e a property is no longer available to let;

e a RP rejects a nomination by the council due to the customer not meeting the
criteria of the RP’s policies.

3.10 Refusing an Offer of Accommodation

If a customer has successfully bid and has been offered a property, as a principle of
Choice Based Lettings they may refuse that offer without their priority on the housing
register being affected. However, should three offers of accommodation be refused
the customer may be contacted by the Housing Supply Team and their application to
the Housing Register reviewed.

This does not apply to customers who are owed the main homelessness duty (see
5.1) or customers who are subject to time limited bidding (see 3.3)

The council will treat it as a refusal of an offer of accommodation by a customer, if they
do not hear from the customer, following contact regarding a potential nomination,
within 2 working days.

3.11 Housing Panel

The Housing Panel has the ability to grant a customer an exemption to the local
connection criteria, on the grounds of exceptional circumstances. An exemption under
these grounds will not be considered for any customer that has the means to facilitate
a mutual exchange of a social housing tenancy or the financial means to access the
private rented sector in the district.

The Housing Panel also has the ability to consider other exceptional cases where an
exception to the Council’s Housing Allocations Policy may need to be made.

In some cases, the Housing Panel will have the ability to award additional priority to
customers who have a welfare, care or support need or other social need that affects
their housing.

3.12 Right to Request a Review

Customers have the right to request a review of certain decisions under the Housing
Act 1996:

¢ if they do not qualify to join the housing register;

¢ if they are not eligible to join the housing register;

¢ the facts that were taken into account in considering whether to allocate you
accommodation.

Page 82 Housing Allocations Policy



If the customer disagrees with one of the above decisions, they may request a review
of this decision which must be done in writing to the Housing Operations Manager
within 21 days. Reviews will be considered by an officer senior to the person who
made the original decision within 56 days of the request being received and a written
response will be sent stating the outcome of this review.

If the customer disagrees with a decision above made by the Housing Panel, they may
request a review of this decision, which must be done in writing to the Strategic
Housing Manager within 21 days. Reviews will be considered by the Strategic Housing
Manager, independent of the Panel who made the original decision, within 56 days of
the request being received and a written response will be sent stating the outcome of
this review.

3.13 Cancelling an Application

An application can be cancelled by the council in the following circumstances:

e at the request of a customer;

e where a customer has not placed a bid for at least 12 months or has not responded
to any other relevant correspondence within the specified time period;

e if a customer is no longer eligible or no longer qualifies to remain on the housing
register;

e when a customer has been housed into suitable accommodation.

This list is not exhaustive.

If you wish to re-join the housing register at a later date this will be treated as a new
application.

3.14 The Local Government Ombudsman

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) looks at complaints
about councils and some other authorities and organisations, including education
admissions appeal panels and adult social care providers (such as care homes and
home care providers). The service is free, independent and impartial.

If a customer is not satisfied with the action the Council takes, they can complain to
the ombudsman. This complaint must have been dealt with by the Council before
contacting the ombudsman, using its internal complaints procedure. The LGSCO can
be contacted at:

Adyvice line: 0300 061 0614
www.lgo.org.uk

3.15 Data Protection

Information held on a customer is confidential and will not be disclosed to any member
of the public. This also applies to any information related to a customer’s housing
application. If a customer requires a family member or advocate to access information
or speak on their behalf then the council will need written permission from the
customer.

We seek to comply at all times with all data protection legislation and regulations.
Page 83 Housing Allocations Policy


http://www.lgo.org.uk/

In some circumstances, disclosure of a customer’s information to other professionals
or services may be necessary, for example to nominate a customer to a partner
Housing Association. For further information please see our privacy notice on our
website www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/privacy-notice

4.0 Priority Banding and Additional Priority

4.1 Reasonable Preference

There are five categories of customers to whom reasonable preference must be given.
These are as follows:

e People who are homeless, as defined in Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 (as
amended). This includes homeless applicants who have been found not to be in
priority need, and those who have not made an application under Part 7 but would
have been found to be homeless if they had made an application;

e customers who are owed a duty under the following sections of the Housing Act
1996:

o section 190(2) - eligible for assistance, homeless, in priority need and
intentionally homeless

o section 193(2) - eligible for assistance, homeless, in priority need and not
intentionally homeless

o section 195(2) - the prevention duty owed to persons who are eligible for
assistance and threatened with homelessness;

e customers occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing, or otherwise living in
unsatisfactory housing conditions;

e customers with a need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including grounds
relating to a disability;

e customers who need to move to a particular area to avoid hardship to themselves
or to others. This could include someone who needs to move to access specialist
medical treatment or to provide care for a relative.

4.2 Additional Priority

A customer may be awarded additional priority if one or more of the criteria below are
met. This will be awarded by backdating their band start date by 12 months.

e For sole applications, a customer has been employed for at least 12 months for a
minimum of 24 hours per week;

e for joint applications, both customers have been employed for at least 12 months
for a minimum of 37 hours per week;

e a customer is unable to work due to medical issues and has been unable to work
for the last 12 months. Evidence must be provided from the DWP that a customer
is receiving the support component of ESA or they have proof from the DWP stating
that they have been assessed and are unable to work.

e A customer who has served in the Armed Forces who has joined the Housing
Register as they have a housing need, however, are not currently homeless, will be
awarded additional priority. This priority will be awarded by backdating their band
start date by 2 years.

Page 84 Housing Allocations Policy



http://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/privacy-notice

As applications are verified at the point of offer, the onus will be on a customer to
provide evidence of the above should it apply. If evidence is not provided a customer
Housing Allocations Policy will not receive this additional priority. Customers will be
advised of this requirement when making their online application. Backdates in priority
will not be awarded should a customer not provide the necessary evidence when
applicable.

The following customers that must be awarded reasonable preference (4.1) and have

urgent housing needs, will receive a Band C priority on the council’s Housing Register:

e currently serving in the regular forces and suffering from a serious injury, illness or
disability which is attributable to that service;

e has formerly served in the regular armed forces;

¢ hasrecently ceased or will cease to be entitled to reside in accommodation provided
by the Ministry of Defence following the death of a spouse or civil partner who
served in the regular forces and whose death was attributable to that service;

e has served or is serving in the reserve forces and is suffering from a serious injury,
illness or disability which is attributable to that service.

4.3 Housing Need and Priority Banding

When a housing application has been assessed a customer will be awarded one of
four priority bands between Band A and Band D, with Band A being the highest. If a
customer’s circumstances change their priority band will be reassessed.

The priority bands are designed to give customers with the greatest housing need
greater priority for housing, while making best use of the available housing stock in the
district.

A ‘band start date’ will be given to the customer. This will initially be the date of
application. If a customer’s housing circumstances change their band start date may
change if the change results in a change in the priority awarded on the housing
register. If a customer moves to a higher band, their ‘band start date’ will be the date
of entering the new band. If a customer moves to a lower band, they keep their original
‘band start date’.

5.0 Customers with Additional Requirements

5.1 Homeless Households

Following implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 in 2018, there are
now three stages to a homeless application;

e Prevention Duty (when a customer is threatened with homelessness within 56 days)

¢ Relief Duty (when a customer actually becomes homeless, this duty lasts for 56
days)

e Main Duty (if relief has not been possible and the customer is not intentionally
homeless, a decision is required once the 56 day relief period has ended)

Page 85 Housing Allocations Policy




If a customer holds a local connection to the district for purposes of joining the housing
register (see 2.2.1) during the Prevention Duty or Relief Duty, the council will bid on
behalf of a customer for all suitable properties.

If the council accepts the main duty to provide a customer with secure accommaodation,
the Council will bid on behalf of a customer for all suitable properties.

A customer could also be offered suitable accommodation in the private rented sector.
Any offer of suitable accommodation made to a homeless customer that is owed any
of the above homeless duties, will be considered a final offer of accommodation.

If the council accepts a main duty to provide a customer with secure accommodation
but the customer does not meet the housing register local connection criteria, they will
be prioritised for an offer of accommodation in the private rented sector. Further details
in the Private Rented Sector Offer Policy,

5.2 Domestic Abuse

The council will ensure customers who are suffering from domestic abuse and
engaging with the council’s Housing Options team:

e are given appropriate priority on the housing register;

e are not disadvantaged by any local connection qualifying criteria if they have fled to
a refuge in another local authority area;

e are not disadvantaged by any local connection qualifying criteria if they have fled
from another local authority area.

¢ will be referred to, and provided specialist support from by the council’s Domestic
Abuse Caseworker

Following the introduction of the UK Government’s Domestic Abuse Act 2021, the legal
definition for domestic abuse is defined as the following;

e Domestic abuse is any single incident, course of conduct or pattern of abusive
behaviour between individuals aged 16 or over who are “personally connected”
to each other as a result of being, or having been, intimate partners or family
members, regardless of gender or sexuality.

e Children who see, hear or experience the effects of the abuse and are related
to either of the parties are also considered victims of domestic abuse.

e Behaviour is “abusive” if it consists of any of the following: physical or sexual
abuse; violent or threatening behaviour; controlling or coercive behaviour;
economic abuse; or psychological, emotional or other abuse. This includes
incidences where the abusive party directs their behaviour at another person
(e.g. a child). Economic abuse means any behaviour that has a substantial
adverse effect on someone’s ability to acquire, use or maintain money or other
property, or obtain goods or services.

For the full legal definition of domestic abuse, see

Customers engaging with the council's Domestic Abuse Caseworker who have
experienced domestic abuse may be awarded welfare priority. Where appropriate,
information may be requested from relevant professionals supporting a customer.

Page 86 Housing Allocations Policy


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/part/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/part/1/enacted

5.3 UK Protected Persons Service (UKPPS)

The council supports the UK Protected Persons Service (formerly Witness Protection)
and will consider referrals made to house protected persons at its discretion and in
line with outward referrals made under the scheme. The decision to accept referrals is
made by the Housing Operations Manager. Accepted referrals will not normally
exceed one in any financial year. Any priority given may be reassessed if an offer of
suitable accommodation is refused.

5.4 Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA)

Housing applications received from these customers will be considered in line with the
MAPPA Herts Housing Protocol by the Housing Operations Manager and, if successful
will be subject to approved bidding (see 3.4) as these cases are sensitive. The council
will work with RPs to find suitable accommodation for such cases and all bids will need
to be approved.

5.5 Move On and Leaving Care

The council have agreements with organisations that provide specialised housing.
These organisations deal with vulnerable customers and young people leaving care
or in supported living who require independent accommodation.

These customers are awarded priority on the housing register. The decision to award
priority is made by the Housing Solutions Manager.

5.6 Sheltered and Age Restricted Housing

Sheltered and age restricted housing is designed for customers who are typically over
the age of 60. The age restriction may vary and will be identified in a property advert.

5.7 Welfare Needs

The term ‘welfare’ encompasses care, support and other social needs. This may
include customers who need to move to a different locality in order to give or receive
care, to access specialised medical treatment or customers recovering from the effects
of domestic abuse.

The decision to award welfare priority is made by the Housing Panel.

5.8 Medical Assessments

Some customers may be able to receive additional priority if they or a member of their
household has a medical condition or disability that is affected by their housing (see
2.2.2)

Page 87 Housing Allocations Policy




5.9 Adapted Properties

When the council advertises a property which has had significant adaptations the
advert will clearly state if customers with a need for the adaptations will be given initial
priority on this basis.

This means that a customer requiring adaptations will be prioritised over a customer
who does not require adaptations even if they are in a higher band.

5.10 Extra Room for a Carer

If an extra room is required for a carer, supporting documentation must be provided
stating that a live in carer is required for the customer’s care needs. This information
must satisfy the Housing Supply Team. This may be referred to the council’s
Independent Medical Advisor.

If an additional bedroom is approved by the Housing Solutions Manager, the customer
must provide evidence that they receive the benefits needed to cover its cost, to
ensure affordability if they become benefit dependent. This evidence must be
submitted before they can bid on larger properties.

5.11 Extra Room for Medical Need

Priority for ground floor flats may be given to customers in Bands A to C with a
medical need for ground floor accommodation. This will be clearly stated in the advert.

If priority is granted for ground floor accommodation, the customer will only be
considered for accommodation of this type (no external or internal stairs).

5.12 Ground Floor Flats

Priority for ground floor flats may be given to customers in Bands A to C with a medical
need for ground floor accommodation. This will be clearly stated in the advert.

6.0 Other Information

6.1 Allocations to Council Staff, Council Members or their Families

Staff of the council, their immediate family and elected members who require housing
through the council may apply in the same way as other customers. Their status should
be disclosed on the application form at the time of applying.

If a customer is applying for housing or has made a successful bid as any of the above
persons, the Housing Operations Manager or Strategic Housing Manager will be
informed and must approve the shortlist letting prior to a formal offer being made.

6.2 Local Lettings Policies

Three Rivers District Council reserves the right to implement a Local Lettings Policy
for new developments or to address issues on existing estates. These are used to
ensure that communities are sustainable and contain an appropriate mix of

Page 88 Housing Allocations Policy




households.
6.3 Lettings in Villages — Rural Exception Areas

Within Rural Exception Sites the aim will be to provide affordable homes for people
with a need to live in the locality, or have a local connection to the community and
therefore additional criteria will normally be necessary. These will be incorporated into
a Local Lettings Policy or nominations agreement and will limit occupancy to people
with close ties to, or employed in, the locality. A cascade approach to gradually widen
the area of eligibility to occupy the dwellings will usually be acceptable to the council

Page 89 Housing Allocations Policy




to ensure that occupants can always be found to fill that property. Rural exception sites
which come under this description are Bedmond Village and Sarratt.

6.4 Lettings Covered by this Policy

This Allocations Policy sets out the procedures used by the council for allocating
housing. Some Registered Providers maintain their own register and retain a small
percentage of properties for their own tenants.

Registered Providers will offer different lengths of tenancies, some are lifetime
tenancies but the majority are offered as flexible tenancies with a one year starter
tenancy followed by a fixed-term tenancy.

There are also different rent levels set by the Registered Provider; the majority are
either at social rent level or affordable rent which can be up to 80% of market rent.

Lettings that are not treated as allocations under this scheme include:

e mutual exchanges between tenants of a Registered Provider, whether by Deed of
Assignment or by commencement of new tenancies (including those arranged via
national schemes such as Home Swapper);

e succession of a tenancy following the death of a tenant;

e where an introductory tenancy, assured shorthold starter, or probationary tenancy
becomes an assured or secure tenancy;

¢ where the Registered Provider uses their own allocation percentage to facilitate a
management move or another allocation from their own waiting list;

e where a secure or assured tenancy is granted by court order under Matrimonial
Causes Act 1973, Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1984, or Children Act
1989; or

e where a tenancy is demoted by court order or where a demoted tenancy reverts
back to secure tenancy status.

Page 90 Housing Allocations Policy




Banding Scheme

The banding structure described below provides for an assessment structure
which officers can work within. They are not prescriptive however, and should the
circumstances of a case require that exceptions are made to these bands, senior

officers will use their discretion to make such a decision.

If a customer needs a property which is larger than the property they are
currently living in, please refer to the Bedroom Eligibility Matrix below
(Appendix B).

e Customers who need to move urgently because of a critical medical housing
need, including emergencies, where a customer’s current housing situation is
so severely detrimental to their health.

e Customers needing to move where they are in immediate danger if they remain
in their current home. This will need to be supported by corroborating evidence
by the Police or UK Protected Persons Service.

e Customers who have a welfare, care or support need or other social need that
affects their housing situation so severely that a move to alternative
accommodation is necessary.

e Customers who have succession rights to a social housing tenancy who are
required to move to another property and this is not possible through a
management move.

e Tenants living in social housing in the district who need to move due to their
current property being demolished or needing redevelopment.

e Customers who need to move because they have been assessed as having a
serious medical need that is being affected by their current housing situation.

e Customers who have a serious welfare, care or support need or other social
need that affects their housing to a degree that they need to move to alternative
accommodation. This can include victims of domestic abuse (see section 5.2).

e Customers needing to move due to harassment. This will need to be supported
by corroborating evidence by the Police. Other supporting information will be
considered.

e Tenants who are living in social housing in the district and under-occupying by

one or more bedrooms.

Customers owed the Main Homelessness Duty (S193).

Customers that need to move on from care or supported housing where a

nominations agreement or protocol is in place.

e Customers who have been assessed as being statutory overcrowded where
this is not the result of a deliberate act (see 2.5).

e Customers with composite need from Band C, one of which is medical priority

e Customers who have been assessed as having a moderate medical need that
is being adversely affected by their current housing situation.

Page 91




Customers who have a moderate welfare, care or support need or other social
need that affects their housing to a degree that they need to move to alternative
accommodation.

Customers living in accommodation for which an Improvement Notice or a
Prohibition Notice has been served by Three Rivers District Council in relation
to a Category 1 or 2 hazard in the customer’s dwelling and the remedies
needed to reduce the hazard will require the property to be vacated for a
significant period of time or will make the property unsuitable for occupation by
the customer.

Social housing tenants living in a fully adapted property who no longer need
these adaptations.

Social housing tenants living in the district in general needs stock wishing to
move into age-restricted accommodation.

Customers with a priority need owed the Relief Duty by the council.
Customers who are occupying a property which is subject to a Compulsory
Purchase Order and are unable to secure suitable alternative accommodation.
Members or former members of the Armed Forces who lived in the district for
at least 12 months immediately prior to enlisting and have a housing need.
Customers with composite need from Band D, one of which is medical priority.

Customers who have been assessed as having a low medical need that is
being adversely affected by their current housing situation.

Customers who have a low welfare, care or support need or other social need
that affects their housing to a degree that they need to move to alternative
accommodation.

Customers living in accommodation for which a Hazard Awareness Notice has
been served by Three Rivers District Council in relation to a Category 1 or 2
hazard in the customer’s dwelling and the remedies needed to reduce the
hazard will require the property to be vacated for a significant period of time or
will make the property unsuitable for occupation by the customer.

Customers who have no fixed abode, including those that have received a non-
priority need decision or intentionally homeless decision.

Customers owed the Prevention Duty by the council.

Customers without a priority need owed the Relief Duty by the council.
Customers who qualify for the ‘Right to Move'.

Council staff leaving tied accommodation where there is a contractual
agreement to provide accommodation.

Customers who qualify through having a local connection and who have no
housing need but are only eligible for sheltered or older person’s
accommodation.

Page 92




Appendix B
Bedroom Eligibility Matrix

Current Bedrooms
Household Size Beqlroom Without One Two Three
entitlement a bedroom | bedrooms | bedrooms
bedroom

Single person Bedsit or 1 D - - -
Couple 1 D - - -
One child C D i i
Two children of B C i i
opposite sex both
under 10 2
Two children of B c i i
same sex both
under 16
Two children of
opposite sex (at B C D -
least one child 10
or over)
Two children of 3 B C D -
same sex (at least
one child 16 or
over)

B B C -
Three children
Four or more
children 3+4 B B c D

Page 93

I o loratens ety




THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



Housing Allocations Policy comparison document

Brief table detailing the changes between the existing and proposed policies

Allocations Policy 2022

Allocations Policy 2025

Rationale for change

1.5 Service Standards

The service you can expect
from our Housing Team can be
found on the Council’s website.

To be deleted.

Service standards are no longer
posted on the council’s
website.

2.2.1 Local Connection

To be considered as having a
local connection to TRDC, at
least one of the following
criteria must apply:

e have current residence (by
choice) in the district and have
lived in the district for at least
five of the last six vyears,
excluding any time spent in
temporary  accommodation.
This requirement applies at the
point of application and the
point of offer;

e have an immediate family
member (parents, adult
children, adult siblings) who is
currently resident and has
continuously been a resident
within the district for at least
ten years. The customer must
have a relationship with that
family member and a need for
their support or to provide
support to that family member.

The Council would consider a
need for support to be a formal
care requirement, significant
childcare needs or the need to
assist in the care of a child with
high complex needs. This
requirement applies at the

2.2.1 Local Connection

To be considered as having a
local connection to TRDC, at
least one of the following
criteria must apply:

e have current residence (by
choice) in the district and have
lived in the district for at least
five of the last six years,
excluding any time spent in
temporary  accommodation.
This requirement applies at the
point of application and the
point of offer;

e have an immediate family
member (parents, adult
children, adult siblings) who is
currently resident and has
continuously been a resident
within the district for at least
ten years. The customer must
have a relationship with that
family member, a need for
their support or to provide
support to that family member
and must demonstrate that
the distance they -currently
travel to provide this support
is unreasonable or creates a
barrier to delivering effective
care or assistance.

The Council would consider a
need for support to be a formal
care requirement, significant
childcare needs, the need to
assist in the care of a child with
high complex needs. This

The Council will retain local
connection criteria for those
supporting long-standing
family members in the district.
A new procedure will assess if
applicants living nearby qualify,
considering travel distance,
transport access, and level of
support provided.

1
Page 95




point of application and the
point of offer.

requirement applies at the
point of application and the
point of offer.

The following are listed in
Section 2.2.1 of the Policy as
having an exemption to the
local connection criteria -

e those who are currently
serving in the Regular Armed
Forces or who were serving in
the Regular Forces at any time
in the five years preceding their
application for an allocation of
social housing;

e bereaved spouses or civil
partners of those serving in the
Regular Forces where (i) the
bereaved spouse or civil
partner has recently ceased, or
will cease, to be entitled to
reside in Ministry of Defence
accommodation following the
death of their Service spouse or
civil partner, and (ii) the death
was wholly or partly
attributable to their service;

e serving or former members of
the Reserve Armed Forces who
are suffering from a serious
injury, illness or disability which
is wholly or partly attributable
to their service; ® a member or
former member of the Regular
Armed Forces and the
application is made within five
years of discharge (includes
bereaved spouses and civil

partners leaving
accommodation provided by
the Ministry of Defence

following the death of their
partner);

e a divorced or separated
spouse or civil partner of a
Regular Armed Forces member
who needs to move out of

Section 2.2.2 Armed Forces
Exemptions

All Armed Forces veterans,
irrespective the length of
Service or when this Service
ended, are exempt from local
connection criteria to join the
council’s Housing Register.

This includes:

eCurrent serving members of
the Armed Forces;

eFormer members of the
Armed Forces;

eBereaved spouses or civil
partners of Armed Forces

members, where the death was
attributable to service;

eAdult children of serving
Armed Forces members who
need to move out of family
accommodation.

The exemptions for Armed
Forces members (and families)
will be removed from Section
2.2.1 and a new section will be
added (Armed Forces
Exemptions) that clarify the

exemptions to the local
connection criteria for this
cohort.

These changes have been
made to reflect new

Government guidance on the
local connection criteria for this
cohort, released in December
2023.

This updated
removes any
length of Service.

guidance
reference to

Page2 96




accommodation provided by
the Ministry of Defence due to
a relationship breakdown;

e an adult child of a serving
Regular Armed Forces member
who is no longer able to remain
in  family accommodation
provided by the Ministry of
Defence

2.2.2 Housing Need —

A customer may be considered
to have a housing need if they
or a member of their
household has a medical
condition or disability that is
affected by their current
housing situation. A customer
will be required to complete an
online medical form and
provide supporting
documentation dated within
the last 12 months.

Medical needs will be assessed
and may be referred to an
Independent Medical Advisor
for a recommendation on
whether  medical  priority
should be awarded.

2.2.3 Housing Need —

A customer may be considered
to have a housing need if they
or a member of their
household has a medical
condition or disability that is
affected by their current
housing situation. A customer
will be required to complete an
online medical form and
provide supporting
documentation dated within
the last 12 months.

Medical needs will be assessed
and may be referred to an
Independent Medical Advisor
for a recommendation on
whether  medical  priority
should be awarded. Should a
recommendation on medical
priority be provided by the
council’s independent medical
advisor, any decision to award

medical priority to the
application will be taken by
the council’s Housing

Solutions Manager.

This additional text has been
added to ensure alignment
with our current procedures on
the award of medical priority
banding to a customer.

2.2.2 Housing Need —

‘However, there is an exception
for customers over 60 years of
age with a local connection
who do not have a housing
need. These customers will
only be considered for age
restricted properties and only
prioritised in Band E.

2.2.3 Housing Need —

‘However, there is an exception
for customers over 55 years of
age with a local connection
who do not have a housing
need. These customers will
only be considered for age
restricted properties and only
prioritised in Band E.

The age has been changed
within this exception to 55
from 60.

This reflects the fact that most
Registered Providers will now
accept those aged 55 and over
for age restricted properties.

3
Page 97




2.2.3 Home Ownership

Most customers who own a
property will not be considered
to have a housing need as they
have sufficient financial means
to resolve their housing and
will not quality to join the
housing register.

Applications from customers
who own a property but are
experiencing financial hardship
which may result in them losing
their home will be considered
on an individual basis.

2.2.4 Home Ownership

Most customers who own a
property will not be considered
to have a housing need as they
have sufficient financial means
to resolve their housing and
will not quality to join the
housing register.

Applications from customers
who own a property but are
experiencing financial hardship
which may result in them losing
their home will be considered
on an individual basis,
however, these customers
must be engaging with the
council’s Housing Options
team.

The council may be able to
prevent the homelessness of a
customer who own’s a
property but are experiencing
financial hardship which may
result in them losing their
home with early intervention.

Therefore, to be considered for
access to the Housing Register
in these circumstances, it is
appropriate to require the
engagement from this
customer with the Housing
Service due to their threat of
homelessness.

3.8 Home Visits

A customer may be visited at
their home prior to an offer to
confirm their circumstances.
Home visits may be conducted
at short notice and the
customer will have to ensure
that they are available;
otherwise, an offer of
accommodation may not be
made. If a customer does not
have any settled
accommodation, a visit may be
made to the address provided
on the application form.

3.8 Home Visits

A customer may be visited at
their home prior to an offer to
confirm their circumstances.
Visits can be scheduled,
requested at short notice, or
conducted unannounced. If a
customer is unavailable for a
scheduled visit, the
accommodation offer will be
subject to reconsideration. If a
customer does not have any
settled accommodation, a visit
may be made to the address
provided on the application
form. These \visits are
essential, with access granted
to all areas of the property as
part of this verification
process.

These visits already take place;

this policy change simply
clarifies that they may be
unannounced. Verifying
application details is essential
to ensure accuracy,
transparency, and that any

housing offer is based on
reliable information about the
applicant’s current
circumstances.

4.2 Additional Priority

For customers that must be
awarded reasonable
preference (4.1) and have
urgent housing needs, they

4.2 Additional Priority

The following customers that
must be awarded reasonable
preference (4.1) and have
urgent housing needs, will

This section has been amended
to align with new guidance;
however, the Council is only

Pagé 98




may also receive additional
priority in the following
circumstances:

e currently serving in the
regular forces and suffering
from a serious injury, illness or
disability which is attributable
to that service;

e has formerly served in the
regular armed forces;

e has recently ceased or will
cease to be entitled to reside in
accommodation provided by
the Ministry of Defence
following the death of a spouse
or civil partner who served in
the regular forces and whose
death was attributable to that
service;

e has served or is serving in the
reserve forces and is suffering
from a serious injury, illness or
disability which is attributable
to that service.

receive a Band C priority on the
council’s Housing Register —

e currently serving in the
regular forces and suffering
from a serious injury, illness or
disability which is attributable
to that service;

e has formerly served in the
regular armed forces;

e has recently ceased or will
cease to be entitled to reside in
accommodation provided by
the Ministry of Defence
following the death of a spouse
or civil partner who served in
the regular forces and whose
death was attributable to that
service;

e has served or is serving in the
reserve forces and is suffering
from a serious injury, illness or
disability which is attributable
to that service.

required to grant ‘additional’
priority.

As part of our review into best
practice for Armed Forces
veterans engaging with the
Housing Service, the Council
propose granting a Band C
priority to this cohort in these
circumstances.

4.2 Additional Priority

A customer may be awarded
additional priority if one or
more of the criteria below are
met. This will be awarded by
backdating their band start
date by 12 months.

e For sole applications, a
customer has been employed
for at least 12 months for a
minimum of 24 hours per
week;

e for joint applications, both
customers have been
employed for at least 12
months for a minimum of 37
hours per week;

4.2 Additional Priority

A customer may be awarded
additional priority if one or
more of the criteria below are
met. This will be awarded by
backdating their band start
date by 12 months.

e For sole applications, a
customer has been employed
for at least 12 months for a
minimum of 24 hours per
week;

e for joint applications, both
customers have been
employed for at least 12
months for a minimum of 37
hours per week;

As part of our review into best
practice for Armed Forces
veterans engaging with the
Housing Service, it is proposed
to grant this additional priority,
by backdating the band start
date of a customer in this
cohort, to recognise their
service to the country.

5
Page 99




e 3 customer is unable to work
due to medical issues and has
been unable to work for the
last 12 months. Evidence must
be provided from the DWP that
a customer is receiving the
support component of ESA or
they have proof from the DWP
stating that they have been
assessed and are unable to
work.

As applications are verified at
the point of offer, the onus will
be on a customer to provide
evidence of the above should it
apply. If evidence is not
provided a customer Housing
Allocations Policy will not
receive this additional priority.
Customers will be advised of
this requirement when making
their online application.
Backdates in priority will not be
awarded should a customer

® 3 customer is unable to work
due to medical issues and has
been unable to work for the
last 12 months. Evidence must
be provided from the DWP that
a customer is receiving the
support component of ESA or
they have proof from the DWP
stating that they have been
assessed and are unable to
work.

A customer who has served in
the Armed Forces who has
joined the Housing Register as
they have a housing need,
however, are not currently
homeless, will be awarded
additional priority. This
priority will be awarded by
backdating their band start
date by 2 years.

As applications are verified at
the point of offer, the onus will
be on a customer to provide
evidence of the above should it
apply. If evidence is not
provided a customer Housing
Allocations Policy will not
receive this additional priority.
Customers will be advised of
this requirement when making
their online application.
Backdates in priority will not be
awarded should a customer

not provide the necessary | not provide the necessary

evidence when applicable. evidence when applicable.

5.2 Domestic Abuse The Domestic Abuse | To confirm to customers that
Caseworker role to be | the Council employs a specialist

mentioned within Section 5.2
of the council’s Housing
Allocation Policy.

Customers engaging with the
Council’'s Domestic  Abuse
Caseworker who have
experienced domestic abuse
may be awarded welfare
priority. Where appropriate,
information may be requested

Officer to provide support to
victims of domestic abuse
engaging with the Council.

Page ?LOO




from relevant professionals
supporting a customer.

5.10 Extra Room for a Carer

If an extra room is required for
a carer, supporting
documentation must be
provided stating that a live in
carer is required for the
customer’s care needs. This
information must satisfy the
Housing Supply Team. This may
be referred to the Council’s
Independent Medical Advisor.

5.10 Extra Room for a Carer

If an extra room is required for
a carer, supporting
documentation must be
provided stating that a live in
carer is required for the
customer’s care needs. This
information must satisfy the
Housing Supply Team. This may
be referred to the Council’s
Independent Medical Advisor.

If an additional bedroom is
approved by the Housing
Solutions Manager, the
customer must provide
evidence that they receive the
benefits needed to cover its
cost, to ensure affordability if
they become benefit
dependent. This evidence
must be submitted before
they can bid on larger
properties.

This clarification has been
added to help customers
understand the affordability
criteria set by our Registered
Providers.

Whilst a working household
may be able to afford a larger
property without any help from
any benefit  entitlement,
Registered Providers will not
accept a nomination for a
property with an extra
bedroom to the household’s
requirement unless  that
household is eligible to receive
the relevant benefits to cover
the rental amount.

In the event that the household
becomes benefit dependant in
the future, without the correct
benefit entitlement within the
household, the extra rental
amount required to cover the
additional room in the property
would not be provided,
therefore, making the property
unaffordable for the
household.

5.11 Ground Floor Flats

Priority for ground floor flats
may be given to customers in
Bands A to C with a medical
need for ground floor
accommodation. This will be
clearly stated in the advert.

5.11 Ground Floor Flats

Priority for ground floor flats
may be given to customers in
Bands A to C with a medical
need for ground floor
accommodation. This will be
clearly stated in the advert.

If priority is granted for ground

floor accommodation, the
customer will only be
considered for

This additional text has been
included to improve clarity for
customers.

The Council has had a number
of applications where ground
floor priority has been awarded
to an application where the
customer has attempted to
debate with Officers that whilst
they are unable to manage an
external staircase, they are

7
Page 101




accommodation of this type
(no external or internal stairs)

able to internal

staircase.

manage

The purpose of this priority is to
identify those customers who
require ground floor, step free
accommodation, not those
who ‘may’ be able to use
internal stairs. Therefore, this
addition is required.

The council’s Senior Housing
Options Officer is referred to
throughout the Policy

Wherever  this  title s
mentioned it has been changed
to the council’s Housing
Solutions Manager.

Title changed to reflect the new
title of this role .

8
Page 102




€0T abed

Short Equality Impact and Outcome Assessment (EIA)

ElAs make services better for everyone and support value for money by getting services right first time.

ElAs enable us to consider all the information about a service, policy or strategy from an equalities perspective and then action plan to get the
best outcomes for staff and service-users' .They analyse how all our work as a council might impact differently on different groups 2

They help us make good decisions and evidence how we have reached these decisions.?

See end notes for full guidance. For further support or advice please contact the Community Partnerships Team

Equality Impact and Outcomes Assessment (EIA) Template

First, consider whether you need to complete an EIA, or if there is another way to evidence assessment of impacts, or that an EIA is not

needed

Title Housing Allocations Policy 2025

ID No

HS003

Team/Service | Housing Services

within the district, via the council’s Housing Register.

specific cohorts engaging with the council.

Focus of EIA | The council’s Housing Allocations Policy sets out how the council will allocate the limited amount of social housing available

The Policy sets out the council’s administrative procedure for the allocation of this accommodation and sets out the
council’s local connection criteria and what the council would consider a housing need.

The Policy covers the process and awarding of medical priority banding for customers and sets out what banding will be
awarded to those customers who are experiencing different degrees of overcrowding within their property. This updated
Policy ensures adherence with all relevant legislation and updated Government guidance, whilst adopting best practice for

Assessment of overall impacts and any further recommendations

It is not predicted that this Policy will have any negative impact on those groups with protected characteristics.

Potential Issues

Mitigating Actions

1. Disabled customers

1.

The Policy enables those who are disabled for whom their
property is no longer suitable, or having a detrimental
impact on their condition, to be able to apply to the council




0T abed

2. Age

3. Armed Forces Veterans

4. Care leavers

1.

for medical priority banding. This process is undertaken
using the recommendation of an independent medical
advisor and if awarded, increases the priority of the
disabled customer on the housing register.

2. The Policy ensures that a disabled customer who has
been granted medical priority banding will receive priority
for any property available via the council’s housing
register that is suitable for their needs (wheelchair
accessible, ground floor)

1. The Policy ensures that those customers who are over the

age of 55 who wish to be considered for sheltered
accommodation via the council’s Housing Register are not
required to have a housing need to able to join the housing
register.

2. The age for those with a local connection to be able to join

the Housing Register with no housing need, in order to bid on
sheltered accommodation has been lowered from 60 to 55.
Therefore, increasing the amount of this cohort able to
access social housing if required.

1. Updated Government guidance around the allocation of

social housing to Armed Forces veterans has been adopted
within this Policy. Best practice for this cohort has also been
adopted with the award of additional priority in certain
circumstances.

The council has signed up to the Joint Housing Protocol with
other LA’s that awards care leavers a Band B priority to the
councils’ Housing Register, as confirmed within the Policy.

Actions Planned

Nil at this time, however, will monitor for any issues that arise.




GOT obed

EIA sign-off: (for the EIA to be final an email must sent from the relevant people agreeing it or this section must be signed)
Equality Impact Assessment officer: Date:

Equalities Lead Officer: Shivani Davé Date: 24/04/2025

Guidance end-notes

1 The following principles, drawn from case law, explain what we must do to fulfil our duties under the Equality Act:

¢ Knowledge: everyone working for the council must be aware of our equality duties and apply them appropriately in their work.
¢ Timeliness: the duty applies at the time of considering policy options and/or before a final decision is taken — not afterwards.
¢ Real Consideration: the duty must be an integral and rigorous part of your decision-making and influence the process.

¢ Sufficient Information: you must assess what information you have and what is needed to give proper consideration.

¢ No delegation: the council is responsible for ensuring that any contracted services which provide services on our behalf can comply with the
duty, are required in contracts to comply with it, and do comply in practice. It is a duty that cannot be delegated.

¢ Review: the equality duty is a continuing duty. It applies when a policy is developed/agreed, and when it is implemented/reviewed.
¢ Proper Record Keeping: to show that we have fulfilled our duties we must keep records of the process and the impacts identified.

NB: Filling out this EIA in itself does not meet the requirements of the equality duty. All the requirements above must be fulfilled or the EIA (and
any decision based on it) may be open to challenge. Properly used, an EIA can be a tool to help us comply with our equality duty and as a
record that to demonstrate that we have done so.



90T obed

2 Qur duties in the Equality Act 2010

As a council, we have a legal duty (under the Equality Act 2010) to show that we have identified and considered the impact and potential
impact of our activities on all people with ‘protected characteristics’ (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, and marriage and civil partnership) in addition, TRDC recognises other communities may be
vulnerable to disadvantage, this includes carers, people experiencing domestic abuse, substance misusers, homeless people, looked after
children, (ex) armed forces personnel.

This applies to policies, services (including commissioned services), and our employees. The level of detail of this consideration will depend on
what you are assessing, who it might affect, those groups’ vulnerability, and how serious any potential impacts might be. We use this EIA
template to complete this process and evidence our consideration

The following are the duties in the Act. You must give ‘due regard’ (pay conscious attention) to the need to:

avoid, reduce or minimise negative impact on people with protected characteristics (if you identify unlawful discrimination, including
victimisation and harassment, you must stop the action and take advice immediately).

promote equality of opportunity. This means the need to: — Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people with protected
characteristics — Take steps to meet the needs of equality groups — Encourage equality groups to participate in public life or any other
activity where participation is disproportionately low — Consider if there is a need to treat disabled people differently, including more
favourable treatment where necessary

foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. This means: — Tackle prejudice —
Promote understanding

3 ElAs are always proportionate to:

The size of the service or scope of the policy/strategy
The resources involved

The numbers of people affected

The size of the likely impact

The vulnerability of the people affected

The greater the potential adverse impact of the proposed policy on a protected group (e.g. disabled people), the more vulnerable the group in
the context being considered, the more thorough and demanding the process required by the Act will be.



Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



60T abed

TRDC Climate and Sustainability Impact Assesment

This toolkit is a self-assessment to help officers think about how their policies, projects, procurements, commissioning
and services can align with Three Rivers' Climate Emergency and Sustainability Strategy. It also supports report authors
to draft the environmental implications section on decision reports, and procurement strategy reports.

How to use the tool

The self-assessment is intended to help officers reflect critically on their project or service's environmental impact. . It is
a reflective tool, not a framework for approving or rejecting a decision, so it will work best if each question is considered
honestly and carefully.

We envision this tool will be used early in the design of a project/policy/procurement to identify areas where
environmental harms can be mitigated, and environmental benefits enhanced. If you would like advice, please discuss
with your Head of Service, and contact the Climate and Sustainability Team if necessary.

Once you are happy that your proposal is optimised, then complete this form, and copy the results in each section in to

your decision report (committee/synopsis report) where applicable. TH R EE RIVE RS

The next tab presents a set of questions about the proposal on a range of sustainability criteria. Each answer is colour- DISTRICT COUNCIL
coded to indicate its environmental impact as below:

Colour code Recommendation
Dark green (4) Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect.
Light green (3) Some positive impact for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed.
Yellow (2 Some negative impacts sustainability. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where possible.
Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations.
Grey (0) Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.

Once you've selected your answer in the "Impact" column (C), then give the relevant score in the "Score" column (E).
Higher scores indicate more sustainable proposals.

These questions should be considered for services, goods and projects we procure as well as those we deliver directly.
Delivery models, specifications and tender evaluation should be shaped to ensure our contractors are aligned with our
sustainability and net-zero commitments.

Against each area, the assessment presents prompts to highlight best practice suggestions and enable consideration of
how negative impacts could be lessened on a project.

This assessment was inspired by Jim Cunningham at Hammersmith and Fulham Council and developed by officers of Three Rivers Distrcit Council.
Version Date
1




OTT obed

10

1

12

13

14

15

16

TRDC Climate and Sustainability Impact Assesment

Score / Colour Code

Dark green (4)
Light green (3)

Impact and Recommendation

Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect.
Some positive impact for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed.

Some possible negative impacts for sustainabilit

. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where possible.

Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations.
Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.

Guidance for use
Please answer all questions from the drop-down options in the 'impact'
column (C), including 'not applicable' as needed.

Please email your completed copy of the form to
Joanna.Hewitson@threerivers.gov.uk.

Key to the colour coding of answers is given at the top of the page.

Name of project/policy/procurement and date

Housing Allocations Policy 2025

Brief description (1-2 sentences):

The council's Housing Allocations Policy sets out how the council will allocate social housing properties in the district, via the
council's Housing Register. In addition, the Policy sets out the council's local connection criteria and the banding (priorty) system

used by the council.

Homes, buildings, infrastructure, equipment and energy

Score ( Revised Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:
Question Impact (select from list) 1to 4) Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list) Score (1-4)
- Insulate buildings to a high standard.
What effect will this project have on overall energy use (electricity or - Include energy efficiency measures when carrying out refurbishment to deliver improvement in EPC ratings.
other fuels) e.g. in buildings, appliances or machinery? 0 0 - Replace gas boilers with renewable heating, such as heat pumps. Consider District Heat Networks where appropriate.
- Construct new buildings to Passivhaus standard.
What effect will this project have on the direct use of fossil fuels - Design and deliver buildings and infrastructure with lower-carbon materials, such as recycled material and timber frames.
such as gas, petrol, diesel, oil? 0 0 - Use con§truction methods that reduce overall energy use, such as modular, factory-built components, or use of electrical
Does this project further maximise the use of existing building plant on-site.
space? E.g. co-locating services; bringing under-used space into - Ins?all solar pangls or other renewable ener.gy generat.if)n, and consider including battery storage.
use; using buildings out-of-hours 0 o - Switch to a certlf!ed renewable energy provider e.g. utilise power purchase agreements (PPA)
Will any new building constructed or refurbished be highly energy - Use energy-efficient appliances.
efficient in use? (e.g. high levels of insulation, low energy demand - Install low-energy LED lighting. - ) _— -
T . . B N - Install measures to help manage building energy demand, such as smart meters, timers on lighting, or building management
per sq. m., _no servicing wrth fossil fuels _such as gas _heatlng, EPC 0 0 systems.
Does this make use of sustainable materials / unputs in your
project? E.g. re-used or recycled construction materials; timber in
place of concrete 0 0
Does this use more sustainable processes in the creation of the
project? E.g. modular and off-site construction; use of electrical
plant instead of petrol/diesel, 0 0
Will this increase the supply of renewable energy? e.g. installing
solar panels; switching to a renewable energy tariff 0 0
Do any appliances or electrical equipment to be used have high
energy efficiency ratings? 0 0
Average Score #DIV/0! #DIV/0!

Travel

Revised Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

Question Impact Score (0-4) Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list) Score (0-4)

- Reduce the need to travel e.g. through remote meetings, or rationalising routes and rounds.

- Share vehicles or substitute different modes of travel, rather than procuring new fleet.

- Specify electric, hybrid, or most fuel efficient vehicles for new fleet or for services involving transport.

- Support users and staff to walk, cycle, or use public transport e.g. with cycle parking, training, incentives.
Reducing travel: what effect will this project have on overall vehicle use? 0 0 - Use zero-emission deliveries

- Model and mitigate the project's effect on traffic and congestion e.g. retiming the service or deliveries
Will this project use petrol or diesel vehicles or EV, hybrid? 0 0
Will this support people to use active or low-carbon transport? E.g.
cycling, walking, switching to electric transport 0 0
Will it be easily accessible for all by foot, bike, or public transport,
including for disabled people? 0 0
Has the project taken steps to reduce traffic? Using e-cargo bikes; timing
activities or deliveries to be outside peak congestion times 0 0
Average Score #DIV/0! #DIV/0!
Goods and Consumption

Revised Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

Question Impact Score (0-4) |Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list) Score (0-4)

- Procure goods through sharing, leasing, or product-as-a-service models rather than ownership.
Has this project considered ways to reuse existing goods and materials to - Use pre-owned and reconditioned goods, and reduce reliance on procuring new goods.
the greatest extent possible, before acquiring newly manufactured ones? 0 0 - Use recycled materials, and procure items that can be reconditioned or recycled at end-of-life.

- Use lifecycle costing in business cases to capture the full cost of operation, repair and disposal of an item.
Does it reduce reliance on buying newly manufactured goods? E.g. - Ensure meat and dairy is high-quality, high-welfare. . . o
repair and re-use; sharing and lending goods between services or - De§|gn wa§te, |nclud|ng food waste, out of business models e.g. separating (and composting) food waste; replacing single-
people; leasing or product-as-a-service rather than ownership 0 0 use items with re.usabl.e 'tem.s' . .

. - Use contact points with residents, community groups and businesses to engage and enable them to adopt low-waste, low-
. carbon behaviours.

Does it use products and resources that are re-used, recycled, or
renewable? 0 0




17

18

19

20

2

e

22

23

24

30

Does it enable others to make sustainable choices within their lifestyles,

or engage people about this? 0 0
Is there a plan to reduce waste sent to landfill in manufacture? 0 0
Is the material used able to be re-used, re-purposed, or recyled at end of
its life? 0 0
Has it taken steps to ensure any food it offers is more sustainable? E.g.
less and high-quality (high welfare) meat and dairy; minimises food
waste; seasonal produce; locally sourced. 0 0
Average Score #DIV/0! #DIV/0!
Ecology
Revised Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:
Question Impact Score (0-4) |Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list) Score (0-4) (Seek advice from Landscapes Team if required)
What effect does this project have on total area of non-amenity
green/blue space? (Amenity green space = playing fields, play areas, - Avoid converting green space to hard surfacing.
sporting lakes etc. Non-amenity= e.g. woodland, grassland, wetland, 0 0 - Use underutilised space for planting, such as green roofs and walls.
- Plant native plants and perennials, rather than non-native ornamental species, to encourage biodiversity.
Does the project create more habitat for nature? E.g. native plants, trees, - Reduce trimming of grass and hedges, and avoid use of synthetic pesticides.
and flowers 0 0 - Provide space for animals e.g. long grass areas, bird boxes, bat boxes, 'insect hotels', ponds, hedgehog hides and passages,
Does it make changes o existing habitats and have a negative impact on log piles o ) )
nature? E.g. use of pesticides, reduced extent and variety of plants - Consider the ecological impacts from manufacture and use of procured goods, e.g. water pollution; water consumption; land
planting non-native species 0 0 use change for farming; pesticide use; organic/regenerative farming methods
Does it help people understand the value of biodiversity, and encourage
residents to support it in their private and community spaces? 0 0
Average Score #DIV/0! #DIV/0!
Adaptation
Revised Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:
q e PPyt A - Install water-saving devices in taps, showers and toilets
Question Impact Score (0-4) [Justification or mitigation Impact (select from list) Score (0-4) - Re-use grey water in new developments
D | d iect truct buildi includ -Capture and re-use rainwater where possible e.g. water butts for use in car washing, watering garden, toilets
0es any planne 7pr01ec » construction or building use include measures - Ensure all new building or refurbishment (especially of homes) models and mitigates future overheating risk, with adequate
to conserve water? 0 0 ventilation and shading
. . . - Avoid increasing areas of hard surfacing.
Does anythe project, consider how to sustainably protect people from - Convert hard surfacing to green and permeable surfacing where possible, and install Sustainable Drainage systems (SUDS).
extreme weather? Y 0 - Plant drought-tolerant plants and mulch landscapes to avoid water loss through evaporation.
Has any planned building work or infrastructure considered how to
mitigate flood risk? E.g. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS); de-
paving areas, green roofs 0 0
Does any planned infrastructure or building work increase the overall
footprint of hard surfacing? (as opposed to green or permeable surfacing) 0 0
Has the project considered its own resilience to future extreme heat, flood
risk, or water shortage? 0 0
Average Score #DIV/0! #DIV/0!

Engagement and Influence

Question

Does this project raise awareness and understanding of the climate and

Score (0-4)

Justification or mitigation

Impact (select from list)

Revised
Score (0-4)

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:
- 'Make every contact count', by using contact points with residents, businesses and community groups to promote
understanding of the climate emergency.

ecological emergency, and the steps that people can take? 0 0
Average Score #DIV/0! #DIV/0!
Total Overall Average Score #DIV/0! #DIV/0!

Now assesment is compelete copy and paste box into your business case, committee report. (under environmental
implications 6). Whole assesment can be an appendix. Procurement tenders are expected to submit complete report with

application.

Climate and Sustainability Impact Assessment Summary

Homes, buildings, infrastructure, equipment and energy #DIV/0!
Travel #DIV/0!
Goods and Consumption #DIV/0!
Ecology #DIV/0!
Adaptation #DIV/0!
Engagement and Influence #DIV/0!
Total Overall Average Score #DIV/0!




List 1
Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect.
ive impact for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed.

Some possible negative impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where possible.

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.
Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect.

Some positive impact for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed.
ility. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where possible.
Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitiga!

List 2 List 3

4 No No
3 To some exter N/A
2 N/A

-1

0 Yes Yes

ZTT obed

Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations.

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.




Agenda Item 10

COMMITTEE
REPORT

App Based Parking Payment
Solution

S5 THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



Report Originator Head of Service sponsor ‘ Date Originated

Lead Member Name: Sarah Nelmes  Area of Responsibility: General Public Services

12/05/2025

CMT Date: 10/06/2025

JLT Date (if applicable): N/A
JLT/CMT Feedback Finance Legal Head of Service
Yes/No Yes/No Yes/No
Date: Date: Date:

General Public Services and Community Engagement 01/07/2025
Committee
Policy and Resources Committee 21/07/2025
Council (if required) N/A

PART |

App Based Parking Payment Solution

1 Summary

1.1 This report recommends the councils approach to adopting a phone app-based
parking payment solution. This system would be usable at existing ‘pay by plate’
locations including council carparks and certain on-street locations.

1.2 The app-based solution is proposed to complement rather than replace the
existing provision of physical parking machines.

1.3 This report details the costs associated with different app-based parking
payment solutions and how this compares to the existing physical parking
machines.

2 Background

2.1 Three Rivers District Council currently operates ‘pay by plate’ physical parking

machines across 11 public car parks, and certain on-street locations including
Moneyhill Parade, Rickmansworth and in Croxley Green. The machines are
used by entering the vehicle registration number and selecting the period of stay
with no requirement to display a ticket. The machines accept card or contactless
payment. All physical parking machines and the associated IT systems are
supplied by IPS Group.

2.2 There is cost burden of installing and maintaining physical parking machines
which has been summarised in the tables below. A transaction fee is also levied
on all paid transactions via the physical machines which is detailed in section 4.

Page 114



Item Cost (incl. VAT)

Cost of installing a new physical parking | Approximately £6,000
machine

Annual Costs

Item Cost (incl. VAT)

Back-office Data Management System £360 per machine per year

Receipt thermal paper rolls Approximately £7.00 per roll

72 rolls replaced in 2024 or | £21 per machine per year (in 2024)
approximately 3 per machine

Maintenance contract £468 per machine per year

Total: | £849 per machine per year

2.3 With evolving consumer preferences and increased smartphone use, app-based
parking solutions are becoming standard across many local authorities. Three
Rivers District Council is the only district/ borough in Hertfordshire not offering
an app-based parking solution.

24 The benefits of implementing an app-based parking solutions include:

2.41  Visitors may find the app a quicker and easier way to register a parking session.

2.4.2 \Visitors can register a parking session without the need to find the closest
physical parking machine.

2.4.3 Visitors can extend an existing parking session if their visit is longer than
expected. With some providers, visitors can also receive a refund if their session
is shorter than expected.

2.4.4  Visitors can still register a parking session in the event of the physical parking
machine being out of order.

245 The council can avoid lower utilisation of parking areas in the event of the
physical parking machine being out of order.

246 The council can consider reducing the number of physical parking machines
installed for new or existing schemes, subsequently reducing the cost of
implementing and maintaining schemes.

2.4.7  The council can investigate providing certain permits and other parking services
through the app.

25 The disbenefits and proposed mitigations of implementing an app-based parking
solutions include:

Disbenefit Mitigation

Page 115




Fraudulent activity associated with parking
charges is becoming increasingly common in
public carparks across the UK. Criminals are
known to utilise stickers with QR codes directing
visitors to fraudulent parking payment portals.
Adoption of an app-based parking payment
solution normalises the use of online payment
methods in our parking areas. This may result in
a greater risk of visitors becoming victims of
fraudulent parking payment methods.

Officers recommend adopting a practise of not
offering QR codes for payment across our
parking areas.

Officers recommend reviewing the tariff boards
in carparks to educate visitors on the risks of
fraudulent QR codes.

Providers levying a transaction fee for paid and/
or free parking transactions could be an
additional cost burden on the council or visitors.

Officers have reviewed this in further detail and
accounted for within the recommendation.

Visitors experiencing digital exclusion if they are
not able to use the app.

Officers recommend that an app is used to
complement rather than replace the existing
provision of physical parking machines.

Officers do not recommend any immediate
reduction in physical parking machines.

3.2

3.3

3.4

App-based Parking Solution Providers

The industry for app-based parking solutions is maturing with well-known
providers such as RingGo, PaybyPhone and JustPark working with councils and
private carpark operators across the UK. Utilising well-established providers will
likely result in greater uptake as more visitors will already use the app elsewhere.

Some providers, including all three mentioned in 3.1, offer an automated phone
line to register a parking session. Some offer additional functionality through
their app such as paying for our Electric Vehicle charging points and parking
session simultaneously.

Some larger carpark operators have their own apps including NCP and APCOA.
Some councils outsource their parking services to these companies including
the implementation and management of an app-based parking solution.
Hertsmere Borough Council currently operate parking services for Three Rivers
District Council and the scope of this report does not consider changes to this
arrangement.

In Hertfordshire, RingGo and PaybyPhone are the operators of choice by other
districts and boroughs as shown in the table below. The table also details what
transaction fee is charged to the carpark user for free or paid sessions. Where
the fee is Op the council may be paying this fee or they have arranged no fee
with the provider.

District/ Borough App-based Parking | Transaction fee paid | Transaction fee
Solution Provider by user for free | paid by user for
sessions paid sessions
North Herts PaybyPhone Unavailable from App | 6p
St Albans PaybyPhone Op 15p
Hertsmere PaybyPhone Op 14p
East Herts PaybyPhone Unavailable from App | 15p

Page 116



3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

Dacorum PaybyPhone Op 5p
Stevenage PaybyPhone Unavailable from App | Op
Welwyn and Hatfield | PaybyPhone Unavailable from App | 15p
Broxbourne RingGo Unavailable from App | Op
Watford RingGo Op Op

Consideration could be given for aligning with our immediate neighbours such
as Watford Borough Council to provide convenience and consistency for
residents.

IPS Group, the supplier of our physical parking machines, are entering the
market with a new parking payment app known as ‘ParkSmarter’. This app has
completed User Acceptance Testing within the company in March 2025. The
app is yet to be utilised by any parking operator. This app is unique in its ability
to integrate fully with our existing parking machines providing the ability to check
the validity of and extend sessions started on a machine.

IPS Group have offered the council an introductory fee reduction if the
‘ParkSmarter’ app is implemented. This fee reduction would apply for
transactions taking place on the existing physical machines as well as the app.

The National Parking Platform (NPP) was a national pilot previously supported
by the Department of Transport which aimed to provide customers with greater
flexibility in paying for parking. The NPP uses a generic location code and lets
you select your preferred payment provider instead of having to use a specific
service or app.

On the 21 May 2025 the government announced that the British Parking
Association will take forward the development and running of the NPP supported
by a consortium of industry leaders. At the time of this announcement, the
platform had been rolled out in 10 local authorities and has handled over half a
million transactions a month. The government believe ‘drivers nationwide will
benefit from a simpler, more seamless experience’ with the NPP.

However, there may be disadvantages to the NPP. Each payment provider on
NPP can charge their own transaction fee which will vary and cannot be
influenced or absorbed by the council. This may result in different fees being
paid by drivers depending on their chosen provider.

Costs

Officers have completed initial investigations into the adoption of an app-based
parking payment solution. Providers levy what is often known as a ‘convenience
fee’ or ‘transaction fee’ on parking transactions proceed by their app. The cost
of these has been compared in the table below. These prices are subject to
change with expected inflationary increases. There are also other fees such as
Merchant Acquiring Fees which are paid by the council.

Fee for paid Fee for free Other Fees
transactions transactions

Current physical | 20p (absorbed within Op

machines (IPS) | the parking fee)

PaybyPhone | 15p Op 5% Merchant
Acquiring Fee

Page 117




RingGo | 20p Op 2.5% Merchant
Acquiring Fee
JustPark | 10p 10p 2% Merchant
Acquiring Fee
ParkSmarter (IPS) | 20p Op
ParkSmarter (IPS) | 19p (reduction also applies | Op
Introductory Offer | to physical machines)
Parking Area
ParkSmarter (IPS) | 18p (reduction also applies | Op
Introductory Offer | to physical machines)
All Parking Areas

4.2

4.3

4.4

In some other local authorities, the transaction fee is passed on to the visitor as
an additional cost to the standard parking rates. This means that completely free
parking transactions are often not available through apps.

The table below indicates how much each providers transaction fees would cost
the council if this was absorbed within the standard parking rates. This would
mean no variation in cost between the app and our physical parking machines.
Dependent on the provider and the type and amount of transactions proceeded
by the app, absorbing the transaction fee could incur an additional cost on the
council. As detailed in the table above, we currently pay a 20p transaction fee
on our parking machines and if the new provider exceeds this it will be an
additional cost which could be considered for passing on to the car park user.

These costs are based on the number of free and paid parking sessions
registered in 2024 and the total income from paid sessions in financial year
2024/25. These are indicative numbers which will be subject to fluctuation yearly
depending on the amount and type of transactions.

Provider Fee for paid Fee for free Total
transactions transactions
Current machines | £24,532.00 £- £24 532
PaybyPhone | £31,113.15 £- £31,113 (including transaction
fee and merchant acquiring fee)
RingGo | £30,889.08 £- £30,889 (including transaction
fee and merchant acquiring fee)
JustPark | £17,351.66 £40,631.80 £57,983 (including transaction
fee and merchant acquiring fee)
ParkSmarter (IPS) | £24,532.00 £- £24 /532
ParkSmarter (IPS) | £23,305.40 £- £23,305
Introductory Offer
Parking Area
ParkSmarter (IPS) | £22,078.80 £- £22,079
Introductory Offer
All Parking Areas

4.5

4.6

Some providers enable the council to receive additional income from optional
text message (SMS) reminder fees levied on visitors via their app. These fees
would always be a choice for the visitor. Provider ‘PaybyPhone’ see a 54%
uptake of SMS reminders across their clients. However, it is becoming
increasingly uncommon for providers to offer this, and officers do not consider
this to materially impact the options appraisal.

G-Cloud is a procurement framework officers recommend could be used in this
exercise. There is no tender process under the G-Cloud 14 Framework. Instead,
the customer conducts a search or number of searches on G-Cloud using

Page 118



4.7

4.8

5.2

5.2.1

5.2.2

5.3

54

5.5

relevant keywords and filters to produce a shortlist of potential suppliers.
Through study of the suppliers G-Cloud service summary and more detailed
service description, and then discussions and clarifications with suppliers,
followed by an evaluation, the customer identifies the supplier whose G-Cloud
offering (including service description and service and pricing definition
documents) best fits its requirements.

A Further Competition under the ESPO Parking Management Solutions
Framework could also be considered. Both frameworks include all the main
suppliers in the cashless parking marketplace, and both provide an efficient
route to market which is fully compliant with the Procurement Act 2023 and the
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. However, the pricing available under the G
Cloud 14 framework is more attractive, and, therefore, this route generally
provides better value for money.

Procuring IPS as a solution will need to be reviewed further by the council’s legal
team as they are currently not on any of the above procurement frameworks.

Options and Reasons for Recommendations

To enable the benefits outlined in section 2.4, officers recommend that the
council progresses the establishment of an app-based parking solution. This will
provide visitors greater choice in how they register a parking session in Three
Rivers district.

To ensure the consistency for tariffs for users, this report does not recommend
the council pursues joining the National Parking Platform at the stage. However,
officers recognise that the industry is likely to move towards this service and
would therefore recommend future proofing our parking areas to move to NPP.
This includes:

Requesting our nationally unique NPP area code and location codes for our
parking areas which will be used with the chosen provider.

Having a break clause in the contract to allow movement from the chosen
provider to the NPP when the council feels this is appropriate.

To provide consistency of parking fees across our physical machines and the
app, officers recommend that the council absorb the cost of the transaction fee
outlined in section 5. This enables the council to maintain a completely free
transaction to app users for applicable parking sessions. However, this may
result in an additional cost burden to the council and for this reason, the provider
fees must be carefully considered.

To maintain or reduce the costs incurred by the council, officers recommend that
the council consider utilising the ‘ParkSmarter’ app provided by IPS Group or
another provider which can match or exceed this expected cost. The council
would seek further procurement advice on completing any agreement.

If ‘ParkSmarter’ is procured, to ensure the app provides a quality user
experience, officers recommend trialling the app in one carpark to begin with
before expanding to all parking areas. This app is new to the market and whilst
there may be opportunities for the council to influence the service, it is not used
by anyone else currently and would be another new app for motorists. This app
does not provide a telephone service to pay.

Policy/Budget Reference and Implications

Page 119



6.1

The recommendations in this report currently match current budget spend.

6.2 The recommendations in this report are within the Council’'s agreed policy. The
relevant policy is entitled Corporate Framework 2023-2026. Further details are
included in the Regulatory Services Service Plan.

6.3 The recommendations in this report relate to the achievement of the following
performance indicators: Continue to develop and improve our Customer
Experience

7 Legal, Community Safety, Public Health, Risk Management and Health &
Safety Implications

71 None specific.

8 Financial Implications

8.1 The table below shows the possible impact on fees to the parking account
based on the number of parking transactions in 2024. The numbers assume all
transactions are processed by the chosen option, but it is noted that a mix of
machine and app transactions is likely to continue.

Recommendation Council Annual Expenditure
Recommendation is not carried £24,532.00
5.3.1 (ParkSmarter) £24,532.00

9 Equal Opportunities Implications

9.1 Relevance Test

Has a relevance test been completed for Equality Impact? Yes

Did the relevance test conclude a full impact assessment was No — effective

required? mitigations have
been agreed as
recommendatio
ns in this report.

10 Staffing Implications

10.1 The Principal Sustainable Transport Officer within the Transport and Parking
team oversees the implementation of parking schemes. This project is not
expected to require additional staffing resources outside of the Transport and
Parking team.

1 Climate Change and Sustainability Implications

11.1 An app-based parking payment solution is unlikely to have direct implications. It
may support less dependence on physical parking machines, paper receipts and
other associated materials which have carbon impacts in their production (Scope
3).

12 Customer Services Centre Implications

12.1 The customer service centre may receive calls from the public about issues

using the parking app. New Granicus reporting routes will need to be created so

Page 120




13

14
14.1

that any issues are reported directly to the app provider. CSC would benefit from
training to be familiar with the app to support the public with its use.

Communications and Website Implications

The parking website will need to be updated with the chosen providers details
and location codes of each car park. The council will also link to the external
providers website. Communications support may be needed in the launch of a
new app solution.

Recommendation

It is recommended that:

vi)

vii)

Members note the report and approve officers to progress the
implementation of an app-based parking payment solution
including entering an agreement/contract with a provider.

Members approve the mitigations outlined in 2.5.

Members agree to not pursue the National Parking Platform but
plan for future compatibility as outlined in 5.2.

Members agree for officers to progress with procuring an app
under the recommendation outlined in 5.4.

Members delegate the final details to progress an app-based
parking solution to the Director or Finance in conjunction with the
relevant Lead Member, to implement the new system in the
current financial year.

That public access to the report be immediate.
That public access to the decision be immediate.

Report prepared by: Tom Rankin, Principal Sustainable Transport Officer

Page 121



Data Quality
Data checked by:
Tom Rankin, Principal Sustainable Transport Officer

1 Poor
2 Sufficient | X
3 High

Background Papers
None.

APPENDICES /| ATTACHMENTS
None.

Page 122



S THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



This page is intentionally left blank



EQUALITY

IMPACT
ASSESSMENT (EIA}

IIIIIIIIIIIIIII



Project Information

Project Name

This should clearly
explain what service /
policy / strategy /
change you are
assessing

App Based Parking Payment Solution

Service Area

Main team responsible
for the policy, practice,
service or function
being assessed

Transport and Parking, Regulatory Services

EIA Author
Name and Job Title

Tom Rankin, Sustainable Transport Officer

Date EIA drafted 30/05/2025

ID number RS005

This will be added by
the Strategy and
Partnerships Team

Executive summary

Focus of EIA

A member of the public should have a
good understanding of the policy or
service and any proposals after reading
this section.

Please use plain English and write any
acronyms in full first time - eg: ‘Equality
Impact Assessment (EIA)’

This section should explain what you are
assessing:

o [fthe EIA is aftached to a report,
summarise the report.

e Provide information on whether
any of the following communities
could be affected by the policy,
practice, service or function, or by
how it is delivered?

e (age, disability, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief,
sex, sexual orientation, and
marriage and civil partnership) in
addition, TRDC recognises other
communities may be vulnerable
to disadvantage, this includes
carers, people experiencing
domestic abuse, substance
misusers, homeless people,
looked after children, (ex) armed
forces personnel.

This EIA relates to a report recommending how the council
implements a phone app-based parking payment solution.
This system would be usable at existing ‘pay by plate’
locations including council carparks and certain on-street
locations.

The app-based solution is proposed to complement rather
than replace the existing provision of physical parking
machines.

This EIA is assessing the potential impact of implementing an
app-based parking payment solution on different
communities. It is believed that the biggest impact will be on
those who are disabled, elderly, not English-speakers or
those who, for any reason, are not digitally enabled.

U
Q
(e
(@
=
N
o




Mitigations

Protected
Characteristic

Potential Issue

Against each protected
characteristics, make a frank and
realistic assessment of what issues
may or do occur

Mitigating Actions

How can the negative impacts be
reduced or avoided by the mitigating
measures? Is further engagement
with specific communities needed? Is
more research or monitoring needed?
Does there need to be a change in
the proposal itself?

Age Visitors experiencing digital Officers recommend that an app is
exclusion if they are not able to used to complement rather than
use the app. replace the existing provision of

physical parking machines.
Officers do not recommend any
immediate reduction in physical
parking machines.

Disability Disabled users who may not be Officers recommend that an app is

able to use a mobile device due to
their disability.

used to complement rather than
replace the existing provision of
physical parking machines.
Officers do not recommend any
immediate reduction in physical
parking machines.

Gender reassignment | NONE
(or affirmation)

Pregnancy or NONE
maternity

Race NONE
Religion or belief NONE
Sex NONE
Sexual Orientation NONE

Page 127




Marriage and Civil NONE

Partnership

The council Visitors who do not speak English | Many app-based solutions will be
recognises other may find it difficult to understand able to use multiple languages.
communities may be | signage and the relevant parking

vulnerable to restrictions.

disadvantage, this
includes carers,
people experiencing
domestic abuse,
substance misusers,
homeless people,
looked after children
and care leavers, (ex)
armed forces
personnel.

Actions Planned

In this section you can add information on additional or proactive steps you are taking that enhance
equity, engagement or equality of access to services, as well as those mitigating actions identified in the
section above that will be undertaken.

The Equality Duty is an ongoing duty: policies must be kept under review, continuing to give ‘due regard’
to the duty. If an assessment of a broad proposal leads to more specific proposals, then further equality
assessment and consultation are needed.

Additional Information

Space to provide any additional information in relation to protected characteristics or equity,
diversity, equality and inclusion.

Sign off: Page 128



Equalities Lead Officer

Date

Shivani Davé

04/06/2025

Page 129




S THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



Agenda Iltem 11

Committee Report
Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP)

THREE RIVERS
S DISTRICT COUNCIL




Report Originator: Head of Service sponsor: ‘ Date Originated:

Kimberley Rowle 6/5/25

Lead Member Name: Area of Responsibility:

Councillor Sarah Nelmes Lead Member for General Public Services

Meeting Date

General Public Services and Community 1 July 2025

Engagement Committee

Policy and Resources Committee 21 July 2025
PART |

Adoption of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP)
(DoF)

1 Summary

1.1 Following consideration of a draft LCWIP at GPSCS& Committee in October
2024 Officers have made further amendments and redrafted the LCWIP for
adoption (Appendix A). This updated document reflects the previously agreed
amendments detailed at GPSCS&I which were based on the analysis of the
response to the public consultation (held 22 May to 17 July 2023).

1.2 The LCWIP is a 10-year plan which enables Three Rivers district to benefit from
central government funding to improve walking and cycling routes.

2 Background - Initial Development

2.1 The LCWIP is a new, strategic approach to planning sustainable active travel
networks, developed to support the aims and objectives of the National Cycling
and Walking Investment Strategy and required to enable the local Highway,
Traffic and Transport Authority, the County Council, to apply for national funding
for these routes.

2.2 The LCWIP process enables the identification of cycling and walking
improvements required at the local level. The process enables a long-term
approach to developing local cycling and walking networks over a ten-year
period and is a vital component of the Government’s strategy to increase the
number of trips made by both forms of active travel.

2.3 The LCWIP is a 10-year plan which, once adopted, will be delivered jointly by
Hertfordshire County Council and Three Rivers District Council.

2.3 The TRDC LCWIP has been developed jointly with the County Council (a
requirement) since 2020.

2.4 At the early stages, the TRDC LCWIP was also developed jointly with Watford
Borough Council (a logical partner given the distribution of settlements in the
District around the Watford conurbation, and a partner which was required by
the County Council). Watford Borough Council and TRDC then progressed their
plans separately with Watford Borough Council adopting their LCWIP in 2022.

Page 132



2.5

2.6

3.2

3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

Two Watford Borough Council routes cross into Three Rivers district which are
shown on the map as route W17 and route W6.

Other neighbouring Local Authorities have been consulted as part of the LCWIP
process as were a range of relevant stakeholders, including all District Council
(and other partner Local Authority) Members.

Background — Public Consultation

The TRDC LCWIP was approved for public consultation by the Infrastructure,
Housing & Economic Development Committee on the 11 October 2022 with 5
proposed priority cycle route improvements and 5 proposed priority walking
route improvements.

Three documents were provided for the public consultation providing an
overview of the TRDC LCWIP:

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan: this detailed 78-page report
detailed the background of how the strategic routes have been assessed and
proposed. This covered both Watford and Three Rivers districts and their
associated LCWIPs.

Three Rivers Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Executive Summary: This
shorter report focused on providing an overview of the LCWIP and the proposed
interventions in Three Rivers district.

Appendix A: This document provided a detailed look at each of the proposed
interventions and what specific improvements could be made.

The consultation requested feedback on the 5 priority cycle routes and 5 priority
walking routes identified. Potential future routes were included in the report to
provide context but were not specifically asked to be commented upon.

The LCWIP public consultation was conducted from the 22 May to the 17 July
2023 led by the County Council in partnership with TRDC. Participants were
given multiple ways to provide feedback and a total of 1,542 responses were
received across all methods.

In-person engagement sessions were also held to facilitate direct interaction
between residents and council officers.

Officers from Hertfordshire County Council and Three Rivers District Council
investigated concerns raised in the public consultation as well as other
suggestions and proposed alternative routes. This included further consultation
with officers from the Highways service and site visits.

Given the concern raised on the Chorleywood proposals it was decided to invite
Chorleywood Residents Association and Chorleywood Parish Council to a
meeting to discuss the LCWIP in Chorleywood and possible alternative options.
A meeting was held on the 19 September 2024 with Chorleywood Residents
Association, Chorleywood Parish Council and Ward Councillors which focused
on the Chorleywood area and routes 8 and 14. A key outcome of this meeting
was the support of a route down Green Street which would later be reviewed
and added to the final document.

Hertfordshire County Council completed an analysis of the responses to the
public consultation and a summary of this was presented to General Public
Services, Community Safety & Infrastructure Committee on the 15 October

Page 133



2024. The Committee report with an overview of the consultation responses can

be found at Appendix B.

3.9 At the General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure Committee
meeting on 15 October 2024, members resolved to:
i. That the Committee notes the report and approves the proposed
changes as a result of the public consultation and further investigations detailed
in the table below:

Route Description of Route Agreed Amendment

2 Watford via Croxley Green A412 None at this stage.
to Rickmansworth High Street

3 Ebury Road, parallel with Uxbridge | Include the alternative route through Townfield
Road and then next to A412 alongside Fire station.

8 A404 route between Route across the common and alternative one way
Rickmansworth Station and along Common Road to be removed, consider
Chorleywood extending route along the A404 to Clement Danes

school.

14 Starts on Stag Lane in Remove modal filter but maintain the minor junction
Chorleywood and comes out via improvements and look at slowing vehicle speeds to
Shepherds Lane towards William improve conditions for cycling.

Penn Leisure Centre

21 Chalfont Road to towards Denham | None at this stage.
and Buckinghamshire border

7 Not a priority LCWIP route, this is Route to remain as local cycling route but modal filter to
a TRDC local route be removed as not supported.

Walking | 5 routes in South Oxhey None at this stage.

Routes

ii.  That Officers continue to pursue the LCWIP for presentation of a Plan for adoption

3.10

4.2

4.3

at a future Committee meeting.

Following this Committee meeting Officers amended the LCWIP to include the
above changes. In addition, as a result of requests from this Committee meeting,
officers from TRDC and HCC investigated the extension of route 8 further along
the A404 and down Green Street, Chorleywood. The route was considered
viable and has now been added to the LCWIP.

Options and Reasons for Recommendations

Officers have redrafted the LCWIP, taking into account comments received from
the public consultation. This can be viewed as Appendix A. This updated
document reflects the agreed amendments from the General Public Services,
Community Safety and Infrastructure Committee meeting on 15 October 2024
(see details in the table at para 3.9 above). These amendments were based on
the analysis of the response to the public consultation.

The redrafted document also includes an extension of route 8 further West along
the A404 and down Green Street, Chorleywood.

The LCWIP aims to provide safe and accessible routes in the district which
enables residents to choose walking, wheeling or cycling. Each route connects
two or more key destinations including local settlements, schools and
educational sites, employment areas and community facilities. This aligns with

Page 134




4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

5.2

6.1

7.1

our corporate objective to “Facilitate the design and implementation of
sustainable, low carbon, infrastructure”.

The LCWIP includes ‘strategic’ cycle routes, which in the Three Rivers district
are focussed on the key corridors identified by the tools required to be used for
this process.

The District Council’s local cycle route network will be retained as a non-strategic
‘local network’ which is nevertheless essential to increasing cycling as it
comprises routes that the County Council has suggested could be considered
as ‘feeder’ routes to the Strategic Cycling Network.

The identified interventions on routes remain indicative suggestions at this
stage. Once the LCWIP has been adopted, each route will be subject to further
detailed design review and further public consultation.

Adoption of the LCWIP will enable future cycling and walking projects to be
identified and prioritised in the district and will enable Three Rivers District
Council to lever additional external funding.

Further changes to the LCWIP will result in delaying its adoption and delaying
the ability to begin seeking funding for the improvement of cycling and walking
routes in Three Rivers district.

Abandonment of the LCWIP may result in schemes in Three Rivers district being
ineligible for central government funding resulting in minimal improvements in
cycling and walking routes in Three Rivers district.

Policy/Budget Reference and Implications

The recommendations in this report are within the Council’s agreed policy and
budgets and will wherever possible be delivered through external funding. The
relevant policy is entitled Corporate Framework 2023-2026. Further details are
included in the Regulatory Services Service Plan.

The recommendations in this report relate to the achievement of the following
performance indicators:

e Delivery and implementation of a Cycling and Walking Strategy

Legal, Equal Opportunities, Community Safety, Public Health, Customer
Services Centre

None specific
Financial

The delivery and adoption of the LCWIP is within existing budgets. The proposed
Plan purely sets out a Policy perspective and does not commit the District
Council to deliver any of its proposed schemes. Any proposals not provided for
within current budgets will be brought forward for consideration as part of the
normal budget process.

Staffing Implications

The Principal Sustainable Transport Officer within the Transport and Parking
team oversees the development of the LCWIP in partnership with officers from

Page 135



Hertfordshire County Council. This project is not expected to require additional
staffing resources outside of the Transport and Parking team.

9 Climate Change and Sustainability Implications
9.1 The LCWIP referenced in this report will support the transition to sustainable
forms of travel in the district, reduce emissions to net-zero carbon and increase
sustainability across a wide range of areas. Progression of this Plan will
contribute to the completion of safer, more attractive routes for all people to cycle
and walk. Each route connects two or more key destinations including local
settlements, schools and educational sites, employment areas and community
facilities.
10 Communications and Website Implications
10.1 The project will be managed using existing resources, staffing and
communications support.
1 Risk and Health & Safety Implications
11.1 The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on
the website at
11.2 The subject of this report is covered by the Regulatory Services plan. Any risks
resulting from this report will be included in the risk register and, if necessary,
managed within this plan.
Nature of Consequence | Suggested Response Risk Rating
Risk a‘;:;rl.?:es (tolerate, treat | (combination
terminate, of likelihood
transfer) and impact)
Infrastructure | Schemes within | The plan was | Tolerate 3
Plan not the District developed to
adopted due could a high
to public lack | potentially be standard
of support ineligible for using input
central and review
government from multiple
funding expert and
local groups,
Councillors
and
organisations
to ensure
potential
concerns are
addressed.
12 Recommendation
12.1 It is recommended that:

Members agree the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP)
attached at Appendix A is agreed and adopted.

Page 136


http://www.threerivers.gov.uk/

Report prepared by: Tom Rankin, Principal Sustainable Travel and Transport Officer

APPENDICES
Appendix A: Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (including appendices)

Appendix B: LCWIP Public Consultation Report - General Public Services, Community
Safety & Infrastructure Committee, 15 October 2024

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



‘hree Rivers District
Local Cycling and

Walking Infrastructure
Plan
M ‘ THREE RIVERS
Hertfordshire DISTRICT COUNCIL

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



M
MOTT M

MACDONALD

Aspects of this report were developed by Mott MacDonald Limited
10 Fleet Place London EC4M 7RB United Kingdom

T +44 (0)20 7651 0300

mottmac.com

Mott MacDonald Limited.

Registered in England and Wales no. 1243967.

Registered office: Mott MacDonald House,

8-10 Sydenham Road, Croydon CRO 2EE, United Kingdom

Page 140

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



TABLE OF CONTENTS

T INtrOAUCEION ... ————————— 6
1.1 LCWIP DACKGIOUNG ...ttt 6
1.2 TRE LCWIP PrOCESS .....coviiiiiiii ettt e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e et a e e e eaeeeeaatta e eaeaaeeensnnes 8

2 LCWIP Stage 1 — Determining SCOPE........ccevviiiiiiiimimimmminsssssssss s ssssssssss s 9
2.1 OVBIVIBW ...ttt ettt e oo 44ttt ettt e e 2o e et b e et e e e e e e e e nn e e e e e e e e eaaans 9
2.2 O B IV S . 9
2.3 GeographiCal EXIENT..... ..ot e e e e e e e e e e 9
24 GOVEINANCE STIUCIUIE ...t s e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e eeaeennaaaaeeeens 10
2.5 Consultation APPIOACK.........uue et 11

3 LCWIP Stage 2 — Gathering Information............ccoevviiiiiiiiiiiiiisissss 12
3.1 o) [To3 Vo7 1= S 12
3.2 Other Scheme DeVeIOPMENES ......ccoiiiiie e e e e e e e eaaeas 13
3.3 Adoption of the Place & Movement Approach .............eeiiiii e, 13
3.4 Other LOWIPS ...ttt oottt e e e e et e e e e e e e e bba e e e e e e e aaan 14
3.5 Baseline Travel and Transport CONtEXt .........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiieie e e s 15

3.5.1 TraVel 10 WOTK ...ttt 15

3.5.2 Existing Cycle Network ... 16

353 CYCliNG TIENAS ... e e e e e et e e 18

3.5.4 WaIKING TIENAS ... 19

4 LCWIP Stage 3 - Network Planning for Cycling..........coviemccciiiiiinirccccceeeeeeeeeeees 22
4.1 Propensity 10 CYCIE TOOI .......uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 22
4.2 Propensity 10 CyYCle ANAIYSIS .........uuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e eeaeennnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnns 23
4.3 Origin and Destination ANAIYSIS ......coooiiiiieeeee e 25

431 Identified CyCling COMTIAOrS ......ccoeiieeeeeeeee e 26

43.2 Key cycling COrTIAOrS ......ooooiiiiieee 27

4.3.3 Cycle corridors and the road network.............cccoceeeiiiiiiii 28
4.4 Pre-prioritiSatiON.........ccoi e aaaan 29

441 MethOdOIOGY ....coooeieeeeeee e 29

4.4.2 Pre-prioritisation ROULES.........cooiiiiii e 30
4.5 Priority CYCING ROULES .......uiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 31
4.6 Primary, Secondary and LOCal ROULES ...........uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeennne 35
4.7 National Cycle NEtWOIrK FOULES .........uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 35
4.8 ROULE SEIECHON TOOL......eeeiiiiieiie ettt e e e e e eaaeeeaaaan 36
4.9 Types of cycling iNterventions ... 38
4.10 Identified cycling iINtErVENTIONS .......ooiiiie e 39
4.11  Route SCOre IMProVEMENT ... ..o 58
412 Consultation — Cycle Route FEedback ............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 60

5 LCWIP Stage 4 - Network Planning for Walking ...........cccuuimmmimmmmmimmnnnnsnnnnssssssssssssenn 63
51 COre WalKING ZONES..... i 63
5.2 Priority WalKing ROULES .........uiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 64

Page 141

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



5.3 Walking Route AUdit TOOL.........cooiiiei e e e 65

5.4 Types of walking INtErVENTIONS ... 66

55 Identified Walking INterventions ............oooooiiiiii e 67

5.6 Route Score IMProvemMENT .......... e e s 72

5.7 Consultation - Walking Route Feedback ..., 72
6 LCWIP Stage 5 - Prioritising Improvements...........ccccovviiiiiiiiiiiissssssssssssss e 73

6.1 Y=Y dgTeTo o] [oTe 1Y SRR 73

6.2 ST o 0= o | PSR 74
7 LCWIP Stage 6 - Integration and Application ........c...cceiiiimiiiiicccciinrrrrreesenn e 75

71 TIMESCAlES ANA REVIEW ...t e e e e ettt a e e e e e e e e eatteaaa e e e eeeeeenenes 75

7.2 U] o 1o T O PRPPPTTTOPRR 75

7.3 Policy Integration and APPIICAtION ............uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 75

Tables

Table 1.1 DfT Cycling and Walking Long Term Aspirations ............couuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccee e 6
Table 3.1 Other Scheme DeVelOPMENTS ........ouviiii e e et e e e e e e e eeeenes 13
Table 3.2 2021 Census travel t0 WOrK MOdEe...........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e 15
Table 3.3 HCC CyYClIe targets .......couuuuii ittt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e et eeeeaaaeeeeeaes 18
Table 3.4 HCC walKing targets .........ooooiiiiiiiii e 20
LI o) (= e B O IS Y= o F= T o LSOO URRPPRPPN 22
Table 4.2 Three Rivers baseline results audits SUMMAry............ccooii i 37
Table 4.3 RST results summary (With interventions)...........coooii i, 59
Table 4.4 Cycle Route feedback and reSponses SUMMAIY ............oouuiiiiiiieeriiiiiiieee e ee et eeeeeeeeenes 60
Table 5.1 Three Rivers Key walking routes - Existing WRAT results summary..........ccccccvvveviiiiiiiiennennn. 65
Table 5.2 Key walking routes - WRAT results summary (with interventions)...............cccccoiiiiieinin, 72
Table 6.1 Deliverability Criteria...........oouiiiiiiiiii e 73
Figures

Figure 1.1 Benefits Of the LCWIP PrOCESS........uuuiiiiiiiiiiii e 7
Figure 2.1 GeographiCal SCOPE ........u e 10
Figure 2.2 GOVErNaNCE STFUCKUIE....... .. i ssssnsssnnnssnsnnnnnnnnns 10
Figure 3.1 Hertfordshire Place and Movement MatriX .............cccoooiimmmmmmmiieneeeeees 14
Figure 3.2 Hertfordshire Cycling Map for Travel and LeiSUre ... 17
Figure 3.3 Journeys less than 3 Miles 2022..........oo e i 18
Figure 3.4 Cycle Level Trends in Hertfordshire........... ... e 19
Figure 3.5 Cycle 10 WOrK MOGE SNATE .........uu e 19
Figure 3.6 Mode share of journeys less than 1 mile in length in Hertfordshire ..............cccccooiiiiiiiinnnes 20
Figure 3.7 Walk t0 WOrk MO SNAIE .........iiieiiee e e e e e e e e 21
Figure 4.1 PCT Outputs for Watford and Three Rivers (Go Dutch and Government Target assignment
o1 0 F= 1 o) TP 24
Figure 4.2 PCT Analysis - cycle demand mapped onto the route network (trip assignment)................... 25
Figure 4.3 Key trip origins and destinations in Watford and Three Rivers (December 2021)................... 26
Figure 4.4 Connecting origins and destinatioNsS ..............uuuuuiiiiii e 27
Figure 4.5 Identification of key corridors of demand............ ... 28
Figure 4.6 Cycle demand mapped onto the NetWOrK...............oooiiiiiiiii e 29
Figure 4.7 Three Rivers pre-prioritiSation FOULES............uuiiiiiiii e 30
Figure 4.8 LCWIP PriOrity rOULE 2 OVEIVIEW .........uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieii e 31
U O e 35
Figure 5.1 Core WaAIKING .......cooiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e ettt e e e e e e ettt et e e e e e e e e e e nnbnnseeeeaeeeaanns 64
Figure 5.2 Key walking routes around South Oxhey and Carpenders Park..............cccccouiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnnnns 65

Page 142

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Appendix

Appendix A - Key Destinations

Appendix B — Detailed District Cycle Route Map
Appendix C — Glossary of Potential Route Interventions
Appendix D — Policy Context

Page 143

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



1 Introduction

This Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) covers Three Rivers district and has been developed
by Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) and Three Rivers District Council (TRDC).

This document was originally developed in partnership with Watford Borough Council as a joint document to study
cycling and walking routes across both district areas. However, Watford Borough Council and Three Rivers District
Council have since progressed their LCWIP separately. An LCWIP focussing on routes and schemes within
Watford Borough was finalised in early 2022 and approved and adopted in March 2022.

1.1 LCWIP background

In April 2017, the Department for Transport (DfT) published the first National Cycling and Walking Investment
Strategy (CWIS)."

The CWIS is based around the ambition to make cycling and walking ‘the natural choices for shorter journeys, or as
part of longer journeys’. The strategy is seeking to support the transformation of local areas where the dominance
of the motorised vehicle will be reduced to tackle congestion, support local economies, and improve physical and
mental health.

The CWIS identified short to long term objectives for cycling and walking with short term targets focusing on
increased journeys by active modes including an increase in the percentage of children that walk to school. Short
term safety targets have also been identified which will reduce the rate of cyclists killed or seriously injured on
England’s roads.

Table 1.1 presents the long term (by 2040) DfT aspirations relating to cycling and walking.

Table 1.1 DfT Cycling and Walking Long Term Aspirations

Government Ambition

Objectives

Better Safety — ‘A safe
and reliable way to
travel for shorter

Journeys’

Streets where cyclists and pedestrians feel they belong and are safe
Better connected communities

Safe traffic speeds, with low-speed limits where appropriate

Cycle training opportunities for all children

Better Mobility — ‘More
people cycling and
walking — easy, normal
and enjoyable’

More high-quality cycling facilities.

More urban areas that are considered walkable.

Rural roads which provide improved safety for cycling and walking.

More networks of routes around public transport hubs and town centres.

Better links to schools and workplaces.

Technological innovations that can promote more and safer cycling and walking.
Behaviour change opportunities to support increased walking and cycling.
Better integrated routes for those with disabilities or health conditions.

Better Streets — ‘Places
that have cycling and
walking at their heart’

Places designed for people of all abilities and ages.
Improved public realm.

Better planning for walking and cycling.

More community-based activities such as led rides.

A wider green network of paths, routes, and open spaces.

Source: Department for Transport Local cycling and walking infrastructure plans technical guidance

"https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/603527/cycling-walking-investment-strategy.pdf

Page 144

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/603527/cycling-walking-investment-strategy.pdf

To achieve the objectives set out within the CWIS, it is imperative that local bodies across England develop high
quality cycling and walking infrastructure to encourage mode shift towards active modes. To achieve the
Government’s ambition to normalise both modes of active travel, guidance has been developed to support local
authorities to produce Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP).

LCWIPs are a new, strategic approach developed to support the aims and objectives of CWIS. The LCWIP process
enables the identification of cycling and walking improvements required at the local level. The process enables a
long-term approach to developing local cycling and walking networks, ideally over a 10-year period, and form a vital
component of the Government’s strategy to increase the number of trips made by both forms of active travel.

The key outputs of LCWIPs are?:
¢ A network plan for walking and cycling which identifies preferred routes and core zones for further development.
e A prioritised programme of infrastructure improvements for future investment

e Areport which sets out the underlying analysis carried out and provides a narrative which supports the identified
improvements and network

Figure 1.1 shows the key benefits of local bodies developing a strategic approach to cycling and walking
infrastructure through LCWIPs.

Figure 1.1 Benefits of the LCWIP Process

Identify cycling and walking infrastructure improvements from quick wins to long term aspirational schemes

Integrate LCWIP into local planning policy and strategies to ensure cycling and walking infrastructure is at the
forefront of the transport network

Provide a case for future funding for walking and cycling infrastructure

Source: Mott MacDonald

2hitps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607016/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance.pdf

Page 145

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



1.2 The LCWIP process

The recommended process for creating an LCWIP is set out in the LCWIP Guidance from DfT, and
comprises six stages, outlined in Table 1.2.This broadly reflects the process undertaken for Three
Rivers district. This report follows this structure and explains how it has been applied in the
development of this document.

Table 1.2 The LCWIP Process

Stage Name Description
1 Determining Scope  Establish the geographical extent of the LCWIP,
and arrangements for governing and preparing
the plan.
2 Gathering Identify existing patterns of walking and cycling
Information and potential new journeys. Review existing

conditions and identify barriers to cycling and
walking. Review related transport and land use
policies and programmes.

3 Network Planning Identify origin and destination points and cycle
for Cycling flows. Convert flows into a network of routes and
determine the type of improvements required.
4 Network Planning Identify key trip generators, core walking zones
for Walking and routes, audit existing provision and
determine the type of improvements required.
5 Prioritising Prioritise improvements to develop a phased
Improvements programme for future investment.
6 Integration and Integrate outputs into local planning and
Application transport policies, strategies, and delivery plans.

Source: LCWIP Technical Guidance for Local Authorities, DfT, April 2017

Page 146

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



2 LCWIP Stage 1 — Determining Scope

2.1 Overview

Taking advantage of the strong geographical links between Watford borough and Three Rivers district, this LCWIP
began as a joint document for the two authorities — allowing the development of a cohesive active travel network.

However, Watford Borough Council and Three Rivers District Council have since progressed their LCWIP
separately. An LCWIP focussing on routes and schemes within Watford Borough was finalised in early 2022 and
approved and adopted in March 2022.

This LCWIP will represent the Three Rivers district routes and associated links to adopted Watford borough routes.

This LCWIP includes a study detailing the existing walking and cycling networks and the existing infrastructure, to
inform a programme of walking and cycling network improvements.

2.2 Objectives

In addition to the production of an LCWIP setting out the strategic walking and cycling networks in the study area,
the following supplementary objectives and aspirations were identified by the HCC and TRDC at the project
inception meeting on 6 April 2020:

e The LCWIP needs to build up ‘a bigger picture’ of the cycling network to ensure that local areas are ultimately
connected into the strategic LCWIP network.

e A ‘whole network’ approach to ensure that the network is completely joined up.
e Any routes should enhance the existing local route network throughout Three Rivers district.

23 Geographical Extent

The LCWIP is for TRDC local authority. TRDC sits within the County of Hertfordshire, with the County Council
responsible for the management of the highway network.

Three Rivers District is located on the West of the study area and has more suburban and rural characteristics with
strategically important transport corridors. Both Three Rivers and Watford have high transport accessibility with a
high proportion of commuter travel.

When defining the geographical scope of the LCWIP, origins and destinations within a reasonable cycling distance
(approximately 5km) have been included. Therefore, some of these origins and destinations are beyond the
immediate local authority boundaries.

Figure 2.1 sets out the geographical extents of the LCWIP.

Page 147

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 2.1 Geographical Scope

Three Rivers District Boundary Major Urban
Settlements

Three Rivers & Watford

===== Watford Borough Boundary

Indicative Study Area Potenfial 5km area of influence M M
for LCWIP L F
-~ k\L
=
()'/ e ¥ -
\ X A
VS i
; 3 : I
‘K’r\\ \/f \\ |
t/_'—\ . !
) :
~
N “
N ‘ g
)
ot S0 4 :
G Alehy
(A $ «
\ (“\ \
o rors. -
\ \ / ~— .
[ gt S
\ 2 >

‘ }

Source: Mott MacDonald

2.4 Governance Structure

As outlined in the DfT’s LCWIP guidance, the governance and delivery arrangements need to be proportionate to the
scale and complexity of the LCWIP. This LCWIP is categorised within the LCWIP guidance as a joint local authority
delivery model, as there are a significant number of potential trips occurring between neighbouring authorities.

Figure 2.2 Governance Structure

LCWIP Project Board

Senior Responsible Officer, HCC

Core Project Team

Project Manager, HCC

. Consultant Team, Mott
Transport Officer, TRDC ][ MacDonald

Source: Three Rivers District Council

Page 148

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



2.5 Consultation Approach

Engagement with the public and local stakeholders is an important element of developing a robust LCWIP.
Feedback from members of the public, local authority officers, councillors, and stakeholder groups is a vital way of
incorporating local experience into the plan.

Several stages of consultation and stakeholder engagement were held during the development of the LCWIP of
which an overview is provided below:

October 2020 — An introductory workshop was held with key stakeholders, setting out the context for the work, the
process of the LCWIP, and outlining the work completed as part of LCWIP stages 1 and 2, and introducing the
emerging walking and cycling networks.

October 2021 — An update workshop was held with key stakeholders on the Three Rivers network planning stages,
including an overview of the pre-prioritisation process, and discussion of the audited routes in both areas.

October 2022 — The draft LCWIP was taken to the TRDC Infrastructure, Housing & Economic Development
Committee where it was approved to be taken to public consultation. The report outlined the process of the LCWIP
and the indicative cycle routes and the consultation approach.

22 May 2023 to the 17 July 2023 — A public consultation was held to encourage residents, businesses, and
stakeholders to provide feedback on the draft LCWIP document and proposed priority cycling routes. Participants
were given multiple ways to provide feedback and a total of 1,542 responses were received across all methods. In-
person engagement sessions were also held during this time to facilitate direct interaction between residents and
council officers including:

e 28t May 2023 Rickmansworth Market Day
e 25" June 2023 Rickmansworth Market Day

e 4t July 2023 Public consultation briefing with Chorleywood Residents Association, Chorleywood Parish
Council and local members.

e 8" July 2023 Chorleywood Village Day

September and October 2024 — Council officers engaged further with stakeholders of the Chorleywood area
including District Councillors, Chorleywood Parish Council and Chorleywood Residents Association.

October 2024 — A report was brought to the TRDC General Public Services, Community Safety & Infrastructure
committee to provide an update following the LCWIP public consultation and to agree changes to the routes based
on the analysis of the public consultation.

July 2025 — An updated LCWIP with changes made following the public consultation and the further engagement
with Chorleywood stakeholders was brought to the TRDC Policy and Resources committee and Full Council for
adoption.

The engagement throughout the process has allowed the project team to better understand the views of the people
who are likely to use the networks under development and gather local knowledge on routeing and prioritisation.
The LCWIP has been amended to reflect the feedback from all consultation. To find out more about the feedback
and subsequent changes view:

e 4.10 Consultation — Cycle Route Feedback
e 5.7 Consultation - Walking Route Feedback

Page 149

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



3 LCWIP Stage 2 — Gathering Information

3.1

In developing this LCWIP, we considered a total of 10 policy documents at the national, county, and district levels.
Table 3.1 will summarise all 10 policy documents and for each one; it will provide the name, publisher, date
published, policy level, and a description highlighting its relevance to the LCWIP.

Policy context

Any additional information required to understand the implications of the policy documents for this LCWIP will be
provided separately in Appendix D — Policy Context, which will also include links to all policy documents for further

reference.

Table 3.1 Policy Documents Considered During Development

Document Publisher Policy | Description
and level
Date
Published
Local Cycling and Walking [Department for [National [Provides a framework for developing strategic
Infrastructure Plans: Transport walking and cycling networks, including data
Technical Guidance for  |(DfT) collection processes.
Local Authoriti
ocal Authorities bo17
Cycling and Walking Department for [National [Aims to double cycling trips and reverse the
Investment Strategy Transport decline in walking trips by 2025, promoting
(CWIS) (DfT) benefits like cheaper travel and better health.
2017
Local Transport Plan 4 Hertfordshire [County [Identifies several corridors impacting Three
County Council Rivers, including the Aylesbury-Watford-London
(HCC) Corridor and the A414 Corridor, aiming to
improve transport connectivity, reduce
congestion, and promote sustainable travel
2018-2031 modes.
South West Hertfordshire |Hertfordshire [County |[Emphasises enhancing cycling and walking
Growth and Transport County Council infrastructure in Three Rivers, with projects like
Plan (SWGTP) (HCC) Ebury Way improvements and new cycle links in
Rickmansworth, supporting sustainable
development and healthier communities.
2019
Sustainable Modes of Hertfordshire [County [Focuses on promoting sustainable travel to
Travel Strategy County Council schools in neighbouring areas like Watford and
(HCC) St Albans, indirectly impacting Three Rivers by
b024/25 improving road safety and developing school
travel plans.
Hertfordshire Place and  |Hertfordshire |County [Provides a technical approach to managing road
Movement Planning and |County Council user interfaces and translating LTP4 policies into
Design Guide (HCC) (2023) practice, mentioning the Three Rivers’ Preferred
Local Plan Lower Housing Growth Option to
protect Green Belt land.

Page 150

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




Council Local Plan

Under review

A414 Corridor Strategy Hertfordshire |County [Focuses on improving transport connectivity and
County Council reducing congestion in Three Rivers, particularly
(HCC) in Leavesden, Abbots Langley, and South
b019 Oxhey, through a Mass Rapid Transit system
and enhanced cycle and pedestrian routes.
Maintenance for Active Hertfordshire [County [Outlines how highway maintenance programs
Travel Strategy County Council can support active travel by maintaining
(HCC) infrastructure standards, indirectly benefiting
b019 Three Rivers.
South West Hertfordshire |Hertfordshire [County |Identifies gaps in the cycling network and areas
Cycle Study County Council for improvement in Three Rivers based on cycle
(HCC) 2013 audits, supporting the wider HCC Active Travel
Strategy.
Three Rivers District 2011 District [The current Local Plan is in the process of being

updated, with the council preparing a new Local
Plan which will provide the planning policies and
proposals for future sustainable growth in the
district up to 2041.

3.2 Other Scheme Developments

Table 3.2 summarises some of the recent major scheme developments in Three Rivers district. These proposals

are considered in the network development in LCWIP stages 3 and 4.

Table 3.1 Other Scheme Developments

The scheme has been extended into Croxley Green in
Three Rivers. The scheme provides both traditional and e-
bikes, which are bookable via the Beryl app.

Scheme Details Status
Name

Cycle The Beryl Bike Share scheme now operates in Watford, Commenced
Hire providing 24/7 access to hire bikes around the borough.

3.3 Adoption of the Place & Movement Approach

HCC has adapted Transport for London’s (TfL) Street Types matrix® to develop a Place and Movement matrix as a
way of categorising each section of the highway by the needs of different roads users by understanding how

people interact with the space around them.

HCC has created nine categories based on factors such as road type and rural or urban areas.

Modifications to the TfL matrix have been undertaken to reflect the more diverse nature of Hertfordshire’s highway

networks, such as ‘Rural Lane’, this is shown in Figure 3.1.

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Page 151




8 TfL Streetscape Guidance, https:/content.tfl.gov.uk/streetscape-guidance-.pdf

Figure 3.1 Hertfordshire Place and Movement Matrix

A
AL P2/M3  P3/M3
= eMga M%?th:z, e.g. Main e.g. Transport
= e Connector Interchange
)
£
o
sle| P1/m2
=2 e.g. Inter-urban P3 /M2
- | © .g. = s
g g rosd e.g. High Street
=
]
> P3/ M1
P1/M1 e.g. Town
= | e.g. RuralLane Centre
< square/street
Low Medium High

Place

Source: Hertfordshire County Council, Adoption of Place and Movement Approach

All of HCCs highway network has been categorised into these nine categories. This was then validated through a
series of workshops involving officers from different services across the Highways Department.

Through categorising the highways network, a standard design toolkit can be developed for each of the nine
categories. Appropriate design solutions are incorporated into the new version of the ‘Roads in Herts’ design guide
that is currently under review.

This approach is also being used to support the Highway strategy work through identifying where there are ‘clash
points’ of differing movements and place functions. User prioritisation is being reviewed at these sections of the
highway and helps to inform scheme identification for these areas.

This categorisation has helped to inform the network assessments in section 4.

3.4 Other LCWIPs

When developing an LCWIP for Three Rivers it is important to understand if there are any neighbouring authorities
that have developed or are developing an LCWIP. This will establish if there are any plans to connect walking and
cycling routes into the area, ensuring there is consistency across the local network.

During the initial development of this LCWIP, there were no completed and published LCWIPs for neighbouring local
authorities or boroughs to Three Rivers, nor were there any TfL Cycleway schemes connecting the London
Boroughs of Hillingdon or Harrow to the study area.

Two adopted LCWIPs were identified within a 20-mile proximity to Three Rivers, these being LCWIPs for Aylesbury
Garden Town and Stevenage, but these were not considered to impact on this document.

Since the initial development of this LCWIP (in ZISZO), Ste e, Watford, Welwyn and Hatfield, North Herts and
age {57

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan


https://content.tfl.gov.uk/streetscape-guidance-.pdf

St Albans have adopted LCWIPs within Hertfordshire County. East Herts, Hertsmere and Dacorum LCWIP’s are
currently being developed.

3.5 Baseline Travel and Transport Context

Understanding how people travel within Hertfordshire, specifically in Watford and Three Rivers is an important
aspect of developing the LCWIP. This can provide an understanding of the most popular modes of travel within and
outside of the boroughs. This section brings together publicly available information on existing travel patterns within
Hertfordshire.

The LTP4 indicates that Hertfordshire’s population is estimated to grow to 1.43 million people by 2039, up from 1.18
million people in 2016, an increase of 21% in 23 years. Household growth is also predicted to grow in each of the
ten districts within Hertfordshire, with significant housing development planned. This is in addition to housing
development planned in neighbouring authorities, such as Aylesbury Vale, Luton, Central Bedfordshire, South
Cambridgeshire, Enfield, and Barnet.

Data from the wider county of Hertfordshire shows that many shorter journeys are undertaken on foot, with a small
proportion undertaken by bike, but a significant minority of short journeys are undertaken by car, suggesting that
with appropriate network improvements through the LCWIP, there is scope for several of these short journeys to
shift to active modes.

3.5.1 Travel to Work

118,000 Hertfordshire residents work in Greater London, with 51% of these residents travelling there by rail or tube.
The proximity of Hertfordshire to London is an important aspect of understanding travel to work within the county,
with many people commuting into London, particularly from St Albans, Watford, Cheshunt, Harpenden, Welwyn
Garden City, Hemel Hempstead, Borehamwood, and Stevenage. Prior to the pandemic, much of the county’s rail
network operated at full capacity at busy times due to the high demand.

The 2021 Census collected travel to work data by mode and by district. This is shown in Table 3.3. It is clear in
Three Rivers district that driving in a car or van to work is the most common mode of travel to work. Travel to work
by rail/underground is the next most popular mode, which is expected due to the number of commuters into
London. There are low levels of cycling journeys.

Table 3.2 2021 Census travel to work mode

g & c o
o Q . © > 8
Q -
= Eh o &) o ©
. - g € @ @ 5 £
Location o IS8 3 g 8 5
g g %—“ £ S @ © =
T S a o @ 3
x< |o= c E“ S |- o 8 £ » 3] 3 5
5 E Q& '© g g X s E = Qe D = <
5 €6 o S5 Qo | ® o = f o g |9 c =
=E P2 |F @ 3 |~ =5 a ol @ ) O
Number 19,608 | 1,698 1,101 491 153 165 19,817 1,170 403 1,948 395
Three Rounded 42% 4% 2% 1% 0% 0% 42% 3% 1% 4% 1%
Rivers %

Source: 2021 Census — Travel to Work, England and Wales

Page 153

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



3.5.2 Existing Cycle Network

Five National Cycle Network (NCN) routes pass through Hertfordshire - NCN 1, 6, 12, 57 and 61 - however, some
are incomplete and are a mixture of quality and type. NCN 6 is the only route which passes through Three Rivers
district, following the Ebury Way. The route is largely off-road through the study area.

These routes link with urban and rural cycle links within the county. There are two waterways in Hertfordshire which
are cyclable, including the Grand Union Canal in the Three Rivers area. They are used predominantly for leisure
purposes for both pedestrians and cyclists.® HCC has produced a cycle network map for the County - see Figure
3.5° focussing mainly on leisure routes, rather than cycle routes for utility journeys.

Three Rivers District Council have a local route network which will remain and has been referenced in this
document. A high-level assessment of the extent and quality of the existing cycle network is set out in Chapter 4.

8

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/Itp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf

9 https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/health/cycle-routes-in-hertfordshire-map.pdf#

Page 154

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan


https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/health/cycle-routes-in-hertfordshire-map.pdf

Figure 3.2 Hertfordshire Cycling Map for Travel and Leisure

Source: Hertfordshire County Council - https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/health/cycle-routes-in-
hertfordshire-map.pdf#

ISR RN e T P ST o, (7Y
Hertfordshire Cycling Map for Recreation and Commuting B8
A= T eSS ¥ =S i

chwo

Page 155

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan


https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/health/cycle-routes-in-hertfordshire-map.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/health/cycle-routes-in-hertfordshire-map.pdf

3.56.3 Cycling Trends

The 2024 Hertfordshire Traffic and Transport Data Report indicates that current cycling mode share is 2.1% for all

trips that are less than 3 miles in length in Hertfordshire. The is slightly higher than the mode share of 2.0% in
2018, see table 3.7.

HCC has set out ambitious cycle targets for all trips under 3 miles, these being 8% by 2026, and 11% by 2031, as
shown below in Table 3.7.

Figure 3.3 Journeys less than 3 miles 2022

0.7%
Otlher

50.1%
Walk

0.2%

Train

2.1% | L .
Cycle 1.6%

Bus

Source: 2022 HCTS Executive Summary

Table 3.3 HCC Cycle targets
Source: 2022 HCTS Executive Summary

% of all trips

(under 3 miles) 2.0%* 2.1% 5% 8% 1%
made by cycling

Figure 3.7 shows the cycle level trends for Hertfordshire since 2004 when cycle monitoring was first introduced.
Cycling has increased at the HCC monitoring sites since 2004 and are 20% busier now.

10 2024 Hertfordshire Traffic and Transport Data Report

Page 156

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 3.4 Cycle Level Trends in Hertfordshire

150

140 137 139 138

130
130 128 129 127, 129

124
123 123 123 16

140 142

116
120 114

110
110 100 106

100 -
90 -

Growth Index

80
70
60
50 T T T
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Year
Source: Hertfordshire Traffic and Transport Data report

Cycle to work mode share in Three Rivers

Figure 3.9 sets out a summary of the cycle to work mode share from the 2011 Census broken down to Lower Layer
Super Output Areas (LSOA). This shows that there is a wide variation between 0 and 5% cycle mode share in
specific LSOA areas across Three Rivers area. Cycle to work share is highest (4-5%) in LSOA areas around
Croxley Park, and Nash Mills/Kings Langley. Cycle to work mode share is particularly low in the Three Rivers
settlements of Rickmansworth (3%), Carpenders Park (2%) and Chorleywood (1%).

3.5.4 Walking Trends

Figure 3.5 Cycle to work mode share

Nuthos of Trawe o Vlerk L0 (3042] ° o~
o e

Source: Census 2011

The 2024 Hertfordshire Traffic and Transport Data Report suggests that in 2022, journeys of less than 1 mile were
mostly undertaken on foot (76%), with 21.5% of journeys less than 1 mile undertaken by car (see Figure 3.8).

HCC has set out targets for of achieving 77% of all trips less than 1 mile to be undertaken by walking across the
whole of Hertfordshire. Although the 2018 baseline was 76.3% (see Table 3. 8), there were some local authorities
across Hertfordshire with significantly lower mode shares, impacting the overall statistic.

Page 157

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 3.6 Mode share of journeys less than 1 mile in length in Hertfordshire

0.4%

Ot‘her

7.1%

Car passenger

0.0%
Train
__0.4%

Bus

76.0%
Walk 1.5%
Cycle

Source: Hertfordshire Traffic and Transport Data report

Table 3.4 HCC walking targets

% of all trips (under

1 mile) made by 76.3% 76.0% 73% 77%
walking

Source: Hertfordshire Traffic and Transport Data report

Walk to work mode share in Three Rivers

Figure 3.10 sets out a summary of the walk to work mode share from the 2011 Census broken down to LSOA.
The Eastbury LSOA has the highest share (30%). Rickmansworth (c20%). Carpenders Park and Chorleywood
LSOAs typically have 10% or lower walk to work mode share.

Page 158

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 3.7 Walk to work mode share

A
Viathad cf Trawel b Work LS04 [20L1)

Source: Census 2011

122019 Hertfordshire Traffic and Transport Data Report

Page 159

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



4 LCWIP Stage 3 - Network Planning for Cycling

This section sets out the findings from the evidence collected and analysed for the information gathering
information stage of the LCWIP (Stage 2). These findings aid in the identification and prioritisation of a cycling
network in Three Rivers district.

4.1 Propensity to Cycle Tool

The LCWIP guidance recommends that the Propensity to Cycle Tool (PCT) is used as one method to understand
the potential for cycling alongside other locally important evidence.

The PCT'3is a DfT tool which shows the current and potential future distribution of commuter cycling trips under
different growth scenarios. It estimates the amount of cycling in an area along straight desire lines (trip distribution)
as well as allocating cycling trips to specific routes (trip assignment). The PCT uses open-source data, such as the
census.

The PCT, while a useful tool, has limitations and outputs should be interpreted as an indicative representation of
potential demand only. The data underpinning it is for example based on the 2011 census journey to work data and
so does not take into account other journey types such as leisure trips. Proposed future development sites are also
not included, so collectively this means that future demand for cycling is likely to be underestimated both in
quantum and in distribution. The PCT is therefore used as just one input tool for the LCWIP.

Within the PCT, several different scenarios have been developed for commuting trips by cycle. These scenarios are
summarised in Table 4.1 below.

The outputs from the PCT are expressed in terms of one-way daily cycling flows, and the outputs can be shown as:

e Straight Lines - representing the desire lines or origin-destination pairs. Each line has information showing the
distance between the origin-destination point, how many commuters in total take this route, how many of these
commuters currently cycle and what the propensity for cycling is.

e Route Network — aggregates all the cycling flows using the fastest legally cyclable routes (or alternative quieter
streets) derived from Cyclestreets journey planner). This prioritises the fastest and most direct routes which
have greatest potential for cycling. Using the LSOA’s provides a higher accuracy in the detail of the origins and
destinations.

Table 4.1 PCT Scenarios
PCT Scenario Details

The Government Target scenario models a doubling of cycling
nationally, corresponding to the proposed target in the English
Department for Transport’s draft Cycling Delivery Plan to double
cycling in England between 2013 to 2025

Government Target

Go Dutch The Go Dutch scenario is an ambitious vision for what cycling in
England and Wales could look like. People in the Netherlands
make

'3 hitps://www.pct.bike/

Page 160

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan


https://www.pct.bike/

PCT Scenario Details

28% of trips by bicycle, fifteen times higher than the figure of 1.6%
in England and Wales. In addition, cycling in England and Wales
is skewed towards younger, male cyclists. By contrast in the
Netherlands cycling remains common into older age, and women
are more likely to cycle than men. This means that the difference
between England and the Netherlands is particularly large for
women and older people.

Ebikes The Ebikes scenario models the additional increase in cycling that
would be achieved through the widespread uptake of electric
cycles (‘ebikes'). This scenario is built as an extension of the Go
Dutch scenario, making the further assumption that all cyclists in
the Go Dutch scenario own an ebike. It builds on the Go Dutch
scenario by applying three additional ebikes scaling factors to
account for the increased willingness of ebike users to cycle long
distance, hilly and simultaneously long distance and hilly routes.

Gender Equality In the 2011 Census, women accounted for 48% of all English and
Welsh commuters but only 27% of all cycle commuters. This
gender disparity is seen across the country, with no local
authority having a proportion of female cyclists greater than 50%.
Places in England and Wales with higher overall levels of
commuter cycling also tend to have smaller gender inequalities in
commuter cycling.

It does not use distance and hilliness data to model propensity to
cycle. Instead, it assumes that male propensity to cycle remains
unchanged — i.e. there is no change in the number of male cycle
commuters — and that female propensity to cycle rises to match
male propensity. This scenario has the greatest relative impact in
areas where the rate of cycling is highly unequal across gender

Source: Propensity to cycle tool

For the purposes of the Three Rivers LCWIP, the ‘Government Target’ and ‘Go Dutch’ scenarios have been used.
This combination helps to illustrate the most likely local scenario for potential cycle demand, and what could be
achieved with high levels of ambition and mode share.

4.2 Propensity to Cycle Analysis
Trip distribution

The PCT has been used to show where existing cycle trips are and where there is potential to
increase cycle trips to replace short trips made by other transport modes.

Figure 4.1 below shows, for each authority, the straight ‘desire’ lines when the Government Target and the Go
Dutch scenarios are modelled in the PCT.

Within Three Rivers, there are key desire lines into and out of Rickmansworth in particular, but there are also desire
lines from Kings Langley/Nash Mills, Eastbury and Moor Park. There are a number of desire lines linking to external
areas from Three Rivers, notably Watford, Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted, Bushey, Stanmore, and North
Hillingdon.

Page 161

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 4.1 PCT Outputs for Watford and Three Rivers (Go Dutch and Government Target assignment
scenarios)

s G0 Dl = Top 20 o wadh L4
s Gyt Torged - Tog 30 broee cocs [A
€ _V1omP teunchey

O

Source: Mott MacDonald, Propensity to Cycle Tool

Trip assignment

Figure 4.2 below matches these desire lines onto the existing road network in Watford
and Three Rivers. This shows particular hotspots of cycling potential:

o West - east demand between Rickmansworth and Watford Centre via Croxley
and West Watford (A412 and Tolpits Lane)

e N North-south demand between North Watford and Watford Centre (A412)

e North-south demand between Garston and Watford Centre

e North-south demand between Leavesden and Watford Centre

e North-south demand between Kings Langley/ Nash Mills and Watford Centre (A411)

Page 162

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 4.2 PCT Analysis - cycle demand mapped onto the route network (trip assignment)
r - . N 7 \ 3 - — T

Propety o Cyde - comenutng (211) s
Fowrer et Thagpt

O

Source: Mott MacDonald, Propensity to Cycle Tool

4.3 Origin and Destination Analysis

This section sets out the analysis of the origins and destinations in and around Three
Rivers, including the method used.

Origins are identified as trip attractors, which are largely residential areas. LSOA
residential population weighted centroids were selected to represent existing residential
areas in Three Rivers. In addition, new and draft allocated development sites have also
been taken into consideration. Any developments planned to provide over 50 dwellings
have been included in this analysis.

Destinations have been identified as trip attractors, which include the following:

e Town and district centres.

e Employment sites, business parks or large employers.
e Secondary schools.

e Hospitals with accident and emergency departments.
e Retail facilities including out of town sites; and

e Leisure, including major visitor attractions such as Warner Brothers Studios.

The identification of origins and destinations has been developed through an iterative
process with officers at HCC and TRDC.

Page 163

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




The information was initially provided as GIS polygons of the origin and destination points, which
has then been sense checked by the project team and supplemented with further information
including local promotional maps. For the purposes of the analysis, the geographical centre of a
development has then been used as the origin point.

A full list of agreed key destination points assumed is set out in Appendix A. Figure 4.3 shows a
summary of the origins and destinations in Watford and Three Rivers.

Figure 4.3 Key trip origins and destinations in Watford and Three Rivers (Decem

ber 2021)

Bonnatts £ ac > ATBe Y

Leisure and attraction centroids - o
Rail station

Sacondary Schools
Hospitals

Out of centre retail
Neighbourhood centres
Local centres

Leisure and attraction
Key employment
Centre boundaries
Allocated development
© 7 2 LOWIP Boundary

® 000

Chesham

1:60,000 e by o g gt e = T

Source: Mott MacDonald

4.3.1 Identified cycling corridors

Figure 4.4 shows the origins connected to destinations, and the representation of
potential cycling corridors. This analysis has been undertaken using a GIS model, based
on the following assumptions:

Every origin connects to every destination within a 5km distance (approximately a 25-
minute cycle) which is considered a reasonable cycle distance. The exception is at
local centres, hospitals, and rail stations where there is an assumption that an
individual would typically travel to the closest of these amenities.

Origins and destination corridors are shown in blue and purple on the map, with key
corridors of demand shown in red. The blue lines show the connections between
existing origins and

4 Approach agreed at scoping stage.

destinations, with the purple showing connections from allocated developments and
destinations. The key corridors, shown in red, were identified by looking at the trends
from the desire lines. Where a number of desire lines appeared to travel in a similar
direction, this was seen as a key corridor, which was then sketched onto the map.

Page 164

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 4.4 Connecting origins and destinations

Source: Mott MacDonald

4.3.2 Key cycling corridors

Figure 4.5 shows a summary of the key corridors identified for Three Rivers based on this origin and destination
analysis. The key corridors of demand are focussed in particular into and out of Rickmansworth, and Garston.

In addition, the PCT outputs drawn from the previous section are also shown to provide a comparison between
the datasets. The PCT demand shows additional desire lines north-south which were not designated as a key
corridor. It should be noted, the PCT shows only commuting trips, whereas the origin-destination analysis takes
into consideration a wider spread of trips, including commuting, travel to school, leisure and shopping.

Page 165

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 4.5 Identification of key corridors of demand

=7 o~ T . 5 T amer
[ Ky Comtdore L ety > » Gt
| o f 5Y Baqri=keg P ) OO T
——GoDuzh-Tep Nomadh A |- o & . ) N7
s G Tarcme - Tag 3 fram aach LA, {3 . ST
b Mt I < Scowit
© Lebw awd s ceereide rts bt AL “iutens e P,
© Falmwon '
| © Seandwy Sk
® Mook baigey L
‘ Crove Daancorsc
i O o oort vesd EAsAPAsn
St boahoud et
Loy el o - Sumraze
| Fay wr ot '
Towes Ml d . |
| = As." < Wazle 14l WHpeA sl Bomem .
o te - i’ \ .
1555 “hapartiad -ﬂnr$ &)
= - !

| \DL::J’ toasdeny el Wl e ver | 5

|- K . Hemzie Barms. s : .

I * Woad Carmmen G

= tHrarzes
3 *aaciet: ®
B Frith Weos eanz -
&5 ‘O HRSIzY o
o Z
S <
| : La=imer ( b
=+ - x Eatinra Urewr .
Jiman Saee n ¥ .
ARG e Bl s - arder S
e - e \ o Tt R ] Syeriyind Chun g 5 Cross 3
. — e >
-~ o Whipreardst ‘Word e
Ameabam Lemmsn e " - =3 raccheps Cevse 1
- - - b3 caon Wl x - Sopdens Wb <
Tury Enst . -

' - & S \ - Bor
i o . s \
§hertiidnee Nd - 0 Louowener _ 3 / sr [ e (-]

CHOELEY ;:os v P - > ¢ - {
- B - 3 Cr=dl =g -} L
- loemn R ATie ' res \
B Poitrs Whet ChREdepAnea Demarr “TSRISS e 2
“r Y - Largir -
s p " ot JTN >- Ty RS
; + N
~ Fbgand i - : i Y .':anm\ A o
» - - Varsod eeth L Y
o 2 w-.-‘ ~ MePny Wl » 3
- r!;,, e [ O -v l. “, Ey).;.Mtj >
= p 3 \ =t / avmcre Common Z
e =% woryl 2 -
2 Cowtfomtist Gles ¢ o A TN pntect -
. ' lenper kit - e 5
- St Jeraaw
) Weoza, = "_", -
| S maar sty iy
J Stanmeoe ~
Qr dfont Comion Vizoz Hel "D b o . r
= “oezans ) | e A\ >
- [ETR<] | Potle STt = Haner Tng .
L v sartacee) /' ponesorace it s gas PRI Wak 'y
| - ! earer Prarenesed fact rackn s :
e ¥y a4 Pater Ny S ‘:,’,;::-u... Ao € Cran kPP |
. Haratad TA - o Doirmintror s Come ¥y 8

Source: Mott MacDonald

4.3.3 Cycle corridors and the road network

The corridors identified by the PCT analysis in section 4.1 and the origin-destination analysis in

4.2 have been mapped onto the road and path network in GIS

using the shortest possible route, to illustrate what

the straight-line network would look like when mapped to the road network across Three Rivers (see Figure 4.6).
It should be noted that these initial outputs are purely indicative at this stage, with the exact alignments of
shortlisted priority routes determined in the next stages of the LCWIP.

The network identified in Figure 4.6, and the process to arrive at this network, was presented at stakeholder
engagement sessions (in June 2021). Stakeholders included elected representatives, local groups with an
interest in walking and cycling; and national and regional statutory consultees and NGOs, identified in the
Stakeholder Engagement Plan. These workshops allowed stakeholders to feed back on the draft proposed
Networks and the background data used to inform the draft network of proposed routes.

Page 166

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 4.6 Cycle demand mapped onto the network

0 v -~
. Srwwr tnd LIt
’ il > .
— e Uz ry 2 Wbl g ‘ <~ \ AT
. Aoums Srd - Eaurger s Slags tre o
O Loy o Sl oo o ek . < L aole Al T S Stegtwra i
o mid st g m s m“‘ Benrem: :.o.) ° ADEA
= 3 Frasn Hil “eTSaed Arran ot dsimes ppn S
0 Secordery Schoda oita 4 o e/ 75 yce tluimea
L e : Feln % c,:;.',}i N Zartal Fembre Croueh Plarerman .
Cirrtre houmcaties "’m Wyt hanel o 5t ,'\-4_ H ylm
~ e b=

Ot of catr retal Nrvelsley Hil

) Serguht L
|| Isounocdastne & B - b, Face %
| acal oantree Readrpdrn § Vodwizos, ',’
Suy wrgharren 1 L Mo -
U eBade s sk et i Subtitraze o 2 waecn
B aeydopid femessdl | ‘ Black Cresr s -
E LOMTE :emtn Mapie 1111 Whigpenrdl Baaog Wt 2y -
~ v Thoppactad , P row oo -
g . Sl Woza®n wyned " - " waxd rrver vor E
Crwrstam : RO M j ” - : i deny
Bebiuw RSP - Grighas Weoz Comman
= Flau=den 2 5
> rsasden Soeen O Ok Aricent ‘Wozd ~
- S el > 1 Viader 5
- Snh Ao —nid 3 -
ot A rarcy,
< Gagtnr :U}" A =
= Swrett S 2 A ~
~ . \’lﬂ{;.!\ :
e Ynerh W us =
s e - PR e U -
AT e il "‘Q | Acarhar o Setw Creen :
——— Chakort arc .
. ———— 1arre N
Ane O = _mrn . v
ek Larmzn N o Zotztame reen gt N L
QiryEns
- . B
- (-] -
Fher Mgk, me ) x et
2 DRREERI00 "-"‘ P °
= %u'-.-mwrdu . o -
- Palande Wisas Bl Hecbard] e , . -
. . Gasuct) Eslun

|.-ru€-p:o &L - . - >
wrardvaath W,

Moo il e e .n =
1 M‘I\"?l‘.?'"‘lﬂ
E g o ]

Chaltom 22 S

Kveae
FXCr o
- Jrmoee <
» Eharo et o -
% Tizrdans ? -
- Aaur STt = Vst Cod
. - Pares oy ser Kil arh el Hirpaw Wiwd
A CHAVArE ST Frea Prarerecos ek geeer  oaddied
% e Nt w0 Bk NG 8 o 5w 5. Lt (st
g . Serrdeme L
o e am s Ry — < 0000 e ame b St s G s St Moo E—TEErTESTTN e TR o T
2 = eaas . i = - | S e dame i oo S 2 s e Y04 Ve v R & -

Source: Mott MacDonald

4.4 Pre-prioritisation

The LCWIP process includes an element of prioritisation, in recognition of the long-term nature of the LCWIP, and
that it will not be feasible to improve all routes in the immediate future.

As a large number of routes were identified through the network planning process, the decision to ‘pre-prioritise’ the
network was taken at LCWIP stage 3, allowing the more detailed work to focus on those higher priority routes. The
rationale for this pre-prioritisation was that:

e Assessing/auditing all routes would be time-consuming and would likely extend the programme and budget
required significantly.

e There is unlikely to be sufficient future funding available to implement all routes over the short term, therefore
there is a need to focus on those that will provide the most benefit.

Therefore, the purpose of pre-prioritisation is to identify the routes that are most likely to score highly in stage 5, so
that time and effort is focused on auditing and assessing those routes that will provide the most benefit. It is
envisaged that all routes will eventually be audited and assessed but this will need to be undertaken over time as
part of future iterations of the LCWIP, and as funding becomes available.

441 Methodology

The LCWIP Guidance recommends three elements should be considered when looking at the prioritisation of

schemes.

e Effectiveness

e Policy

e Deliverability

The effectiveness and policy aspects of prioritisation were conS|dered in the pre-prioritisation exercise.
age

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



A number of datasets were gathered to inform the effectiveness of the routes, these datasets were decided upon by
TRDC and informed by Mott MacDonald:

e Indices of multiple deprivation (IMD)

e PCT Government Target

e HCC’s Place and Movement dataset

e  Key severance factors (major roads, rail, waterways)

All of the above datasets were analysed in GIS and scored on the basis of how effective improvements to the cycle
network would be in improving these aspects of the route.

The IMD dataset is classified by Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) and therefore covers the whole LCWIP area.
The areas with higher indicators of deprivation are considered a higher priority.

The PCT was used to establish the links which could potentially attract the largest numbers of users for both
commuting and school travel.

The Place and Movement scores for links proximate to the routes were assessed, with P2 and P3 links — those with
a higher Place function — given a higher priority.

Severance was assessed though the number of severance points per kilometre on links, with sections overcoming
the greatest number of severance points scoring most highly.

The proposed cycle network was broken into sections, a new section was created at every junction. For each
section, a score was calculated for each of the four datasets. A final score was then derived for each section based
on the cumulative score of all datasets.

In order to form routes out of the sections, the highest scoring section was selected first. The adjacent sections
were included as part of the route until it came to a logical end. This means that the priority of the route at a different
point can be much lower than the highest priority section. The next priority section was then selected to create the
next priority route.

4.4.2 Pre-prioritisation Routes

The pre-prioritisation of the strategic cycling network was undertaken in Three Rivers, providing a network across
the local authority areas. The pre-prioritisation results for Three Rivers are shown in Figure 4.8.

Figure 4.7 Three Rivers pre-prioritisation routes

Watford cross boundary routes . . \
- audite -
—— Watford internal routes - priority

Watford cross boundary routes -
not audited

[ watford
Three Rivers Prioritised
Network
| Higher score=higher
priority ~
9 21.50 JBoceon

—2 4.0

|
| /
| 7 LCWIP boundary \
L

Watford

]
¥ Watford G
Y g ey A priority
\ . (rg:?’er‘l,?a) (rotte 3)
2 H i
§ { 1
fRN] »’ Watford -
B i £ priority,
S | 8\ » ] @r\oute 1)
§ 8 Gy i Watfefd §
18 1
\ { \ 2 ﬁt}’\ ‘
5 .

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 168

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



4.5 Priority Cycling Routes

Following the pre-prioritisation process outlined in Section 4.4, a more detailed assessment was undertaken to
identify the highest priority routes for further development. This next stage involved a structured evaluation of all
routes using a multi-criteria assessment framework. Officers ranked all routes based on the following criteria:

o Effectiveness and policy ranking: building on the datasets and policy alignment considered in the pre-
prioritisation stage, as outlined in Section 4.4.1. This included reference to datasets such as Indices of
Multiple Deprivation (IMD), the Propensity to Cycle Tool (PCT), and Place and Movement scores.

¢ Technical feasibility: assessing the practical deliverability of each route.
e Overall support for the scheme: considering stakeholder and public support.

¢ Alignment with known funding or existing schemes: evaluating how well each route fits with current or
upcoming funding opportunities and related infrastructure projects.

Each route was scored against these criteria, and the scores were combined to produce an overall ranking. This
process enabled a transparent and evidence-based selection of the most promising routes for investment. As a
result of this assessment, five routes were prioritised for the Three Rivers district. These are detailed below as
Routes 2, 3, 8, 14, and 21, and are illustrated in the maps that follow.

Further information on this process is detailed in section 6.

Route 2 - Watford via Croxley Green A412 to Rickmansworth High Street
Figure 4.8 LCWIP priority route 2 overview

L Key 4 Three Rivers LCWIP L DACORUM ST ALBANS
LOWIP Route 4 CyCIe Routes

Route_no
\i Route 2

14

— 21

WATFORD

Page 169

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Route 3 — Ebury Road, parallel with Uxbridge Road and then next to A412

Figure 4.9 LCWIP priority route 3 overview

Key

3 neighbouring Districts

A"
(v Three Rivers LCWIP
LCWIP Route 4 Cycle Routes

iy |

: Route 3

= | )

DACORUM

—14
— 21

HILLINGDON

Crown copyright and ¢

‘M
KINGXAMOHIR

ST. ALBANS

HARROW

any of this data to third

es in any form

Route 8 - A404 route between Rickmansworth Station and Chorleywood

Figure 4.10 LCWIP priority route 8 overview

base rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell

Key N

A

Three Rivers LCWIP

DACORUM ST. ALBANS
£ Neighbouring Districts

LCWIP Route Cycle Routes
Route_no
= \ Route 8

—21

D

/\ /\ _
BUCKINGHAI4SHIRE / Ty \\\,/\»\\

N

and database rights 2025 OS AC0D00B49984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell
third parties in any form.

Page 170

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Route 14 — Starts on Stag Lane in Chorleywood and comes out via Shepherds Lane towards William Penn
Leisure Centre

Figure 4.11 LCWIP priority route 14 overview

- Key > Three Rivers LCWIP
P LCWIP Route ‘ Cycle Routes

Route_no

—2

B Route 14

— 14

ST. ALBANS

DACORUM

— 21

HARROW

s 7 T
f; e ——— SN
/ I
S / ~ ot
“‘ 7 = /
\/ / — /
[ / : ?
/ &
HILLINGDON
25 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sel

Route 21 — Chalfont Road to towards Denham and Buckinghamshire border
Figure 4.12 LCWIP priority route 21 overview

\

T \
Key N Three Rivers LCWIP

3 neighbouring Districts

LCWIP Route Cycle Routes
Route_no

—: { ™
S Route 21

— 14

— 21

ST. ALBANS

DACORUM

HILLINGDON

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell

any of this data to third parties in any form

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Two routes from the Watford Borough Council LCWIP also cross into Three Rivers district which are outlined below
as routes W6 and W17.

Route W6 — Along Green Lane and Prestwick Road towards Carpenders Park train station

Figure 4.13 Watford LCWIP priority route W6 overview

DACORUM

ST. ALBANS

N Three Rivers LCWIP
A Cycle Routes

LCWIP Route
Route_no
—_—

3

p—

Route W6
L-\'\/\/

- 14

— 1

HERTSMERE

Route W17 — Along Old Mill Road, Lauderdale Road and Gallows Hill towards Kings Langley train station

Page 172

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 9

L 3 Three Rivers LCWIP
LOWIP Route. A Cycle Routes

Route_no

ST. ALBANS

DACORUM

3
—
14

— 31

Route W17

WATFORD

025 OS ACO000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sel

4.6 Primary, Secondary and Local Routes

Other routes identified in the pre-prioritisation process but not chosen as a priority route will remain under
consideration and may be progressed later or through separate workstreams. These are marked as ‘primary’ and
‘secondary’ routes on the map below.

All routes are also supported by Three Rivers District Council designated routes which have been chosen for
providing key local connections from the strategic cycling network. As with all routes, these may not currently be
safely passable by bicycle, but by designating these routes, it indicates an ambition to explore possible
improvements. These are marked as ‘local’ routes which show on the map below.

These are shown in more detail in Appendix B — Detailed District Cycle Route Map

4.7 National Cycle Network routes

The Ebury Way route, has been distinctly marked as the only National Cycle Network route in Three Rivers district.
This is a higher profile route and was not selected for prioritisation. Although the need for resurfacing the route and
vegetation cutback is noted, no significant work on interventions is needed so improvements to this route are being
progressed separately. These are marked as a ‘national’ route on the map below.

This is shown in more detail in Appendix B — Detailed District Cycle Route Map

Figure 4.16 — District Cycle Route Map Overview

Page 173

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Three Rivers
Cycling Routes
\-\ ST. ALBAN. \

DACORUM

HERTSMERE
/ WATFORD
[

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE

Legend

LCWIP Status
National
<Null>
Local HARROW

== Primary HILLINGDON

=== Secondary
) neighbouring Districts

T —

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any

of this data to third parties in any form

4.8 Route Selection Tool
Each of the prioritised routes has been assessed using the LCWIP Route Selection Tool'® (RST) which scores the
route against five key criteria:

Directness: How direct a cycle route is in relation to the route travelled by private motor vehicles.
Gradient: How steep a route is.

Safety: How safe a route is, taking account of separation between cyclists and vehicles and motor vehicle
speed and volumes.

Connections: The number of points at which a route can be joined.

Comfort: How comfortable the space is for cycling based on width and surface treatment.

The RST also considers the number of junctions along the route considered to be particularly hazardous or
unattractive for cyclists, usually due to high traffic volumes or speeds, and a lack of separated cycling facilities.
These are defined as ‘critical’ junctions.

The RST was applied firstly to consider the baseline conditions across the five criteria, with each route broken
down into sections of distinct character. An overall baseline score of 0-5 for each criterion across the route is
established.

The route is then re-assessed based on the potential conditions across the five criteria — scoring the route sections
on the basis that they were improved, where possible, to standards identified in the DfT’s Local Transport Note
1/20 (LTN 1/20) — the latest design guidance for cycle infrastructure. More detail on the LTN 1/20 principles is
provided in section 4.9.

DfT’s LCWIP Guidance states that the aim is to achieve a score of at least three and significantly reduce the
number of critical junctions, potentially removing these completely.

Owing to COVID-19 restrictions the initial RST assessment was largely desktop based with assessment sheets
completed remotely using online mapping and satellite imagery. However, spot checks were undertaken on site in
June 2021 at locations where information was not readily available, or more detail was required to complete the

audits. Page 174

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Scores were assigned using the DfT’'s LCWIP Route Selection Tool, with gradient calculated using online mapping
as recommended in this guidance. In cases where traffic data was not available for a specific street the road
characteristic has been used as a proxy for daily vehicle flows. Speed limit was based on the posted speed limit for

all routes.

The summary of the baseline audits is shown in Table 4.3. The scores for the five core design principles are a
function of the conditions across the whole route. The number of critical junctions on each route are also listed.

Table 4.2 Three Rivers baseline results audits summary

S @ e ? v = 2
3 g = 3 % g8:s3
2 ] e © g EEoce
5 g 5 ” £ § 65
n% a o 8 (&} 3
Name

2 Rickmansworth - Watford A412 5.0 26 1.7 4.6 13 5

3 Rickmansworth — West 5.0 43 23 5.0 1.6 0

8 Rickmansworth — Chorleywood 5.0 29 0.7 4.6 0.6 3

14 Shepherds Lane 5.0 3.1 15 4.2 21 1

21 Maple Cross South 5.0 5.0 0.6 3.4 1.0 3

The prioritised routes in Three Rivers generally follow the main corridors of movement — meaning high scores for
the directness of the routes, but lower safety scores due to higher traffic volumes and speeds on these major
routes. Lower comfort scores reflect the fact that cyclists currently move with general traffic on several higher traffic

sections of the routes.

15

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Page 175

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plans-technical-guidance-and-tools


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plans-technical-guidance-and-tools

4.9 Types of cycling interventions

The Department for Transport’s (DfT) Local Transport Note (LTN) 1/20 Cycle Infrastructure Design guidance'® was
introduced in 2020 and should be referred to for detail on cycling infrastructure.

LTN 1/20 states that cycling infrastructure should meet five core design principles as follows:

Coherent: Routes are consistent and simple to follow from origin to destination.

Direct: Routes are at least as direct as those for private vehicles and do not require cyclists to stop and start at
junctions.

Safe: Infrastructure should be safe, and people should feel safe using it.
Comfortable: Good quality, wide routes.
Attractive: Infrastructure is well designed.

In addition, the guidance provides more specific principles including:

Cycle infrastructure should be inclusive and usable by people of all ages and abilities.

Cycles must be treated as vehicles and not as pedestrians with physical separation provided between
pedestrians and cyclists, including at junctions.

Physical separation from high traffic volumes, including at junctions.
Widths should cater for high growth and non-standard cycles.
All highway schemes should include consideration of opportunities to improve provision for cycling.

Schemes should be more than cosmetic public realm schemes and include restrictions to traffic or reallocation of
road space.

Cycle infrastructure should form a connected and holistic network.

Cycle parking should be included in large schemes.

Schemes must be legible and understandable.

Clear and comprehensive wayfinding should be provided.

Flagship infrastructure such as new cycle bridges should form part of a joined-up network.

Schemes should be properly maintained which is as important as the infrastructure itself.

Surfaces must be smooth and durable.

Trials may be important in making sure a permanent scheme works from the start; however, good design is still

required for trial schemes to maximise their chances of success.

Access controls such as barriers should not be used.
Lower cost, pragmatic schemes such as bollards to close a road are preferred where they can be effective.
Routes must be direct and logical.

Cycle routes should be comfortable to ride, minimising the need to stop and start and the need for traffic
calming with vertical deflection (e.g. speed humps).

Schemes must be consistent and not switch between different types of provision such as carriageway lane and
footway.

16

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120

Page 176

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120

The fact that the LTN 1/20 guidance was introduced so recently means that, in common with most of the country,
much existing cycling infrastructure in the study area would not meet the latest requirements. The prioritisation of
interventions in the LCWIP process takes account of which improvements are most urgently required.

The level of design for the LCWIP is necessarily high-level. For example, at this stage, the plans indicate where
there is potential for protected cycle facilities; however, the exact nature of the facility would be subject to further
design work and will be subject to circumstances specific to the route. Types of facility include:

e Hybrid stepped track.
o Kerb separated track.

e Separation provided by locating parking on the outside of the cycle lane (note LTN 1/20 also recommends kerb
or light separation).

e Bi-directional track.

e Light separation such as wands, as have been used in the recent temporary schemes. It is, however,
recommended that the type of design is consistent within each scheme.

A glossary of possible interventions can be found in Appendix C.

4.10 Identified cycling interventions

In identifying measures, the interventions that have been suggested reflect the aspirations outlined in LTN 1/20.
This is necessary in order to provide the quality of infrastructure that will have the greatest chance of achieving
mode shift.

The LCWIP is intended to provide a high-level overview of potential designs only. The deliverability of the
schemes has been considered; however, in all cases, the measures identified will need to be subject to a full
feasibility assessment, safety review and detailed consideration of the impacts on other road users, including
buses and emergency vehicles. On some sections of the routes, very constrained pinch points have been
identified where we are unable to recommend potential interventions at this stage — in these cases further study is
required to identify potential solutions for continuing the cycle route. The deliverability of the schemes is
considered in LCWIP Stage 5 — Prioritising Improvements.

The measures proposed focus on the main links and junctions. In addition, it is recommended that the following
interventions be included when designing schemes in more detail:

e Side road entry treatments, including priority for cyclists, reducing radii and providing raised tables or
continuous footways for pedestrians. The plans provide some examples; however, as it is recommended
that this would be a standard design consideration, the majority of locations are not highlighted.

o Traffic management measures, such as traffic filtering, to support the introduction of cycle schemes on
strategic routes and to create low-traffic connector routes through residential areas. These may include
modal filters (a method of traffic filtering that restricts through motor traffic while allowing access for cyclists
and pedestrians), banned turns, or one-way systems. Some potential examples are provided; however, it is
recommended that these measures be given wider consideration during the design development stage. For
more info, please see Appendix C.

e Permitting of two-way cycling on one-way streets to improve permeability to and from the core network,
subject to individual safety assessment.

e Signalised junctions should be reviewed on a case-by-case basis at feasibility stage, but dedicated signal
stages for cycles should be the first consideration in most cases, with other options considered during the
review, depending on space, junction capacity and safety factors.

e Cycle parking, including secure storage in residential areas and at destinations. Signage and wayfinding to
provide for easy understanding of cycle facilities for cyclists, pedestrians, and other road users, especially
at more complex junctions, and to provide navigation and route reassurance. Redundant signage —
particularly ‘Cyclists Dismount’ — should be removed.

e Decluttering of spaces to provide suitable useable widths and remove obstructions where possible should
be carried out on all routes.

The indicative interventions on the 5 priority routes are shown below.

Page 177

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Route 2 - Watford via Croxley Green A412 to Rickmansworth High Street

Legend s

LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ cossing —2

Large Junction 3

Improvement —4
% Medium Junction — 14

Improvement — 1

Minor Juction w— Natford Routes

Improvement

Upgrade to single

stage signal |
= - controlled
| Upgrade informal cycle crossing.
| crossing to
signalised
crossing
Two-way cycle track if demand

On the south side

at footway level
between Ascot Road
and Frankland Road.

\ Upgrade to single
stage signal

controlled cycle

crossing to provide

| link to Baldwins Lane.

Upgrade pedestrian

| crossing to /.

signal control.

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted o use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-iicense, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Legend N

LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ cossine —l

Large Junction 2

Improvement —1
¢ Medium Junction — 14 Two-way cycle track

Improvement F—3{ On the south side

]»::::’:::fnn‘ — \atford Routes at footway level

between Ascot Road
and Frankland Road.

X

Between The Crescent and Frankland
Road, there is not enough width for a
protected two-way cycle track.
Here, the table of the road

el should be raised (to be level
with the footway), the carriageway
narrowed and high-quality materials
used to change the character of
the street. This should help bring

Priority
a traffic calming effect, making

crossing
Two-way cycle track conditions safer over the
On the south ¥, side road.
side at footway e
level between

The Crescent
and Scots Hill.

\

| New controlled crossings are required |
to help cyclists transition between
the two-way cycle facility and

| Upgrade | the correct side of the
pedestrian carriageway where the provision ends.
crossing L = _
to signal
control.
© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000B43984, You are permitted fo use his data solely 1o enable you o (espond (o, of interact with, the organisati ovided you with the data. You are not permited 1o copy. sub-license, disrbute or sefl any of this data to third

arties in any form

Page 178

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Legend N

LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ cossing —2
Large Junction —
Improvement .
$on- —
’ Minor Juction — \Watford Routes
Improvement
Two-way cycle track
On the south
side at footway
level between e
The Crescent | Upgrade |
o yEy A —1 /09 i C and Scots Hill. | pedestrian |
Replace this roundabout with a signalised T-junction, protecting all N crossing : O "
movements for pedestrians and cyclists. This will facilitate [ to signal
| the transition between where cyclists are mixed with ' control.

| traffic on Scots Hill and the two-way cycle trol
track on the south side of Watford Road.

In this short section on Scots Hill, the table of the t R
road should be raised (to be level with the footway), s
the carriageway narrowed and high-quality materials used to change the

character of the street. This should help bring a traffic

calming effect, making conditions safer for cycling. A good example

of this is on Railton Road by Herne Hill stat

Two-way cycle track

On the south side of

the A412, reallocating space from hatching and
turning lanes. A small section of shared
footway may be necessary at a pinch

point on the approach to the roundabout.

| Anew crossing is required here to |

| transition northbound cyclists from the two-way
cycle track on the south side

| to the short section where cyclists
are mixed with traffic on Scots Hill.

L = -

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS ACO000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy. sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Legend N
Two-way cycle track

LCwIp LCWIP Route On the south side of
@ cossing — the A412, reallocating space from hatching and

Large Junction 2 turning lanes. A small section of shared

Improvement —_—1 <

= footway may be necessary at a pinch
), Medium Junction 14 A
Improvement -— 1 point on the approach to the roundabout.

Minor Juction w— \Watford Routes

Improvement \

| Redesign roundabout with

" controlled crossings on the Quadrant and

| High Street arms to continue
the cycle route to the High Street. An example
roundabout with these features can |

Route 2 -
be seen in Kingston-Upoanhames o Refove parking
by Manorgate Road. Alternatively, convert into Under bridge

| a signalised junction with protected
facilities for cyclists.

to create space
for a two-way
cycle track

Route 2 -
cycling
permitted on
~2m footpath
alongside
railway

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Page 179

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



LCwWIP
@ cossing

Large Junction
Improvement
Medium Junction
Improvement

Legend

LCWIP Route
—-— 2
3
—
— 14

— 21

— Watford Routes

Minor Juction
Improvement

Redesign roundabout with controlled crossings on the Quadrant and High
Street arms to continue the cycle route to the

High Street. An example roundabout with these features can \‘

| be seen in Kingston-Upon-Thames by Manorgate Road._ Alternatively, convert |
‘ into a signalised junction with protected facilities for cyclists.

Route 2 -

under bridge
to create space
for a two-way
cycle track

Route 2 -
cycling
permitted on
~2m footpath
alongside
railway

Remove parking ~ -

Rickmansworth

Two-way cycle track
On the south side of

the A412, reallocating space from hatching and
turning lanes. A small section of shared
footway may be necessary at a pinch

point on the approach to the roundabout.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS ACO000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Route 3 — Ebury Road, parallel with Uxbridge Road and then next to A412

Minor Juction
Improvement

Legend
LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ cossing —_—2
Large Junction 3
Improvement -— g
Medium Junction — 14
Improvement - 1

—\Watford Routes

W [

| Simplify this junction layout and assess

| against LTN 1/20 geometric requirements.

Add parallel crossing to give
|

Meadow Way and Nightingale Road

4 (C]

Route

cyclists priority when transitioning between

Increase

continues on 0 (O] intervisibility
Nightingale / on shared
Road

Two-way cycle

\ path link

track at Longer-term upgrade to
footway level single stage

between Ebury signal controlled

Road and cycle crossing

Nightingale Road

to replace existing
parallel crossings.

oo

Eastbound route
via Ebury

Road - add
traffic calming
and 20mph
speed limit.

Rickmans

Linkto
Cycle \‘

Route 2

| Change junction

| priority here to
give priority to the |
continuing movement
on Ebury Road

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond o, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 180

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




Legend N

LCWIP LCWIP Route . "
- ignage an

Crossing 2 5

. ! — 3 road markings
Large Junction .
Improvement —_s to direct

@ i dunction — 14 cyclists along

 Improvement — 1 the route

’ Minor Juction — Watford Routes

Improvement : /

Review traffic Simplify this junction layout and assess |
speeds along |

/ against LTN 1/20 geometric requirements. \‘
el ;nd agd Add parallel crossing to give
traffic calming y

and a 20mph limit | cyclists priority when transitioning between |

S Meadow Way and Nightingale Road [
Allow contraflow cycling on Berry Lane if necessary / - o =X A |
for eastbound cyclists. Follow LTN \ /
1/20 guidance to determine /
whether traffic reduction (e.g. modal /

filters) or a dedicated

cycle track are required to make
this LTN 1/20 compliant.
Consider making this section

of Berry Lane a school street.

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy. sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Allow contraflow cycling on Berry Lane for eastbound ALt ‘
Legend cyclists. Follow LTN 1/20 guidance to determine N
LCWIP LCWIP Route whether traffic reduction (e.g. modal filters) or
e a dedicated cycle track are required to
s j make this LTN 1/20 compliant. Consider making Z
kel —g TTNsnd this section of Berry Lane a school street.
@ Medium Junction — 14 \
Improvement "
’ Minor Juction — Watford Routes
Improvement
hur C
| Add a pedestrian and i
cycle crossing to facilitate |
| the connection between Berry Lane
’ | and Springwell Lane. Consult
Appendix B of the Greater
| Manchester Interim Active Travel |
| Design Guide for advice on |
et options for this crossing.
. ‘ Tighten junction geometry |
| and treat junctions to give
| cyclists and pedestrians
priority (e.g. through [
’ | continuous footways)
4
Allow cycling

on the alleyway
inside Eastwick

Crescent, B A

Tbe"‘?V'ﬂg Tighten junction geometry |

e | and treat junctions to give !
\ y | cyclists and pedestrians

priority (e.g. through
| continuous footways)

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 181

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




LCWIP
@ cossing

Large Junction
Improvement

Medium Junction
Improvement

&
4

Minor Juction
Improvement

Tighten junction geometry and treat junctions to giye
cyclists and pedestrians priority (e.g. through continuous fogtvaays)

Legend

—N-e

LCWIP Route
—-— 2

3 Allow cycling on ;

—

the alleyway
—t inside Eastwick
2 Crescent,
w— \Natford Routes

removing barriers.

\

Cyclists mixed with traffic
on Long Lane (traffic
calming may need adding
and the speed limit lowering
to make this safe,
comfortable and attractive)

[ Signalise Vthis junction and add facilities for cyclists to transition_ between Long Lane (where they mix
with traffic) and a protected two-way cycle track on the south side of the A413 |

South/East

side two-way
cycle track at
footway level

8

South side two-way cycle
track at the footway

level. Roadspace will
need reallocating from
turning lanes and hatching
to accomodate this.

5

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

LCWIP
@ cossing

Large Junction
Improvement

Medium Junction
Improvement

o
L 2

Minor Juction
Improvement

Legend

® N

LCWIP Route
— 2
3
—
— 14
- 21

— \Watford Routes

South side two-way cycle
track at the footway

level. Roadspace will
need reallocating from
turning lanes and hatching
to accomodate this.

South/East

side two-way

cycle track at

footway level y
~ 4

‘ Side road treatments |
to give pedestrians g
and cyclists priority

over turning traffic.

East side
two-way cycle
track at
footway level

&

S~

VA

" Side road treatments |
| to give pedestrians
and cyclists
priority over
turning traffic. f

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 182

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Legend / N

South/East
LCWIP LCWIP Route side two-way
@ cossing — 2 v joaks Far cycle track at
Large Junction 3 footway level
Improvement — 8
@ i dunction — 14 \
Improvement — 21
’ Minor Juction — Watford Routes
Improvement
Side road treatments /

to give pedestrians

| and cyclists priority
over turning traffic. ‘—@,

East side
two-way cycle
track at
footway level
7

| Side road treatments
to give pedestrians
and cyclists
priority over |
| turning traffic.

Maple Cross

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Route 8 - A404 route between Rickmansworth Station and Chorleywood

—
Cyclists Legend N
:?:f(f?: i:”;h Lcwip LCWIP Route
low-traffic @ crossing —i
environment Cantral :}'?;3:;3::" -
o i-di {1 Medi Juncti — 14
At-grade signalised bi dtlre::h;:nal , @ ecim Jncion .
| pedestrian and i protectecicycie @ [ .
cycle crossing track between Improvement
ideally a single ‘C’:rsri:‘": “?and
stage crossing. geway.
= = . ‘ Contraflow southbound
: Reconfigure junction with cycle priority crossing for ! — cycle lane on

Station Road, cycles
mixed with traffic
northbound subject
to traffic flows.

southbound cyclists to transition to contraflow lane

0

Northbound
cyclists mixed
with traffic
subject to
traffic flows

Replace 7 pay and display bays on Station
Road and Northway with Southbound contraflow stepped
cycle track - previous HCC design as basis.

Extend Station
Road 20mph
limit to

the north

—

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Page 183

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



this side road :

At-grade signalised |
| pedestrian [
| and cycle crossing, |
| ideally a single

stage crossing.

East side two-way

with traffic
ina
low-traffic
environment

Cent

cycle track at Legend N
footway level LCWIP LCWIP Route
(north of the
t = » @ crossing —
| toucan crossing). 2
| Existing 2o H | Large Junction
| toucan | Improvement —_—3
N i @ Medium Junction — 14
Crosslng | Improvement — 21
b Minor Juction — Watford Routes
Improvement
Existing west
side shared
\' e path - widen
Implement full to 3.5m if
| set back priority | possible
| crossing at

Cyclists mixed

ral

bi-directional
protected cycle

track between i TR
bus lane and Reconfigure junction with cycle |
[ carriageway. | priority crossing for

southbound cyclists to
| transition to contraflow lane
I =

-1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

North side two-way
cycle track at

footway level -
widening footway by
reallocating roadspace
wherever possible.

Whatever

There is a narrower section here where the
two-way cycle track may need to become a
"cycle facility which pedestrians may use." There is
an example of this on Selborne Road
in Wathamstow and such a facility is also
referred to in section 5.6.1. of LTN 1/20.
| Side road treatment |
to give pedestrians
and cyclists |
priority over |
| turning traffic.

LCWIP

@ crossing

Large Junction
Improvement

‘%» Medium Junction
V' Improvement

L 4

Minor Juction
Improvement

There is a narrower section here where the two-way cycle track may
need to become a "cycle facility which pedestrians may use." There is
an example of this on Selborne Road in Wathamstow and such

a facility is also referred to in section 5.6.1. of LTN 1/20.

East side
two-way cycle
track at

footway level.

Legend N
LCWIP Route
—
-3
— 8
— 14
— 21

w— Watford Routes

design solution is found, the footway should be widened wherever possible, for

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 184

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



s

Add signal crossings to the signal junction on the M25

exit slip to facilitate crossings for pedestrians and cyclist.

Legend N

LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ crossing A
Large Junction =3
Improvement —3
@ Medium Junction —14
Improvement — 21
Minor Juction = Watford Routes
Improvement

North side two-way
cycle track at

footway level -
widening footway by
reallocating roadspace
wherever possible.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy. sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

North side
two-way cycle
track at
footway level.

North side
two-way cycle
track at
footway level.

Legend N
LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ crossing ——
Large Junction =
Improvement 3
u@/ Medium Junction p—1q
 Improvement — 21
Minor Juction = Watford Routes
Improvement

North side two-way cycle track at footway level. This may need
to be a shared footway, or more preferably, a "cycle

facility which pedestrians may use." There is an example of
this on Selborne Road in Wathamstow and such a facility

is also referred to in section 5.6.1. of LTN 1/20.

North side two-way
cycle track at footway
level - widening
footway by reallocating
roadspace wherever
> A possible.
| Dedicated
cycle stage
at signalised
crossing

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 185

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



cycle track at

footway level.
Reconfigure slip road
entrance and and exit.

| cycle track at
| footway level.

| North side two-way

Reconfigure slip road
entrance and and exit. |

Minor Juction
Improvement

North side
two-way cycle
track at
footway level.

Legend N
LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ crossing —
Large Junction 3
Improvement —
North side two-way @ ::::;:ycmc:m — 14

— 21

— Watford Routes

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

‘ North side two-way cycle

Legend N
LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ crossing — 2
Large Junction 2
Improvement —
§ - : @ Medium Junction — 14
North side two-way cycle track | Medum =
at foogway::veibcoasider . :f,',’;‘i;j‘;:"ﬁ"{ —
extending the 40mp! |
speed limit to beyond the Green |
| Street Junction. Crossing at
the top of Green Street subject |
to confirmation
that all safety and highway
design requirements can be met. |
L -
East side
two-way cycle
track at
footway level.
North side two-way
cycle track at
footway level.
Reconfigure slip road
entrance and and exit.
North side
two-way

cycle track at
footway level.

track at footway level. |
| Reconfigure slip road
| entrance and and exit.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 186

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




Improve crossing
at Orchard
Drive. Route uses
the east-side
side-road.

East side
two-way cycle
track at
footway level.

Aspirations
to improve routing
under the tunnel
taking into
consideration

LCWIP

@ crossing

Large Junction
Improvement
Medium Junction
Improvement
Minor Juction
Improvement

O
*

Consider traffic

Legend
LCWIP Route

—

3
—
— 14
- 21

w— Watford Routes

_— calming measures and
improved crossing

points between the
bridge and the bottom
of Green Street.

existing constraints

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Legend N

LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ crossing s

Large Junction 3

Improvement 3
@ Medium Junction 14

Improvement —21

Minor Juction w— \\atford Routes

Improvement

Consider traffic
calming measures and
improved crossing
points between the
bridge and the bottom
of Green Street.

o

Aspirations

to improve routing
under the tunnel
taking into
consideration
existing constraints

Chorley

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 187

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Route 14 — Starts on Stag Lane in Chorleywood and comes out via Shepherds Lane towards William Penn

Leisure Centre

Side road
treatments, giving
pedestrians and

| cyclists priority
over turning traffic.

LCWIP
@ cossing

Large Junction
Improvement
Medium Junction
Improvement

Minor Juction
Improvement

Legend N

LCWIP Route
—2
3
—3
— 14
— 21

— Vatford Routes

: .
Raised narrowed

Upgrade

: informal
crossing crossing over
to the

Shepherds Lane |
Leisure Centre ——

Side road
treatments, giving
pedestrians and

| cyclists priority
over turning traffic.

Cyclists mixed

with traffic in a

low-traffic, low

speed environment

- existing

= 20mph zone
Raised narrowed
informal

[ crossing over
Shepherds Lane

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or Interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

with a 20mph
speed limit and
traffic calming

Convert rural
road to Quiet
Lane status if
traffic can be
maintained at

current levels.

/

Northbound gateway
to Quiet Lane as
road narrows

with a 30mph

speed limit and
traffic calming

Side road
treatments, giving |
pedestrians and
cyclists priority

over turning traffic.

Medium Junction
Improvement

Minor Juction
Improvement

Side road
treatments, giving
pedestrians and
cyclists priority
over turning traffic.

/‘ Legend N
LCWIP LCWIP Route
g;r;r\;vl;zugd @ crossing e §
Large Junction
the village Imrr?mvemenr —

— 14
— 1

— \Vatford Routes

to the

| Upgrade
| crossing |

Leisure
Centre

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted 10 use this data solely 1o enable you to respond to, or Interact with, the organisation that provided you with the

Page 188

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form




LCWIP
@ crossing

Large Junction
Improvement
Medium Junction
Improvement
Minor Juction
Improvement

Cyclists mixed
with traffic,
subject to
traffic flows.

Traffic calming
along this section
of Stag Lane, with

a 20mph speed limit
and cyclists mixed i
with traffic. W 20mph limit
on Shepherds
Lane - Quiet
Lane status

Northbound
gateway to

the village

with a 20mph
speed limit and
traffic calming

\

3

Legend
LCWIP Route

—2
— 3
—
— 14
— 21

— \Vatford Routes

Convert rural
road to Quiet
Lane status if
traffic can be
maintained at
current levels.

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitied to use this data solely to enable you to respond 10, of Interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data, You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

LCWIP
@ crossing

Large Junction
Improvement
Medium Junction
Improvement
Minor Juction
Improvement

Traffic calming
along this section
of Stag Lane, with

and cyclists mixed
with traffic.

a 20mph speed limit

Legend
LCWIP Route

Y
— 3
—
— 14
—21

— Watford Routes

Cyclists mixed

with traffic,
subject to
traffic flows.

N

-

pplemer

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS ACO000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond 1o, or Interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub

Page 189

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

cense, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form



Route 21 — Chalfont Road to towards Denham and Buckinghamshire border

Legend N

LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ cossing 2
Large Junction 3
Improvement —
Medium Junction —4
Improvement — D1
’ Minor Juction — \Watford Routes
Improvement

Dedicated cycle stages at signalised junction
- allowing cycle movements from
| east side track (route 3)
to west side track -
scheme design under way by HCC

West side
two-way
cycle track
in verge
=S

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sel

of this data to third parties in any form.

Legend N

LCWIP LCWIP Route

@ cosino —
3

: Large Junction

Wes‘ Slde Improvement -— 8

two-way Medium Junction —_—1

cycle track Improvement %1

in verge ’ Minor Juction = Watford Routes
Improvement

o

Signalised cycle
crossing on western
arm. This would need |
to take into account
the bus-only link.

Bus stop
bypass

West side
two-way
cycle track
in verge

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Page 190

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



LCWIP
@ crossing

Large Junction
Improvement

Improvement

Minor Juction
Improvement

West side
two-way
cycle track
in verge

Set back priority crossing

| at HS2 site access.

| Junction arrangement to
be co-ordinated |
with HS2 works. |

% Medium Junction

Legend

LCWIP Route
-— 2
3
- 8
-— 14
- 21

m— Watford Routes

West Hyde

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

LCWIP
@ cosino

Large Junction

Improvement
ﬁ Medium Junction

Improvement

Minor Juction
Improvement

West side
two-way
cycle track
in verge

HS2 construction access road -

cycle priority across junction

but signals may be

required. Junction arrangement to
| be co-ordinated with HS2 works.

Legend

LCWIP Route
-— 2
3
- 8
-— 14
- 21

— Watford Routes

© Crawn copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 191

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




HS2 construction access _road -
cycle priority across junction
but signals may be

be co-ordinated with HS2 works.

required. Junction arrangement to

West side
two-way

cycle track
in verge

LCWIP
@ cosno

Large Junction

Legend N
LCWIP Route

- 2

Improvement —3
Medium Junction -— 14
Improvement — 21

Minor Juction
Improvement

m— Watford Routes

Crown copyri

right and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute

any of this data to third parties in any form.

M

Onward
connections
to Denham —

West side
two-way
cycle track
in verge

Legend N

LCWIP LCWIP Route
. Crossing —2
Large Junction 3
Improvement —_—
Medium Junction — 14
Improvement — 21

Minor Juction
Improvement

— Watford Routes

Crawn copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute

Page 192

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

sell any of this data to third parties in any form




Watford Route W6

Legend

LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ cossing Route_no

Large Junction — 2

Improvement 3

Medium Junction —

Improvement

— 14
Minor Juction
Improvement 2

Watford Routes

— \atford Routes

Crowm

ght and database rights 2025

ACO000849984. You ar

mitted to use this data solely to enable you

th, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permited to copy. sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Legend N

LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ cossing Route_no

Large Junction —

Improvement 3

Medium Junction —

Improvement

— 14
Minor Juction
Improvement 2

Watford Routes

— \atford Routes

Crown c:

yright and database rights 2025 OS ACO000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respos

1 vith. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to c

Page 193

py. sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Legend

LCWIP LCWIP Route
@ coossing Route_no

Large Junction -— 2

Improvement 3

Medium Junction —_—

Improvement

— 14
Minor Juction
Improvement —

Watford Routes

— \Vatford Routes

Crovn copyright and database rights

act with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy. sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Watford Route W17

Legend

LCwIP LCWIP Route
@ cossing Route_no
Large Junction —-— 2
Improvement 3

Medium Junction
Improvement

— 14
’ Minor Juction
Improvement —121
Watford Routes

— \Vatford Routes

—f

wn copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to res|

act with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy. sub-license, distribute or s

Page 194

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

any of this data to third parties in any form.




Legend

LCwWIP LCWIP Route
t @ crossing Route_no
Large Junction -— 2
Improvement 3
Medium Junction -—
Improvement i
Minor Juction
Improvement —

Watford Routes

— \Vatford Routes

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, o interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy. sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

Legend

LCwWIP LCWIP Route
@ cossing Route_no
Large Junction -— 2
Improvement 3
Medium Junction -—
Improvement i
Minor Juction
Improvement —121

Watford Routes

— \Vatford Routes

N

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respand o, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy.

Page 195

b-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.




Legend
LcwiIP LCWIP Route

@ cossing Route_no
Large Junction —-— 2
Improvement 3
Medium Junction —_—
Improvement

— 14
Minor Juction
Improvement —

Watford Routes

— \Vatford Routes

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to ena

you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy. sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data o third parties in any form.

\ Legend
LcwIP LCWIP Route

N

@ cossing Route_no
Large Junction -— 2
Improvement 3

Medium Junction
Improvement 7

Minor Juction
Improvement —121
Watford Routes

— \Watford Routes

—

Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS ACO000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with. the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy.

license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form

4.11 Route Score Improvement
P Page 196

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




Table 6.2 provides the revised RST (Route Selection Tool) scores assuming the measures identified are
implemented along these cycle routes. This indicates that there is significant potential to address the current issues
and provide high quality cycle routes. There is expected to be scope to introduce facilities which can achieve at
least the minimum standard against most criteria. It is acknowledged that on some links there are existing cycle
facilities, and while these may not provide the highest level of service, they may provide a useable cycle link.
Where links like this exist, further improvement here may be considered as a longer-term goal. This is considered
in the Stage 5 Prioritisation process where the local priorities and acceptability are scored.

Table 4.3 RST results summary (with interventions)

°
£
"
c
L
> ©
" £ £
s A 53
- €5 8| 5 ®
2 o |22 2| € 8
3 ] o | & 2 c El =
o 3} = i © o [<} =
X | Name n a|lo | vl ol o o
ExistingScore [P0 [R6 [1.7 |46 [1.3 5
2 ‘ Rickmansworth — Watford A412 Potential Score  [0-0 6 48 (46 R7 0
ExisingScore B0 W3 23 |50 [16 [
3 ‘ Rickmansworth — West Potential Score 0 #3 @49 150 B2 0
Existing Score 50 [29 07 (46 (06 B3
8 ‘ Rickmansworth — Chorleywood Potential Score  [9-0 9 @2 |46 R3 [
Existing Score 50 (31 |15 42 a1
14 ‘ Shepherds Lane Potential Score [P0 (3.1 |32 42 [B2 [0
Existing Score (0 [50 |06 34 1.0 3
21 ‘ Maple Cross South Potential Score 0 .0 |42 B4 B0 0

Page 197

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



412 Consultation — Cycle Route Feedback

The LCWIP and associated routes have been amended following the consultation detailed in section 2.5. A
summary of the feedback received on cycle routes and the response has been included in the table below.

Table 4.4 Cycle Route feedback and responses summary

Route 2 — Rickmansworth Watford A412

Comment

Response

Suggestion for Caravan Lane and Ebury Way as alternatives.

Caravan Lane and Ebury Way are
leisure routes, not suitable for all
users.

Parallel routes like Frankland Rd proposed.

Frankland Rd deviates too far from
desire line.

Concerns about 2-way tracks and access.

2-way tracks are viable with
dropped kerbs; details to be
addressed in feasibility.

Footpath 30 too narrow; alternative via The Cloisters or High Street.

Alternatives noted; feasibility to
explore options.

alleyway running between the High Street to Station Road, (behind
Cloisters) due to the restrictive width.

Requesting this route should be given highest priority within the LCWIP. Acknowledged.
Signalising the junction A412/Scots Hill could interfere with traffic lights at | Acknowledged.
the crossing nearest to Rickmansworth School.

Suggestion to implement speed humps on approach to existing crossing Acknowledged.
location on Scots hill to reduce speed rather than change to signals.

Concerns raised about the conflict between pedestrians and cyclists at the | Acknowledged.

A suggested alternative route along Lavrock Lane/Caravan Lane, instead
of across fortune common, which cyclists already use as a route into the
High Street. This is an existing TRDC Local route.

Caravan Lane is considered a
leisure route, not suitable for all
users and not as direct.

The route improves links to Watford and Rickmansworth from Croxley
Green but does not suggest connecting to routes within Croxley Green.

Local routes identified in Croxley
intersect with the priority route.

Cycle UK - Consider limitations of cycle route using Fortune Common due
to width restriction of path at rear of flats, suggest two-way cycle way on
south side of Park Road.

Incorporated into proposals

Cycle UK — Park Road/Watford Road junction operating with cycle lane —
options to consider.

Cross route over and investigate via Windmill Drive link to north side of
Watford Road

Obtain land around Rickmansworth school with crossing provided further
Watford Road,

Change to T junction iso roundabout

Junction proposal to T junction

WSP - feasibility of Croxley Green proposals due to width restrictions.
Consider using Frankland Road/ Harvey Road for cycle route

Not taken forward, Frankland Rd
deviates too far from desire line.

WSP - feasibility of Croxley Green proposals due to width restrictions.
Consider raised table along Watford Road and change character of the
area allowing for cycling with traffic.

Incorporated into proposals

Route 3 — Rickmansworth West

Comment

Response

General support but corridor is constrained.

Constraints acknowledged; further
study needed.

Suggestion to use housing estate near Moneyhill Parade.

Route amended to use housing
estate.

One-way section on Berry Lane; route not direct.

Acknowledged.

Townfield and Rectory Road path suggested.

Feasibility to explore Townfield
route.

Footpath 65 needs improvement.

FP65 to be addressed outside
LCWIP.

Long wait at Riverside Drive crossing.

Signal phasing to be addressed
outside LCWIP.

The Path between Springwell Avenue and Colne Avenue needs widening
for cycling.

Acknowledged.

Page 198

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




During peak periods of travel there is congestion along Berry Lane which Acknowledged.
is a key route between Rickmansworth and Chorleywood.

The Route should be directed through the High Street to bring additional Acknowledged.
people to shop, buy a coffee and dwell.

This provides a good route travelling west towards Mill End from Acknowledged.
Rickmansworth, but Berry Lane is currently one way so cyclists cannot

cycle in the opposite direction.

An alternative route suggestion was proposed from Nightingale Road to Acknowledged.

Townfield.

Cycle Uk — Identifying alternatives to Uxbridge Road route due to width
restrictions and traffic volume.

Through Aquadrome but would this be year round route due to lighting
restrictions.

Through Money Hill residential area, consideration needed around
gradient of route.

Money Hill routing incorporated in
plans.

Route 8 — Rickmansworth to Chorleywood

Comment

Response

Strong opposition to using Chorleywood Common.

Remove routes on or near
Chorleywood Common.

Common Road one-way not suitable due to buses.

Common Road one-way removed
due to bus use.

Colley Land suggested but steep and narrow.

Colley Land not viable.

Speed concerns near Clement Danes.

Speed zone and crossing to be
considered in feasibility.

Suggestion to widen footpath at Station Approach/Shire Lane.

Widening and signalising bridge not
viable.

Suggested crossing opposite Parish Council.

Speed zone and crossing to be
considered in feasibility.

Route along edge of common proposed.

Edge-of-common route also
removed.

Extension down A404 and Green Street supported by Chorleywood
stakeholders.

Extension down A404 and Green
Street accepted.

Support for a continuous route along A404 on the west side to the M25. Acknowledged.
Extend the route along the A404 to St Clement Danes for a safe cycle Acknowledged.
route to the school from Chorleywood.

Request to move cycle path location adjacent to Common road - less Acknowledged.
intrusive.

Chorleywood common is part of a conservation area. Acknowledged.
Encouraging cycling across the common would destroy wildlife and Acknowledged.
habitat.

Alternative to Common Road would create more traffic and pollution. Acknowledged.
Common Road is a bus route and relied upon by the elderly residents. Acknowledged.
This proposal will lead to a significant increase in traffic accessing Acknowledged.

Chorleywood to use Green Street.

Cycle UK — considering issues with width restrictions Chorleywood Road.

Consider East side two-way cycle track with thought of how shared use
can be accommodated for narrow sections.

Incorporated into proposals

Extension to Green Street if The Common option is removed.
Speed reduction needs to be removed

Crossing required

Options for segregated cycle facility presented

Incorporated into proposals

Route 14 — Shepherds Lane

Comment

Response

Modal filter under M25 opposed.

Modal filter removed.

Alternative via gravel paths on north side of M25.

Bridleway 19 flagged for future
development.

Concerns about buses, footway parking, and traffic.

Further study needed for junctions,
crossings, and speed.

Modal filter will significantly increase traffic on alternative routes.

Modal filter removed.

Modal filter will impact access to William Penn Leisure Centre.

Modal filter removed.

Suggestion to allow car access but reduce speeds.

Acknowledged.

Add speed humps to keep speeds under 20mph. A 100
r JJI

Acknowledged.

Pa¥a'l
aytc 1

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




Modal filter would gridlock Long Lane during M25 issues.

Modal filter removed.

Berry Lane would be overburdened. Acknowledged.
Catnips Farm access issues for large vehicles. Acknowledged.
Suggest width and speed restrictions instead of modal filter. Acknowledged.
Suggest upgrading adjacent footpaths/bridleways as alternatives. Acknowledged.
Route 21 — Maple Cross
Comment Response
General support. Acknowledged.
Alternative via Old Uxbridge Rd proposed. Main road preferred for
connectivity.
Request for onward connections to Buckinghamshire. Acknowledged.
Improve crossing points. Acknowledged.
Suggest continuous cycle track on one side. Acknowledged.
Route 7 — Chorleywood Bottom (Secondary Route)
Comment Response

Opposition to modal filter on Shepherds Bridge.

Modal filter removed.

Suggestion to signalise bridge.

Signalising not feasible due to
highway conflicts.

Page 200

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




5 LCWIP Stage 4 - Network Planning for Walking

This section sets out the process for identifying core walking zones across the LCWIP area and identifying the most
appropriate areas for walking interventions. It should also be noted that walking improvements will also be made
alongside the cycling improvements across the strategic network identified in section 4.

5.1 Core Walking Zones

The first stage of the development of a walking network is to identify the Core Walking Zones (CWZ). The LCWIP
guidance recommends that:

e CWZs should consist of a number of walking trip generators that are located close together - such as a town
centre or business parks.

e An approximate five-minute walking distance of 400m should be used as a guide to the minimum extents of
CWZs.

e All pedestrian infrastructure should be deemed as important within the CWZs.
e Once the CWZs have been identified, the important pedestrian routes (key walking routes) that serve them
should then be located and mapped.

The origin and destination analysis undertaken in section 4 has helped to identify the key walking trip generators in
Three Rivers district. From this analysis the following CWZs have been identified, these are shown in Figure 5.1:

e Rickmansworth Town Centre

e Carpenders Park

e Chorleywood

These CWZs align with the designation of these locations in Three Rivers as ‘designated key centres’ within the
district, and therefore these have been assigned as the initial set of core walking zones. It is envisaged that as the

LCWIP is revised, more core walking zones will be identified to help to create a more comprehensive, coherent
walking network.

It was agreed by council officers that the extents of the important routes that serve the CWZs should be within 1km
of the CWZs. These extents are visible on Figure 5.1.

Page 201

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 5.1 Core Walking

7\

Source: Mott MacDonald

5.2 Priority Walking Routes

Carpenders Park was identified by TRDC as the local priority CWZ. Five priority walking routes connecting
Carpenders Park were identified as priorities. These routes connect the station to a number of residential areas,
development sites and key destinations such as schools. Figure 5.3 shows the identified key walking routes, and
can be summarised as follows:

Walking Route 1 — Carpenders Park Station to Hayling Rd

Walking Route 2 — Carpenders Park Station to Watford Heath

Walking Route 3 — Prestwick Rd (South) Carpenders Park Station to Greenfields School
Walking Route 4 — Carpenders Park Station to Oxhey Lane

Walking Route 5 — Prestwick Rd (North) Carpenders Park Station to Hampermill Lane

Page 202

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Figure 5.2 Key walking routes around South Oxhey and Carpenders Park

I /

Source: Mott MacDonald

5.3 Walking Route Audit Tool

Using the Department for Transport’s (DfT) Walking Route Audit Tool (WRAT), on-site audits were undertaken on
the agreed routes by trained WSP and HCC personnel. The WRAT assesses existing pedestrian infrastructure
against five core design outcomes: attractiveness, comfort, directness, safety, and coherence. It considers the
needs of all users, including vulnerable pedestrians such as older adults, people with visual or mobility
impairments, and those using buggies or walking with children. The audit process also integrates safety inclusion
assessments with a gender-inclusive lens, helping to identify targeted infrastructure improvements.

A summary of the WRAT baseline audits is shown in Table 5.1, with the scores reflecting existing conditions across
each route. These assessments informed the development of walking infrastructure improvement plans, which
were subsequently integrated with cycling infrastructure proposals.

Table 5.1 Three Rivers Key walking routes - Existing WRAT results summary

Name i 2
4 2 R o
c ) " @ [
. ) S n ° 3} o
o 2 t Q BN s fhad
z 3 S £ > o =
g @ € 9 k] ] o
- - “— L (<]
=1 e o = © [<} >
n% < (&) (=] 7] (&} o
1 Carpenders Park Station to Hayling Rd 74 32 81 89 0 61
2 Carpenders Park Station to Watford Heath 46 55 71 33 50 54
3 Prestwick Rd (South) Carpenders Park Station to Greenfields 44 50 81 67 0 56
School
4 Carpenders Park Station to Oxhey Lane 67 60 75 83 50 68
5 Prestwick Rd (North) Carpenders Park Station to Hampermill 45 54 70 78 50 60
Lane

The Three Rivers walking routes are generally direct — with fewer busy roads meaning that desire lines are well

catered for. The lower traffic volumes and speeds are also reflected in the higher safety scores — although the lack

of natural surveillance on route 2 impacts on this safti\._ry score.gbeé,ower comfort scores are a result of poorer path
age

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



condition, and particularly on route 1, where there is footway parking. The coherence scores are generally low,
reflecting the lack of dropped kerbs and tactile paving on some routes.

5.4 Types of walking interventions

Whilst design guidance for walking schemes is more limited than for cycle design guidance, the CIHT Designing for
Walking guidance'” provides a good framework for the principles to apply. Well-designed walking facilities should
enable walking journeys and improve the experience of those already walking by following desire lines, being
clutter-free and being legible to all users. They should take into account the volumes of people walking along the
streets (actual or desired) or crossing the streets and should take into account the needs of all users. The specific
design solutions will therefore depend on a variety of considerations.

Potential interventions could include:

e Increasing the width of footways

e Public realm improvements, including:

— Continuous level footways

— Raised tables.

e Provision of high-quality street furniture and provision of benches

e Improving of pedestrian facilities at traffic signal junctions, including:

— Additional pedestrian crossings

— Reduction in crossing distances

— Changing ‘staggered’ to ‘straight across’ pedestrian crossings.

e Street lighting improvements

e Decluttering and maintenance

e Dropped kerbs and tactile paving.

e Wayfinding

e Measures to assist with access to/by other modes — i.e. bus stops, stations, disabled parking.
e Area wide treatments such as Low Traffic Neighbourhoods.

Page 204

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan


https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/4460/ciht_-_designing_for_walking_document_v2_singles.pdf

Provision should aim to achieve good design outcomes for pedestrians — routes should be attractiveness, comfort,
directness, safety, and connectivity. See section 4.1 for further details.

There is some overlap between the cycle network and walking routes and measures proposed for cycling, such as
junction improvements, can clearly also benefit pedestrians. It is recommended that all cycle schemes consider the
needs of pedestrians and incorporate design measures that will benefit pedestrians as well as cyclists.

5.5 Identified Walking Interventions

In identifying measures for walking, Mott MacDonald has sought to reflect the principles outlined in CIHT’s
Designing for Walking guidance. This is necessary to provide the quality of infrastructure that will have the greatest
chance of achieving mode shift.

As with the cycling interventions, the LCWIP is intended to provide a high-level overview of potential walking
designs only. Effort has been made to consider the deliverability of schemes. However, in all cases, the measures
identified will need to be subject to a full feasibility assessment, safety review and detailed consideration of the
impacts on other road users, including buses and emergency vehicles. WBC, TRDC and HCC may wish to
consider deliverability and acceptability during the prioritisation process in LCWIP Stage 5.

The measures proposed focus on the main links and junctions. In addition, it is recommended that the following
interventions and measures are also considered, with consideration given to the urban or rural nature of the local
environment:

e Usable footway widths of at least two metres in all locations. Where there is high footfall, such as in the town
centre, this should be increased further.

e Crossings should be single stage to reduce pedestrian crossing times. Where this is not feasible due to the
number of traffic lanes, pedestrian wait times should be minimised and green man time should be maximised.

e Footways should be maintained to the same standard they were designed to. If any works are undertaken, the
surface should be replaced to the same standard it was designed to.

e Side road entry treatments, including reducing radii and providing raised tables or continuous footways. These
are noted in some circumstances however, it is recommended that this would be a standard design
consideration.

e Tactile paving and dropped kerbs should be provided at all points pedestrians are expected to cross the road.

e Car parking should be restricted around formal and informal pedestrian crossing points, and where pedestrian
movement is higher (e.g., around bus stops).

e General upkeep and maintenance of the pedestrian environment should be ongoing to ensure the quality of the
route does not deteriorate. This includes litter picking, ongoing maintenance of street furniture and surfaces e.g.,
removal of graffiti on walls, as well as trimming vegetation to maintain useable footway widths and to preserve
visibility.

Routes that scored over 70% in the WRAT assessment are not considered to need additional interventions to bring

them to a suitable standard.

Potential interventions have been created for the walking routes which scored less than 70% when using the
WRAT. However, in many cases it has not been possible to address issues associated with the volume of traffic on
the adjacent highway. Reducing traffic on these walking routes would significantly improve the pedestrian
environment.

The indicative interventions on the 5 priority routes are shown below.

Page 205

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Route 1

<
o
& %
Dropped kerbs and c% & °'a’
- tactile paving 4. Z
qEC® . % 2
Al Qé % 2
4 %
»
&
P
WingRd A Provide designated parking bays \
‘ on road to reduce footway parking
\ B ~escmtden R
1 2 Resurface existing
1 P Y footways — consistent, -
1 X E smooth surface e -
Raised entry 2 - -
| treatments over all — -
‘ side roads -
& =
-
-
, -

Proposed 20mph speed limit — already
chicanes in place to reduce traffic speeds

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2020

'Route 1

gulford Grove Fultard tien

Raised entry treatments
) over all side roads

Point or junction location

== == Route

== == Potential alternative route

Vegetation clearance along southern edge
of carriageway — 2m usable width

<49 Connecting route

Play Space

Provide pedestrian crossing
for school access. Remove

guardrail and double height
kerb & introduce traffic
Hayling Ra calming / formal parking bay:

; - )

z '2,
[ &
o % z 3 %
2 e
A %\ g ‘
« Resurface existing footways — B -
consistent, smooth surface. | Qxhey Baptist ’ -
2m minimum useable width e —— T andrimaty
enfRa - “'\f Provide a raised direct crossing to

1 Improve access to bus stop — - ) the slat}on on the northern side of A
restrict parking around bus stop, 2 \ 8 the carriageway. Remove guardrail ;{3.
- realign footway to cater for desire 2 2 2

line on corner and build out footway - -\ 2 \ %
OImprOVEVISHy Ann Provide informal raised
pedestrian crossing to leisure
centre. Restrict parking around
o Playing Field crossing to improve visibility
t Field
-4 Ly \
4
' 3 Point or junction location
Remove bollards at crossing — add South Oxhey B Wood Primary ¥
tactiles to bring to standard. A% Remove parking bays from footway — ey schoal © mmm== Route
Consider using planters to deter 2 provide on-road bays to increase useable 41
pavement parking and improve
public realm

footway width

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2020

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

== == Potential alternative route

<P Connecting route
Al
—ad

Page 206



>
% Sherwoods Wood

b

%
\

Route 2

Ca

b

.
@
@ Golf Course

5
?

Trim & maintain
vegetation

Juaal

aghlands

reen
Resurface path and

widen to 2m. Provide
lighting & wayfinding

y Spa:

Evidence of

previous surfacing

ce

Improve informal crossing — widen central
island, remove guardrail and deterrent
paving. Deter footway parking on western
edge of carriageway to improve visibility.

Improve wayfinding to route

Trim vegetation & improve
| lighting (especially in tunnel)

Route 5

) == wm ROUte

Point or junction location

== == Potential alternative route
<P Connecting route

=
R(\ ments A e aqﬁ
Contains OS data © Cr and database right 2020 pent®
Route 2 B
x ] &
- | P ' %a th.
Watford'l

Provide formal crossing points to
standard. Remove barriers

== wm RoOUte
== == Potential alternative route

<€ Connecting route

&
P Wa/fqd ey, /»,,4 4
¢ by
% ,
'T ennis Court s
' Oxhey Bowls Cl -
Remove/replace barrier with a
5 & ' more accessibility friendly feature
o I Oxhey c‘:"e';ﬁ" Playing (minimum useable width 2m).
[’ [t & g % %
o Provide a pedestrian crossing as
LA Improve through-route to Trim & maintain viZiebiIit s g
Anthony Close. Route should y vegetation yis p
be lit and footway 2m minimum '
I R
" ,’9
o ' Resurface path and widen to 2m.
' Provide lighting & wayfinding. May
l be pinch points due to existing
fencing — in these locations 1.5m . : : :
I Wit el B sccontabic Point or junction location

Page 207

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan




=1 N N1 ° . rones J
Route 3 — Watford cycle route 6
t 0 iV @ W =™ 1

Watford cycle route 6 to improve walking in conjunction —
a short term improvements to retain shared use. Walking
improvements as shown should be made in the short term

\ e VU JET

/ Proposezomph speed llmn ’

Provnde designated parking bays
on road to reduce footway/verge
parking. Use hatched central
reservanon for additional space

gt AN WP ™

Existing separated shared use on western side —
_ resurface and maintain vegetation to retain width as part
of cycle route 6, but include crossing points in the verge »
{ to provide access to shops
A - esa " ar - wEn
Provide dropped kerbs and tactiles to
standard at each junction/crossing point

\ 23 211V aR% W
End of existing shared use — proposals

to extend shared use as part of cycle

route 6 on eastern side of carriageway.

Absolute minimum 3m, preferable 4m

Raised entry treatments
over all side roads

Point or junction location

| mm mm Route

— Potential alternative route

9 Improve footway on western side of
| mageway resurface and provide
/ , minimum 2m useable width
7S | Prm.aew—n Bu®
X N\ & ~ v ~ c P OHWA . WA AT . m mwm
T S 0T, & L o0 . Propose 20mph speed limit

- Route 3 Watford Cycle Route 6 . Q s 7

End of cycle route 6. Provrde build outs to
improve pedestrian visibility and slow
ae, speeds. Provide informal pedestrian
%, crossmgs on all arms and remove guardrail 4

Provide designated parkmg bays
on road to deter footway/verge
parking. Use hatched central
reservation for additional spaoe

Impmve footway on both sndesN

carriageway — minimum 2m useable width

I Convertts rmsed priority junction ¥ 1 == == Potential alternative route

‘ Q with crossings on all arms to 1 Connecting route
improve school access <

NSV 72 WLY [ -

Page 208

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



wa VA O 7 ) e
=5 wa % Ca

Improve footway on both sides of
: carriageway — minimum 2m useable
|\ width. Retain verge and take space from
carriageway where possible

W\
Route 4

Provide informal
pedestrian crossing on
Carpenders Avenue

L~ .
Provide designated parking bays

on road — acts as traffic calming
and reduces footway/verge parking

Continuous footway
over all side roads

Public realm |mprovemenl on Delta Gain — provide
crossing point to pedestrian footpath and improve
access to local centre. Remove guardrail.

View from footway after exiting
station subway

Yoy

X

\"Al}

Point or junction location |2

- wa ROUtE

larhandafElDapl \

Public realm improvements on Gibbs Couch. Con5|der
pedestrianisation/restricting traffic movements. Provide a
4m wide continuous pedestnan route if not pedestrianised

U —

== == Potential alternative route
<% Connecting route

S TP SR A ——

3 g
‘)‘\
Bauding finan

- Route 5 — Watford Cycle Route 6

Other Sports Facility

Watford cycle route 6 to improve walking in
conjunction — short term improvements to retain
shared use. Walking improvements as shown

should be made in the short term Other Sports Facility

e \ gy The Wood

6n They

% ¥ Play Space
=1
_ﬂi r)
S a7 il , | c‘
Improve informal crossing and route -
v legibility — raise crossing, widen central Existing separated shared use on western 4 p®
] ek " island, remove guardrail and deterrent side — resurface and maintain vegetation -
paving. Deter footway parking on to retain width as part of cycle route 6
—FUlf \estern edge of carriageway to improve \\ )
ot visibility =y A Ay
oute LV <ol e
| — 1 /4 Z * W
L | VISR | === )i j o \_\“\‘“g‘ \ \ \ Q b 90‘\‘052 .
SEG - .(<'Jin_p;nbl)§cﬁool' Provide additional designated parklng
7 bays on road to reduce footway/verge >
‘ ) Y | — | parking. Use hatched central ;Oe{\ﬂcﬂ‘
Point or junction location ] i R - v A\ reservation for additional space ca
L e~ Warren Dell Primary A | \ r

== == Route . School \ s
¢ ) & = & 2
% == == Potential alternative route ! i <

. Religiols Grounds :
<% Connecting route 24 Route 3
. L) ) S
I | e \ o

Page 209

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



L . -
N - Route 5 - Watford
R '~l.'/1 y’ ars S
. G “wbew. Cycle Route 6

New 20mph speed limit
north of Green Lane

%
o"r,,q Watford cycle route 6 to improve walking in
U conjunction — short term improvements to retain

R

~ Remove guardrail and build

>

Q‘,}é“ OU’; t|° i";PTOYs Pedgﬂft@n shared use. Walking improvements as shown
o visibility. Provide pedestrian & should be made in the short term /
& ; ; End of existin f
> signals on all arms of junction 9 11

shared use

eTuaaid

Oxhey Gre
Fu

[

|

|
|
Cycle route 6
continues H

I
Improve footway on both sides of carriageway — I
minimum 2m useable width with smooth surface. |
Include build outs at bus stops & reducing street

clutter

Improve junction legibility and directness —
provide direct raised crossing from Green
Lane over Prestwick Road
|

Existing separated shared use on western
side — resurface and maintain vegetation
to retain width as part of cycle route 6
11

||
\

\\

Provide designated parking bays
on road to reduce footway parking

Green La

Point or junction location ‘\\E;\\anr‘.s

== == Route

Cres

== == Potential alternative route
<P Connecting route W

G

Bowling Green
Tennis Court

5.6 Route Score Improvement

Table 6.5 provides the revised WRAT scores assuming the measures identified are implemented along the key
walking routes.

Table 5.2 Key walking routes - WRAT results summary (with interventions)

= -
=
0 o
o @ = 2 N o [}
= 2 T @ = c »
E=] o = o =
2 S € © 2 § ©¢C
5 iy E @ 2 = ]
=] = Q = ] =] >
e Name <L O o ] O 8]
Carpenders Park Station to Hayling Rd Existing 74 32 81 89 1] 61
1
Potential 95 43 92 a7 100 79
Carpenders Park Station to Watford Heath Existing 50 55 71 33 50 54
2
Potential 83 91 86 67 100 83
Prestwick Rd (South) Carpenders Park Station to Existing 44 50 81 67 0 56

3 Greenfields School
Potential 88 91 81 83 100 87

Carpenders Park Station to Oxhey Lane Existing 67 60 75 83 50 68

Potential 92 85 100 83 100 S0

Prestwick Rd (North) Carpenders Park Station to Existing 45 54 70 78 a0 60
k] Hampermill Lane

Potential 82 86 90 83 100 86

5.7 Consultation - Walking Route Feedback

Relatively few comments on the walking routes were received from early stakeholders, but the importance of
considering disabled users, including people with dementia, was raised. Changes intended to improve conditions
for cyclists should not disadvantage people with disabilities.

In the public consultation, no comments were received on the walking routes across any of the platforms.

Page 210

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



6 LCWIP Stage 5 - Prioritising Improvements

Stage 5 of the LCWIP guidance outlines the approach to prioritising improvements and/or routes. The purpose of
prioritisation is to understand the relative importance of each route and how this will lead to the network being
developed over time. This process is not intended to delete or discount any routes or improvements, merely to
assign it a programme entry against the short, medium, and long-term timescales within the LCWIP.

The LCWIP guidance around prioritisation is limited as it allows authorities to be flexible with the prioritisation
process as it should look to meet the individual requirements of each Local Authority. However, the guidance does
suggest that three broad factors are used to help understand priorities and these are:

e Effectiveness — the impact on increasing levels of cycling and walking
e Policy — how the scheme meets/addresses key local policy objectives
e Deliverability — how deliverable the scheme is, public acceptability, risk, and constraints

It is suggested that whole routes should be prioritised rather than individual interventions or improvements as that
ensures that the whole route is delivered rather than incremental improvements across multiple routes over time.
Primarily routes should first be prioritised by their ability to increase levels of walking and cycling, however other
key factors are also important such as alignment to other schemes/funding streams and deliverability. The
approach to prioritisation in this case has been modified as described in section 4.4, with the Effectiveness and
Policy aspects considered in the pre-prioritisation stage.

6.1 Methodology

The pre-prioritisation processes utilised mostly quantitative and available data to prioritise the routes, however the
criteria around deliverability are in general more qualitative and are based on the best information/knowledge
available at the time. But as noted previously this process is merely to provide an order to delivery rather than
removal of any routes. The criteria agreed with the client team are outlined in Table 7.1 and have been used to
inform the prioritisation of the walking and cycling routes.

Table 6.1 Deliverability Criteria
Criteria How measured/assessed

Technical feasibility Assessment of feasibility based on following key factors:

e  Can it be implemented within the highway boundary?

. Does it require additional approvals/negotiations (i.e., other landowners)
e  Are there any environmental and/or heritage considerations

Scheme support How likely is the scheme to be supported by the public and Political Members

Alignment with funding Assessed against:

streams and/or other e Potential alignment/integration with another scheme/development

schemes e  Potential for funding/funding stream identified (S278/CIL/EATF/LTP/FHSF etc)

Page 211

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



6.2 Assessment

Routes have been prioritised based on these criteria, with the technical assessment based on the high-level

interventions proposed in this report and the scheme support and alignment with funding criteria assessed by local

authority officers.

The overall ranking of the cycling and walking routes for Three Rivers are shown in Table 7.4 and Table 7.5. These

prioritisation rankings take into account all aspects of the prioritisation, including the Effectiveness and Policy
aspects considered in the pre-prioritisation.

Prioritisation for the remainder of the cycle routes within the network remains as indicated following the initial pre-
prioritisation process, as at this stage, no further assessment has been undertaken on these routes. Once these

routes are developed further, they can be prioritised in a similar manner to the top 5 routes as shown below.

Table 7.4: Three Rivers Cycle Route Prioritisation

Station to Hampermill Lane

Prioritisation Status Route Number Route Rank
Priority Route 2 Rickmansworth - Watford 1
Priority Route 3 Rickmansworth - West 2
Priority Route 21 Maple Cross South 3
Priority Route 14 Shepherds Lane 4
Priority Route 8 Rickmansworth - Chorleywood 5
Non-Priority Route 4 A404 Rickmansworth
Non-Priority Route 5 South Way
Non-Priority Route 6 Rickmansworth - Bushey
Non-Priority Route 7 Chorleywood connection
Non-Priority Route 9 Carpenders Park link
Non-Priority Route 10 Abbots Langley (Horseshoe Lane)
Non-Priority Route 11 Toms Lane
Non-Priority Route 12 Bedmond Road
Non-Priority Route 13 A4125 South Oxhey
Non-Priority Route 15 M25 Verge
Non-Priority Route 16 Tolpits Lane connection
Non-Priority Route 17 Oxhey Drive
Non-Priority Route 18 Baldwins Lane
Non-Priority Route 19 Harefield Road
Non-Priority Route 20 Rouseburn Lane
Non-Priority Route 22 Moor Park Lane

Table 7.5: Three Rivers Walking Route Prioritisation

Prioritisation Status Route Number Route Rank

Priority Route 1 Carpenders Park Station to Hayling Rd 1
Priority Route 2 Cnggp%ﬁnders Park Station to Watford 2
Priority Route 3 Brestuick Rd (Sout Garpenders Park |
Priority Route 4 Carpenders Park Station to Oxhey Lane 4
Priority Route 5 Prestwick Rd (North) Carpenders Park 5

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Page 212




7 LCWIP Stage 6 - Integration and Application

Stage 6 of the LCWIP involves the integration of the findings into the wider policy context of the local authorities and
embedding the network plans into future schemes and projects.

71 Timescales and Review

The LCWIP sets out the ambition for the strategic walking and cycling networks in Three Rivers district over the
course of the next 10 years. The prioritisation exercise has shown that some elements will likely be brought
forward ahead of others, allowing the local authorities to integrate the improvements with other planned works most
effectively, and deliver on the council’s priorities.

While this version of the LCWIP reflects the current position and ambition for the networks, the document does not
stand still. As local and national circumstances change the local requirements for infrastructure will also need to be
updated. The LCWIP guidance suggests as a guide that the document is refreshed every four to five years, or if
there is a significant shift in local circumstances or funding.

7.2 Funding

The LCWIP will position the local authorities effectively to take advantage of future funding opportunities —
indications from central government in 2021 have indicated that, while not a requirement, an adopted LCWIP will be
increasingly important for local authorities bidding for active travel funds in the future.

The network plans and supporting documents show a clear commitment to improvements on the routes and will
also support the direction of funding from other sources, providing a resource for developers to understand routes
that may be funded or improved to facilitate future development.

7.3 Policy Integration and Application

The integration of the LCWIP into local policy is crucial for the success of the network. The LCWIP will support
other local policy positions, particularly the Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan. As well as supporting transport
policies, the plan will also support leisure plans such as the Public Rights of Way Improvement Plan, and health
and wellbeing policies.

The LCWIP guidance suggests that the LCWIP could be incorporated into a Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) to provide more guidance to adopted policies in the Local Plan, strengthening its status with developers.

Informing key Council personnel of the LCWIP and its aims will help identify opportunities for elements of the plan
to be brought forward in tandem with other schemes led by different parts of the council, potentially accelerating
delivery.

Page 213

Three Rivers District Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan



Appendix A — Key destinations

1 Out of town retail

Waterfields Retail Park

Watford Arches Retail Park

Colne Bridge Retail Park

Century Park

London Road Retail Park

Apsley Mills Retail Park

Abbey View Retail Park

Dunelm & Wickes, London Road (London Road) B&Q,
Two Waters Road (Corner Hill)

London Road / Two Waters Way (Two Waters West)
Jarman Fields

Dome Roundabout; Sainsburys and Asda

Tesco Store

2 Leisure

Jarman Fields

Woodside

Bushey Mill Lane - Top Golf
Warner Bros. Studio Tour
Cassiobury Park
Rickmansworth Aquadrome
Aldenham Country Park
Leavesdon Country Park
Grove Park

Moor Park

3 Rail stations

Chorleywood London Underground Station, Chorleywood Station Croxley
London Underground Station

Watford High Street Station

Watford Junction Station

Watford North Station

Watford London Underground Station
Carpenders Park Station

Moor Park London Underground Station
Radlett Station

Garston Station

Rickmansworth London Underground Station,

Rickmansworth Station

Bushey Station Page 214



Park Street Station

Hemel Hempstead Station
Apsley Station

King's Langley Station
Bricket Wood Station

How Wood Station

St Albans Abbey Station

4 Secondary schools

Adeyfield

Parmiter's

Cavendish (The)

Hemel Hempstead (The)

Bushey Academy (The)

Watford Grammar School for Girls Westfield
Community Technology College St
Michael's Catholic High

Garston Manor

Marlborough School Science College St
Joan of Arc Catholic

Kings Langley

Rickmansworth Bushey

Meads

Francis Combe Academy St

Clement Danes Queens'

Longdean

Astley Cooper (The)

Watford Grammar School for Boys Falconer
Watford UTC

Reach Free School (The)

Westfield Academy Harperbury

Free School Croxley Danes

Reach Free School (The)

Adeyfield

Laureate Academy

Croxley Danes

5 Key employment

Maylands Business Park, Hemel Hempstead

Whiteleaf Road, Hemel Hempstead

Bourne End Mills, Bourne End Park Lane, Hemel Hempstead
Doolittle Meadows, Hemel Hempstead The Waterfront, Elstree

Centennial Park, Elstree

Page 215



The Rivers Office Park, Maple Cross Home Park Estate, Kings Langley Kingley Park, Kings Langley Ovaltine,
Kings Langley

Kings Park, Kings Langley

Abbots Business Park, Kings Langley Levesden Park, Watford

Clarendon Road / Station Road / Bridle Path, Watford Greycaine Road / Odhams / Sandown Road, Watford
Imperial Way / Colonial Way, Watford

Watford Business Park, Watford

Wiggenhall Road / Fishers / Trade City, Watford Moor Park Industrial Centre, Watford

Clancy Docwra Thames Water

6 Neighbourhood centres

Garston Park Parade Goodwood Parade Longspring

Station Area - Langley Rd/St Albans Rd Buckingham Road

Bushey Arches Vicarage Road Whippendell Road East Adeyfield

Apsley Bennetts End Boxmoor Bovingdon Maylands Chaulden Gadebridge Grovehill
Highfield (Bellgate) Highfield (The Heights) Kings Langley Leverstock Green Nash Mills
Warners End

Harcourt Road (Bushey) Bushey Hall Road (Bushey) Elstree Village Centre Aldenham Road

Bournehall Avenue Bushey Mill Lane Park Avenue Battlers Green Drive Verulamium Estate

7 Main centres

Watford Watford North Abbots Langley Chorleywood Rickmansworth South Oxhey
Hemel Hempstead

Hemel Hempstead Old Town Radlett

Bushey Bushey Heath

8 Local centres

Croxley Green (Watford Road) Croxley Green (New Road) Mill End (Money Hill Parade)

2-8 Chalfont Road, Maple Cross 57-63 High Street, Bedmond

61-65 Station Road, Kings Langley

15 Bridge Road and 5 Old Mill Road, Hunton Bridge 17-22 School Mead, Abbots Langley

5-7a and Sherwood News, College Road, Abbots Langley 1-14 Katherine Place, Abbots Langley

Sarratt Post Office, The Green, Sarratt

41-55 and 295-309 Baldwins Lane, Croxley Green 193-197 Watford Road, Croxley Green

4-12 Scots Hill, 1-3 The Green and 1-4 New Parade, Croxley Green 1-11 Tudor Parade, Mill End / Berry Lane, Mill
End

68-82 Church Lane, Mill End 2-28 Main Avenue, Moor Park

10-24 Hallowes Crescent, South Oxhey 305-317 Prestwick Road, South Oxhey

1-18 The Parade, Delta Gain, Carpenters Park 18-48 Little Oxhey Lane, South Oxhey

46-52 Heronsgate Road, Heronsgate 2-4 Station Approach, Chorleywood

Wyatts House and Shell Filling Station, Rickmansworth Road, Chorleywood The Brow

Euston Avenue Leavesden Road Langley Way Orbital Crescent The Gossamers Tolpits Lane Tudor Avenue

Villiers Road Horseshoe Lane

Page 216



Whippendell Road / Ascot Road St Johns Road

St James Road Harwoods / Hagden Lane Haines Way

Watford Fields North Approach Eastbury Road Woodhall Farm

34-41a Abbey Avenue, St Albans 23-39a Vesta Avenue, St Albans

28-38 Abbots Avenue West, St Albans 81-97 Old Watford Road, Bricket Wood

95-127 Oakwood Road, Bricket Wood

19-27 Blackboy Wood, Bricket Wood

2a Tippendell Lane; 301-305, 337 & 192-204 Watford Road, Chiswell Green 2-30 How Wood
69-71, 68-76 & land south of 84 Park Street; 1-2 Park Street Lane, Park Street

Page 217



T
Legend

APPENDIX B — Detailed District Cycle Route Map

LCWIP Status
National

<Null>

DACORUM

WATFORD

ST. ALBANS
Local
=== Primary
=== Secondary

[ Neighbouring Districts

CWATFORD
™
3 HERTSMERE

>
5 4)«3}
4
4
td
-~
o

~ ,).\‘ E AR V
z \\Q\;}-M:L:§,-ﬂ’
! HARROW
HILLINGB&#

/ s {
\
]
\
\
\

N

HARROW
HILLINGDON

copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
is data to third parties in any form

Three Rivers
Cycling Routes \

DACORUM

$T. ALBAN.

HERTSMERE
WATFORD
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE

Legend

LCWIP Status
National
— <Null>
Local
=== Primary

==e=e Secondary

HILLINGDON
] Neighbouring Districts

HARROW

data to third parties in any form

T —

n copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy. sub-license, distribute or sell any

Page 218



%)

Legend
9 N DACORUM ( _ &, ST. ALBANS
e
LCWIP Status f‘"‘\'& S
National __,7\\
-~
— <Null> "
Local & n"WATFORD
——— P BUCKINGHAMSHIRE b
S f [ HERTSMERE
=== Secondary iy
b o
~ )\,-,}
L

\ =
~. _)"/ 35

[ Neighbouring Districts
~— ?'\ \ \/
\
3,

\\.
W 3
\ /
- 4
~ ,I
s il ™
‘s {
“ \ \
1) \ l\
) ' & \
,/ Aatch \|
~
| b |‘
! N
f \ T
-
.' \ b
! >\\ /’
3 WEE N KN /
A {3 \\ /I
/ \ H
b o5t
[
A4
HARROW
© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell
any of this data to third parties in any form
T BUCKINNGAMSHIRE
Legend N
DACORUM ( ST. ALBANS
\.~7
LCWIP Status R, ) S
N N\ L2
National S~ ‘_,7\\
< .
<Null> ~-.\l ~
Local /’ “" WATFORD
——— P -7 BUCKINGHAMISHIRE T
sty — N x HERTSMERE
=== Secondary X 5
[ Neighbouring Districts = 5 3
¥
STy :\ 1 \/
2 \)- VTS
;
od \ : H/LL/NGD\OT\I\F-/ARROW

\\
\\
|
-
<
F a4
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE > \\
]
) \
. \
T
7/ A
i
/ ks
: \
| \
\ es2
\\ \\\\

P

HILLINGDON

f

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell

Page 219

any of this data to third parties in any form



Legend ’/‘
DACORUM 1 ST. ALBANS
.7
LCWIP Status f...\-l -
National i ,7\\
-~
<Null> o
Local r“’WATFORD
e pr BUCKINGHAMISHIRE !
y Y HERTSMERE
=== Secondary N 5’
[ Neighbouring Districts \ = &
¥
A \ \/
\ \ -
‘\ I~ L )\! -~
7
HILLINGDON el
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE f
h)
AILLINGDON
© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell

any of this data to third parties in any form

Legend N J)\
DACORUM \ ST. ALBANS
7
LCWIP Status f""\'x S
National ‘_,7\\
pret
- <Null> ik
Local “‘z’WATFORD
——— P BUC NGH_AMSH/RE b
rimary { Y HERTSMERE
=== Secondary

[ Neighbouring Districts  IRE

HILLINGDON HARROW

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell

any of this data to third parties in any form



Legend N ,/\
DACORUM { ST. ALBANS
\‘T/- ,
LCWIP Status i
National __,7\\
ot
—— <Null> ‘i
Local CWATFORD
it BUCKINGHAMISH ™
rimary { 'Y HARTSMERE
=== Secondary W
[ Neighbouring Districts = 5 o
¥
" SVEAY (.
‘\ -~
!
\ HILLINGDON el
WATFORD
\
'\\
AN
AN
N
L \
|
© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell
any of this data to third parties in any form
A
A}
Legend N .
DACORUM { ST| ALBANS
«“/- ,
LCWIP Status <55
National ‘_,7\\
et
<Null> -
Local “" WATFORD
——— Pri BUCKINGHAMISHIRE T
Hmaty ' t HERTSMERE

=== Secondary
[ Neighbouring Districts

DACORUM HARROW

HILLINGDON

1. ALBANS

=)
oM B K |
o e !
,,/\_,/ ’l
v !
e H
~~ |
77 )
/ /
4 7
4 /
L /
/” !
- /
- /
-
7 /
,/’ /
-\ /
] ]
\ |
1 ’
\ ]
1 1
\ |
\ \
\ \
\
\ - A

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell

any of this data to third parties in any form



/ T
d
Legend NG /
= ,/ DACORUM ST ALBANS
L
’ f... 1
LCWIP Status / W12
National / __-17\\- ﬁ
/ L.
—— <Null> ’: -
Local ’ CWATFORD
olca .’ f\’
=== Primary | L HERTSMERE
=== Secondary \ Y 3
[ Neighbouring Districts NS \ = b3 S
S —— o N, \ }. -
% 5 S AN \ \/“
Mo \ \
SNo N\ \ Y -
N, A !
DACORUM . \ HILLINGDON el
Noot B 7
~ \ ’
A LY '/
\ \ /
\v\ [} ’
NI {
\ L [}
e N ]
e L)
f”'
—"
—I
-
-‘_____’¢ \L
—
=
g
‘f
‘,——-—-’
X WATFORD
_-4"
-——l
P
o
-
'/
/
© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell
any of this data to third parties in any form
7
Legend J)\
DACORUM | ST. ALBANS
77
LCWIP Status e ’\'L"\
National 4 ,fi\\tr‘J
N
<Null> L
CWATFORD
*\\ Lolcal =,
——= Primary £ HERTSMERE
=== Secondary Y
/3 Nelghbounn\g\ Districts \\ ‘,>~"
NG 1 ~ ol \/“
SO ’J\ ’)"( 35
\
4
\ HILLINGDON HARRGH
>t {
/’,—
i (
==
WATFORD
HERTSMERE

any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 222

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell



DACORUM —— .
—’-
= Legend N g
g dar®” DACORUM ( ST. ALBANS
X K 77
LCWIP Status o WL f‘"‘\'& S
National e a i] N
S ~T
—— <Null> / -
Local r:l WATFORD,
e PTG BUCKINGHAMISHIRE s
y t HERTSMERE
=== Secondary W ;
[ Neighbouring Districts o 7P,
/ )‘ ol
o g Y \
\
& -~
{
HILLINGDON HAREGH
WATFORD
© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell

any of this data to third parties in any form

Legend N

DACORUM ST. ALBANS
S b
LCWIP Status f""\'x S
National ‘_,7\\
pret
<Null> -
Local Nrw TFORD
—— P BUCKINGHAMSHIN b
rimary { Y HERTSMERE
=== Secondary ~ 4
[ Neighbouring Districts o 2

HARROW

HILLINGDON

WATFORD

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell

any of this data to third parties in any form



Legend

LCWIP Status
National
—— <Null>
Local
=== Primary
=== Secondary
[ Neighbouring Districts

o

DACORUM

BUCKINGHAMISHIRE

ST. ALBANS
<77
S |
\l »
A
A"‘
CWATFORD
™
HERTSMERE
>
). :)\/v
S AN \
\ s 3
{

HARROW

HILLINGDON

/ WATFORD

® Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS AC0000849984. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell

any of this data to third parties in any form

Page 224




Appendix C — Glossary of Potential Route
Interventions

1. Minor Junction Improvements:

At side roads: where a need for minor junction improvements has been identified at side
roads, this typically denotes a need to build out the footways (to tighten junction
geometry, reduce turning speeds and shorten crossing distances) and add dropped
kerbs and/or tactile paving where missing. In some cases, it might be good to consider
additional measures, such as banned turns, raised tables, continuous footway or
cycleway crossings or modal filters.

At mini roundabouts: where a need for minor junction improvements has been identified
at junctions which are currently mini roundabouts, this denotes a review against LTN 1/20
guidance and potentially tightening of the junction geometry and/or improving the
crossing facilities. In some cases, especially where there are double mini roundabouts it
may be better to simply replace them with unsignalised priority T-junctions.

Page 225



2. Medium junction improvement: at mid-size junctions, improvements typically denote a need
for pedestrian crossings and protected cycle infrastructure on all arms. In some cases, this might
mean signalising the junction.

Page 226



Page 227



3. Large junction improvement: at large junctions where a need for junction improvements has
been identified, this typically denotes a need for pedestrian crossings and protected cycle
infrastructure on all arms. At particularly large junctions this might mean a Dutch-style
roundabout (with parallel crossings on each arm) or a signalised ‘CYCLOPS'’ style junction (as
have been installed in Manchester in recent years). Some large junctions which are roundabouts
may need converting to signalised crossroads or other forms of signalised junction to be able to
provide the required improvements to pedestrians and cyclists.

Proposed Dutch style cycle and pedestrian friendly roundabout for Boundary Way Hemel
Hempstead

Page 228



4. New / improved pedestrian crossing: where these are included in the plans, this denotes
providing new priority (controlled) crossings for pedestrians to reduce severance or improving
existing crossings. In some cases, this might mean installing new zebra or signalised pedestrian
crossings. In other cases, this may refer to improving an existing crossing, for example by
increasing the green time available at signalised crossings or replacing informal traffic island
crossings with zebra crossings. This has the added benefit of reducing pinch points on the
carriageway for cyclists.

Page 229



5. New / improved pedestrian + cyclist crossing: where these are included in the plans, this
denotes providing new priority (controlled) crossings for pedestrian and cyclists. In some cases,
this might mean installing a new parallel crossing, or a new signalised pedestrian and cycle
crossing (ideally not toucan crossings as these rely on shared use which is discouraged in LTN
1/20). In other cases, it might mean improving an existing crossing, for example by upgrading a
zebra crossing to a parallel crossing which cyclists can also use.

Page 230



6. Traffic Management Measures: traffic calming denotes adding cycle-friendly traffic calming
features to streets and/or reducing speed limits to safe levels for cyclists following LTN 1/20
guidance. Where traffic calming features are considered, these should be cycle friendly (e.g.,
narrowing traffic lanes and carriageways, removing centre lines, or raising tables). Additional
measures could include parking restrictions, resurfacing and gulley cover replacement. Some
traffic-calmed streets may also be suitable for contraflow cycling (either with or without cycle
lanes/tracks) — this has been indicated on the plans where it may be especially useful for the
cycle network. Areas in which traffic filtering is suggested are areas in which there’s a need for
reduced traffic volumes and/or speeds. Methods of implementing this include traffic filtering using
modal filters, banned turns, or one-way systems.

Page 231



Page 232



7. Footway improvements: this could refer to a number of different types of footway
improvement. It could denote ensuring footways have 1.5m clear width to allow wheelchairs and
buggies to pass, widening and/or relocation of permanent/temporary footway obstructions as
necessary (including footway parking). It could also denote resurfacing to fix surface issues
(patching, trenching, uneven surfaces, trip hazards), lighting improvements, and/or the removal
of excess bollards, guard railing and vegetation.

Page 233



8. Segregated cycleway: this denotes the addition of LTN 1/20 compliant segregated cycle
facilities such as kerb-segregated tracks, stepped cycle tracks, footway level tracks, off-road
cycle tracks or lightly segregated cycle lanes (whichever is judged most suitable in feasibility
design). It also includes the necessary traffic calming and speed limit changes need to make the
route LTN 1/20 compliant, as well as bus stop redesign (i.e., to bus stop bypass or shared use
bus border) resurfacing, wayfinding, and gulley cover replacement as necessary.

Page 234



9. Shared use: A shared use path is a path that is designed for both pedestrians and cyclists to
use, and can be created from new or existing footpaths. Shared use paths can be segregated or
unsegregated.

Page 235



10. Mixed traffic: Where cyclists are on-carriageway, mixed with other roads users. It should be
noted that this is only appropriate where speeds and vehicle numbers are low and other existing
or proposed traffic management, and calming measures are in place.

Page 236



APPENDIX D - Policy Context

1 Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans: Technical Guidance for Local Authorities

e Publisher: Department for Transport (DfT)

e Date Published: 2017

e Policy Level: National

e Additional details: provides the framework for undertaking strategic walking and cycling network
developments, including the six-stage process this LCWIP follows, and the type and nature of data

collected and used as part of the process.

2 Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS)

e Publisher: Department for Transport (DfT)

e Date Published: 2017

e Policy Level: National

e Additional details: outlines ambitious targets up to 2025 including a doubling of cycling trip stages each
year whilst also reversing the year-on-year decline in walking trip stages. The benefits of doing this are
stated as potentially leading to cheaper travel and better health, increased productivity for business and
increased footfall in shops. Along with lowering congestion, better air quality, and vibrant, attractive places

and communities.

3 Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4)

e Publisher: Hertfordshire County Council (HCC)

e Date Published: 2018-2031

e Policy Level: County

e Additional details: The key policy document guiding transport strategy in Three Rivers is Hertfordshire's
Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) for 2018 to 2031. This sets out how transport can play a positive role in the
future development of Hertfordshire, through improving economic growth, public health, meeting housing

needs and having a sustainable impact on the environment.

The key challenges and opportunities identified on the LTP are:
o there is predicted to be a 21% increase in population by 2039 (Some 250,000 extra people) which
will likely increase the demand for transport and travel over time.
o improving transport can support economic growth, support regeneration, and improve the health
and wellbeing of the population and environment.
o transport has an important role in tackling health issues such as obesity and air pollution, and in
improving overall quality of life.

o the solutions to these issues must be delivered against a backdrop of public spending pressures.

The LTP sets out objectives across three themes of People, Place and Prosperity. The LTP objectives which the
LCWIP can most effectively support are:

o Enhance connectivity between urban centres in Hertfordshire.

Page 237



o Improve accessibility between employers and their labour markets.
o Enhance the quality and vitality of town centres.

o Reduce carbon emissions.

o Make journeys and their impact safer and healthier; and

o Modal shift and encouraging active travel.

The key supporting strategies are:
o Active Travel Strategy
o Sustainable Modes of Travel Strategy 24/25

The flagship transport improvements are:
o Sustainable Travel Towns
o East-West Mass Rapid Transit System (HERT) connecting towns along the A414 corridor with links
to Watford via the Abbey Line.

The strategic transport Improvements for Watford and Three Rivers are:
o Use of the former Croxley Rail Link as a public transport corridor.

o Cycling infrastructure improvements for Rickmansworth and Watford.

In terms of transport context and issues for Hertfordshire, the following were identified:

o Strong north-south transport network but weaker east-west links, especially for passenger
transport.

o High level of cross-boundary commuting, including 118,000 Hertfordshire residents working in
London.

o Complex movement patterns due to numerous medium-sised urban areas.

o Significant road congestion and capacity constraints on the rail network.

o Potential to improve the attractiveness of walking, cycling, and bus use, encouraging more car
users to switch modes.

o Forecasted 18% increase in peak hour car trips by 2031, impacting the environment and quality of
life, and increasing pressure on highway capacity.

o Future rail lines are expected to be over capacity.

As for the approach to tackling the identified issues, the following were identified:
o Support for walking, cycling, and passenger transport.
o Behaviour change initiatives and traffic demand management.

o Infrastructure provision to cater for increased motor traffic.

As for the transport user hierarchy, the following were identified:
o Prioritises pedestrians and cyclists, followed by passenger transport users, powered two-wheeler
users, and other motor vehicle users.
o Emphasises reducing travel demand, addressing vulnerable road user needs, and supporting

sustainable transport modes.

As for the active travel context and issues, the fallowin identified:
208938



High walking mode share for trips less than 1 mile (76.5%), but significant potential to increase
cycling activity given the low current mode share.

Barriers to walking and cycling include safety, infrastructure, social attitudes, weather, journey
purpose, topography, health, and lack of knowledge or training.

Variable provision of cycling infrastructure, with many areas having patchy and broken linkages.
Opportunities to improve cycling infrastructure as endorsed by the Government’s Cycling and
Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS).

The LCWIP supports these policies by developing key routes and improving safety for all active travel users.

4 South West Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan (SWGTP)

e Publisher: Hertfordshire County Council (HCC)
e Date Published: 2019
e Policy Level: County

e Additional details: Hertfordshire is experiencing significant levels of housing and employment growth,

impacting the transport system in the short, medium, and long term. The Growth and Transport Plan (GTP)

has been developed as a sub-county transport planning approach with South West Hertfordshire being the

sub-area. The purpose of the document is to promote a shift away from private vehicles towards more

sustainable modes of transport and improved modal choice. The South West Hertfordshire GTP

supersedes the South West Hertfordshire Transport Plan.

Seven objectives have been developed for the South West Hertfordshire GTP:

(o]

Support sustainable economic growth in South West Hertfordshire through improving sustainable
modes of travel.

Ensure new infrastructure is resilient to future change.

Provide greater attractiveness and choice of alternatives to the private car with better network
resilience.

Improve health and quality of life through reduced noise and pollution.

Encourage walking and cycling networks to improve the environment and create vibrant
communities.

Improve the safety and perception of safety for walking and cycling.

Reduce transport emissions through embracing new technologies and encouraging sustainable

travel modes.

The Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) process can help deliver on all seven objectives

through the planning and development of improved, safe cycling and walking networks that will promote mode shift

and sustainable travel.

The GTP includes a number of active travel proposals contained within ‘packages’ of interventions, with several of

these falling within the Three Rivers LCWIP area:

(o]

(o]

St Albans to Watford Corridor: Enhanced cycling facilities along the A405 linking St Albans and
Leavesden.

Western Gateway (Watford): Enhanced cycleways and facilities linking the Western Gateway area

Page 239



to Watford Junction.

o Watford-Hemel Hempstead: Enhanced cycleways and facilities along the Grand Union Canal
Towpath and the A411 from Hemel Hempstead to Watford town centre. Watford Junction and
Town Centre public realm enhancements.

o Watford Central: Significant public realm enhancements and improvements to movement and
permeability for sustainable modes on Watford Ring Road. Improved walking and cycling
environment on routes to Watford Junction Station and a new foot, cycle, and bus link bridge at
Colonial Way.

o Watford South: Cycling links in Oxhey, South Oxhey, Carpenders Park, and Bushey.

o Rickmansworth: Enhanced cycleways and facilities towards Rickmansworth railway station and

town centre.

5 Sustainable Modes of Travel Strategy

e Publisher: Hertfordshire County Council (HCC)

e Date Published: 2024/25

e Policy Level: County

e Additional details: While this document does not explicitly target the Three Rivers district, it includes
broader strategies and initiatives that impact neighbouring areas like Watford and St Albans. These
strategies focus on promoting sustainable travel to schools, developing school travel plans, and improving
road safety education. The document provides the council’s vision to increase opportunities for children
and young people to travel to, from, and between schools and colleges by sustainable modes in line with
the Education and Inspections Act 2006, which places a requirement upon on local authorities to promote

said travel methods.

6 Hertfordshire Place and Movement Planning and Design Guide

e Publisher: Hertfordshire County Council (HCC)

e Date Published: 2023

e Policy Level: County

e Additional details: a technical approach intended to recognise the needs of different road users in
Hertfordshire and manage the interfaces between them. It intends to provide a way of looking at the
appropriate function of any section of highway and a basis for deciding which activities should be
prioritised. In doing so, it aims to provide a means to translate LTP4 policies into practice. The document
also mentions the “Three Rivers’ Preferred Local Plan Lower Housing Growth Option” which aims to

protect more Green Belt land with key implications for the area.

7 A414 Corridor Strategy

e Publisher: Hertfordshire County Council (HCC)

e Date Published: 2019

e Policy Level: County

e Additional details: The A414 corridor is an east-west multi-modal corridor extending from Hemel
Hempstead to the M11 through Hertfordshire, including the A405 link to Watford in the north of the LCWIP

study area. The corridor experiences traffic congestion on sections of the road, and poor public transport,

Page



walking, and cycling provision increases dependency on private vehicles. Planned growth of new homes
and jobs will create additional travel demand on this section of the network. A £1.8bn package of
interventions has been proposed, which includes enhancing walking and cycling links and improving the

urban realm.

Eleven objectives have been developed for the Corridor Strategy. The ones which align with the LCWIP include:
o Support sustainable growth: Improving provision for journeys made by public transport and bicycle.
o Improve inter-urban connectivity: Ensuring consistency of travel options from different modes
between links.
o Enable modal shift to active travel: Improving infrastructure and routes for active travel to be a

more attractive alternative to the private car for shorter distance trips.

8 Maintenance for Active Travel Strategy

e Publisher: Hertfordshire County Council (HCC)

e Date Published: 2019

e Policy Level: County

e Additional details: outlines how routine or ad hoc highway maintenance programmes may contribute to
the uptake of active travel, by ensuring that existing infrastructure is kept to the appropriate standards and

new infrastructure suitably maintained to ensure a long, efficient lifecycle.

9 South West Hertfordshire Cycle Study

e Publisher: Hertfordshire County Council (HCC)
e Date Published: 2013
e Policy Level: County
e Additional details: the vision set out within the Southwest Hertfordshire Cycle Study 2013 is for: “a
sustainable, innovative transport system that seeks to make travel within Southwest Herts area easier
through the full utilisation of different transport modes and the better management of the existing network.”
As for the benefits of increased cycling, increasing levels of cycling within southwest Hertfordshire are
expected to:
o Reduce levels of congestion, especially localised congestion related to shorter journeys.
o Improve levels of health and tackle obesity, particularly within children.

o Help to reduce levels of carbon emissions and improve quality of life.

The cycle study supports the wider HCC Active Travel Strategy and aligns with the Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan, which aims to enhance cycling and walking routes across Hertfordshire. The cycle audits have
taken into account stakeholder aspirations, ensuring that the proposed cycle schemes align with the needs and

goals of the local community.

10 District
e Publisher: Three Rivers District Council Local Plan

e Date Published: 2011
e Policy Level: District

¢ Additional details: the current Local Plan ispaﬁérc?%iof being updated, with the council preparing a



new Local Plan which will provide the planning policies and proposals for future sustainable growth in the
district up to 2041

Where available, the links to the policy documents mentioned in this Appendix are provided below:

1.
. Cycling and Walking Investment Strateqgy (CWIS)

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans: Technical Guidance for Local Authorities

. Local Transport Plan 4
. South West Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan (SWGTP)

2
3
4
5. Sustainable Modes of Travel Strategy
6.
7
8
9
1

Hertfordshire Place and Movement Planning and Design Guide

. A414 Corridor Strategy

. Maintenance for Active Travel Strategy: not available as currently under review
. South West Hertfordshire Cycle Study: not available

0. Three Rivers District Council Local Plan

Page 242


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5f32aa668fa8f57ac88dc9dc/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5f622fade90e072bb68d5c74/cycling-walking-investment-strategy.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/sw-herts-gtp-prospectus.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-in-hertfordshire/hertfordshires-sustainable-modes-of-travel-strategy-smots-2024.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx#designguide
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/plans-and-strategies/a414/a414-corridor-strategy-report-8.10.19-pdf-12mb.pdf
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/planning/planning-policy/new-local-plan#New%20Local%20Plan

Three Rivers District Council

Committee Report
Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) Update

Date: 26/09/2024

THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL

Page 243



Report Originator: Head of Service sponsor: ‘ Date Originated:

Kimberley Rowie 26/09/2024

Lead Member Name: ClIr Louise Area of Responsibility: Infrastructure and Economic Development
Price

CMT Date: 01/10/2024

JLT Date: 07/10/2024
REASON FOR REPORT

Reason Legal and Finance Feeback: JLT/CMT Feedback:

This report is being brought to the Finance and Legal CMT
General Public Services, Community No changes No changes
Safety & Infrastructure committee to

provide an update following the LCWIP
public consultation.
PROPOSED ROUTE FOR FURTHER APPROVAL

Meeting Date

Full Council (if required) N/A

PART |
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) Update

1 Summary

1.1 This draft report provides an update on the LCWIP project including the key
findings from the public consultation held between the 22 May to the 17 July

2023.
2 Background
2.1 The LCWIP is a new, strategic approach to planning sustainable active travel

networks, developed to support the aims and objectives of the National Cycling
and Walking Investment Strategy and required to enable the local Highway,
Traffic and Transport Authority, the County Council, to apply for national funding
for these routes.

2.2 The LCWIP process enables the identification of cycling and walking
improvements required at the local level. The process enables a long-term
approach to developing local cycling and walking networks over a ten-year
period and is a vital component of the Government’s strategy to increase the
number of trips made by both forms of active travel.

2.3 The TRDC LCWIP has been developed jointly with the County Council (a
requirement) and Watford Borough Council (a logical partner given the
distribution of settlements in the District around the Watford conurbation, and a
partner which was required by the County Council). Other neighbouring Local
Authorities have been consulted as part of the LCWIP process as were a range
of relevant stakeholders, including all District Council (and other partner Local
Authority) Members.

Page 244



24

2.5

251

252

253

2.6

3.2

3.3

The TRDC LCWIP was approved for public consultation by the Infrastructure,
Housing & Economic Development Committee on the 11 October 2022 with 5
proposed priority cycle route improvements and 5 proposed priority walking
route improvements.

Three documents were provided for the public consultation giving an overview
of the LCWIP proposal which have been detailed in 2.5.1 to 2.5.3. The
consultation requested feedback on the 10 priority routes identified. Potential
future routes were included in the report to provide context but were not
specifically asked to be commented upon.

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Delivery Plan: this detailed 78-page
report detailed the background of how the strategic routes have been assessed
and proposed. This covered both Watford and Three Rivers districts and their
associated LCWIPs.

Three Rivers Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Executive Summary: This
shorter report focused on providing an overview of the LCWIP and the proposed
interventions in Three Rivers district.

Appendix A: This document provided a detailed look at each of the proposed
interventions and what specific improvements could be made.

The LCWIP public consultation ran from the 22 May to the 17 July 2023 led by
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) in partnership with Three Rivers District
Council (TRDC).

Overview of the Public Consultation Report

The consultation closed on the 17 July 2023. Participants were given multiple
ways to provide feedback and a total of 1,542 responses were received across
all methods. In-person engagement sessions were also held to facilitate direct
interaction between residents and council officers.

Hertfordshire County Council completed an analysis of the responses to the
public consultation and have recently shared this draft report with Three Rivers
District Council which is summarised below.

There was a disparity with the age distribution of online respondents with those

in the age groups 40-49, 50-59 and over 60 made up 78% of respondents or
343 of the total 440 respondents. This is indicated in the graph below.

Page 245



Online responses by Age

140 131
120
108 104
100
80
60
40 41
40
20 14
2 N
O —
Under 20 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 Over 60  Prefernot
to say
3.4 Responses to the consultation were predominantly from Chorleywood,
accounting for 55% of online responses and approximately 90% of email
responses.
3.5 The majority of comments received in the consultation were in relation to

concerns around congestion caused by implementing all routes followed by
increased pollution caused by diverted traffic using alternative routes. These
concerns are mostly related to the proposed modal filter on route 14 which is
proposed to be removed from the proposed interventions.

4 Overview of the Route Specific Feedback from the Public Consultation
Report
4.1 The table below shows the number of comments made specific to a route.
Route No. of In Neutral Object
comments support
Route 2 - Watford via Croxley Green 6 2 3 1
A412 to Rickmansworth Highstreet
Route 3 - Ebury Road, parallel with 9 4 3 2

Uxbridge Road and then past
Woodoaks Farm on A412

Route 8 - Chorleywood Train Station 129 6 32 91
across the common and down the

A404

Route 14 - Starts on Stag Lane in 143 4 38 101

Chorleywood and comes out via
Shepherds Lane towards William

Penn LC

Route 21 - Maple Cross, on the end of | 3 2 1 0
route 3 along A412

route 7 - Chorleywood Bottom (not 127 4 32 91

priority route)

4.2 An overview of the feedback received of each route is detailed below.

Page 246



4.2.1

4.2.2

423

Route 2 - Watford via Croxley Green A412 to Rickmansworth Highstreet:
There were few comments received for route 2 and overall, they were positive
towards the proposal.

Wattora
&
: ( A5
ywoo% 1 : é) ) %\

OJq

Mill End NALL
Q)

Q Park .

K <\\ % E::ate 017/7";

Route 3 - Ebury Road, parallel with Uxbridge Road and then past
Woodoaks Farm on A412: The main comments received on route 3 were
focused on the current one-way section on Berry Lane and that the route is not
direct. The cycle route leaves Uxbridge Road to continue along Nightingale
Road, due to highway width restrictions along Uxbridge Road. Due to house
frontages and on street parking meaning there is no scope to increase space
and provide cycling infrastructure on the Uxbridge Road.

_ A .
horleywood (7o) p) Croxley
5 et

Route 14 - Starts on Stag Lane in Chorleywood and comes out via
Shepherds Lane towards William Penn LC: This route received the highest
number of comments, mostly against the proposed modal filter on Shepherds
Lane under the M25 motorway.

Page 247



42.4

425

Rickmansworth

Route 21 - Maple Cross, on the end of route 3 along A412: Comments
received on this route were positive with requests for on onward connections to
be provided into Buckinghamshire. Additional comments received were looking
at the route in more detail which would be looked at in further detail during later
stages of design.

7 ‘6\ E

London Borough «

Route 8 - Chorleywood Train Station across the common and down the
A404: The route faced strong opposition against using Chorleywood Common
and more generally making Common Road one way and the resulting
congestion in Chorleywood.

Page 248



4.2.6

4.2.7

5.1

52

Mill End

~
R
,,)\

/

5 proposed walking routes in South Oxhey: No comments were received on
the walking routes across any of the platforms.

Other: Further comments were received on route 7. The route runs along
Chorleywood Bottom, with a modal filter being suggested on Shepherds Bridge.
This route is part of TRDC local cycling network and although was feature on
the map was not one of the priority routes and not part of this consultation.
However, comments were received and were not in support of this proposal. An
alternative suggestion to signalise the bridge instead was investigated and not
deemed feasible due to highway conflicts that would be created.

horleywood 1

=
07 -8

014
Post Consultation Review

Following a review of the LCWIP feedback, officers from Hertfordshire County
Council and Three Rivers District Council investigated concerns raised as well
as other suggestions and proposed alternative routes. This was done in
consultation with highways via site visits and meetings. A more detailed review
of this work can be viewed in Appendix 1. Summary of Proposed Changes.

Given the concern raised on the Chorleywood proposals it was decided to invite
Chorleywood Residents Association and Chorleywood Parish Council to a
meeting to discuss the LCWIP in Chorleywood and possible alternative options.
A meeting was held on the 19 September 2024 with Chorleywood Residents
Assaociation, Chorleywood Parish Council and Ward Councillors which focused
on the Chorleywood area and routes 8 and 14.

Representatives from Hertfordshire County Council and Three Rivers District
Council provided an update on the LCWIP development and the proposed next
steps. The attendees were informed of the route changes proposed below in 5.3

Page 249



such as the removal of the modal filter on route 14 and the removal of the use
of the common and Common Road for route 8.

Representatives from Chorleywood Residents Association and Chorleywood
Parish Council suggested alterations to routes 8 and 14. These suggestions will
be reviewed by officers for inclusion prior to the LCWIP final version being
agreed or as part of local route developments.

5.3 Hertfordshire County Council and Three Rivers District Council propose to
progress the LCWIP development to the next stage by making the necessary
amends to the routes based on the consultation review. The table below shows
the proposed changes to the LCWIP routes:

Route Description of Route Proposed Changes
2 Watford via Croxley to None at this stage.
Rickmansworth High Street
3 Rickmansworth to Denham | Include the alternative route through Townfield

Way via Nightingale Road alongside Fire station.
and Springwell Avenue

8 Rickmansworth Station Route across the common and alternative one way
across the common to along Common Road to be removed, consider
Chorleywood Station extending route along the A404 to Clement Danes
school.
14 Stag Lane and Shepherds Remove modal filter but maintain the minor junction
Lane, Mill End improvements and look at slowing vehicle speeds to

improve conditions for cycling.

21

Chalfont Road to towards None at this stage.
Denham and Bucks border

7

this is a TRDC local route be removed as not supported.

Walking
Routes

5 routes in South Oxhey None at this stage.

6.1

6.2

6.3

Options and Reasons for Recommendations

There has been a significant level of response on the draft LCWIP with many
comments received by email, online survey and through the engagement
events. Whilst there is some public support for encouraging and increasing
cycle and walking provision in Three Rivers district this is less evident in specific
areas where the proposed routes (and route interventions) have raised
significant objection. This is most evident in Chorleywood where the modal filter
and use of the common and Common Road saw significant objection.

More generally the routes outside Chorleywood have received less comment
and are more supported albeit some alternatives/suggestions have required
investigation. Notwithstanding these, it is suggested the majority of these routes
(outside Chorleywood) remain as proposed in the draft LCWIP, as detailed in
the table above.

Whilst the identified interventions on routes are only high levels suggestions at
this stage, it is proposed the route in Chorleywood will be amended to remove
the modal filter on route 14. However, improvements along Shepherds Lane will
remain to improve access to the leisure centre, schools, park and residential
areas. Route 8 across the common and alternative one way along Common
Road will be also removed.

Page 250

Not a priority LCWIP route, | Route to remain as local cycling route but modal filter to




6.4

6.5

6.6

7.1

7.2

9.1

10

10.1

11

111

Continuing discussions with Chorleywood outside of the LCWIP development
will allow Officers to understand how and if cycling provision can be supported
here. If further route suggestions come forward, these may be included within
our local routes or as a possible amendment to the LCWIP during the technical
stage prior to adoption as noted in 6.6.

Approval to continue developing the LCWIP taking into account the public
consultation responses and the proposed changes detailed above will allow
officers and partners to work together to redraft an LCWIP ready for adoption
and to begin seeking funding for the improvement of cycling and walking
infrastructure in Three Rivers district.

Other proposed routes deemed viable may be included as part of an amendment
to the LCWIP during the technical development stage such as the suggestions
to extend route 8 along the A404 to Clement Danes school.

Policy/Budget Reference and Implications

The recommendations in this report are within the Council’s agreed policy and
budgets and will wherever possible be delivered through by external funding.
The relevant policy is entitled Corporate Framework 2020-2023 and was
published on 18 September 2020. Further details are included in the Regulatory
Services Service Plan.

The recommendations in this report relate to the achievement of the following
performance indicators:

¢ Delivery and implementation of a Cycling and Walking Strategy

Legal, Equal Opportunities, Community Safety, Public Health, Customer
Services Centre

None specific
Financial

The delivery and adoption of the LCWIP is within existing budgets. The proposed
Plan purely sets out a Policy perspective and does not commit the District
Council to deliver any of its proposed schemes. Any proposals not provided for
within current budgets will be brought forward for consideration as part of the
normal budget process.

Staffing Implications

The vacant role of Principal Sustainable Transport Officer was filled in July 2024
providing the staffing resource to oversee the development of the LCWIP. This
project is not expected to require additional staffing resources outside of the
Transport and Parking team. Officers are continuing to closely work with HCC
Officers to finalise a LCWIP for the District.

Climate Change and Sustainability Implications

The LCWIP referenced in this report will support the transition to sustainable
forms of travel in the district, reduce emissions to net-zero carbon and increase
sustainability across a wide range of areas. Progression of this Plan will
contribute to the completion of safer, more attractive routes for all people to cycle
and walk. Each route connects two or more key destinations including local

Page 251



settlements, schools and educational sites, employment areas and community
facilities.

12 Communications and Website Implications
13 The project will be managed using existing resources, staffing and
communications support.
14 Risk and Health & Safety Implications
14.1 The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on
the website at
14.2 The subject of this report is covered by the Regulatory Services plan. Any risks
resulting from this report will be included in the risk register and, if necessary,
managed within this plan.
Nature of Consequence | Suggested Response Risk Rating
L ﬁ';::::as (tolerate, treat | (combination
terminate, of likelihood
transfer) and impact)
Infrastructure | Schemes within | The plan was | Tolerate 3
Plan naot the District developed to
adopted due could a high
to public lack | potentially be standard
of support ineligible for using input
central and review
government from multiple
funding expert and
local groups,
Councillors
and
organisations
to ensure
potential
CONCerns are
addressed.
15 Recommendation
15.1 It is recommended that:
i) Members note the report and approve the proposed changes as a
result of the public consultation and further investigations detailed in the
table below:
Route Description of Route Proposed Changes
2 Watford via Croxley to None at this stage.
Rickmansworth High Street
3 Rickmansworth to Denham | Include the alternative route through Townfield
Way via Nightingale Road alongside Fire station.
and Springwell Avenue
8 Rickmansworth Station Route across the common and alternative one way
across the common to along Common Road to be removed, consider
Chorleywood Station

Page 252



http://www.threerivers.gov.uk/

extending route along the A404 to Clement Danes
school.

14 Stag Lane and Shepherds Remove modal filter but maintain the minor junction

Lane, Mill End improvements and look at slowing vehicle speeds to
improve conditions for cycling.

21 Chalfont Road to towards None at this stage.
Denham and Bucks border

7 Not a priority LCWIP route, | Route to remain as local cycling route but modal filter to
this is a TRDC local route be removed as not supported.

Walking 5 routes in South Oxhey None at this stage.

Routes

ii) Officers continue to pursue the LCWIP for presentation of a Plan for adoption

at a future Committee meeting.

Page 253




Report prepared by: Tom Rankin, Principal Sustainable Travel Planner and Transport
Officer

Background Papers

e Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Delivery Plan (document
from the LCWIP public consultation)

e Three Rivers Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Executive
Summary (document from the LCWIP public consultation)

e Appendix A (document from the LCWIP public consultation)

APPENDICES / ATTACHMENTS

e Appendix 1: Summary of Proposed Changes

Page 254



Appendix 1: Summary of Proposed Changes

leisure centre and schools.

given constraints.
Look at tightening
junctions,
improving
crossings and
lowering speed
along Shepherds
Lane. Remove
modal filter from
LCWIP

Relate | Location Suggestion Review Amendme
d nt to
Route document
Long Lane, Long Lane to be investigated Understand use of | No
Chorleywood | as to whether signage can be Long Lane by
amended, camera HGV's is long
enforcement would be an standing issue, to
option. Sat nav diversions can | be progressed
be avoided. within HCC
outside of the
LCWIP
8 Colley Land, Need to review Colley Land After site visit, No
Chorleywood | and access if this is a possible | agreed that Colley
alternative route to line up with | Land is not a
crossing and route around the | suitable
common. alternative. Route
is steep and
narrow and limited
options to
improve.
7 (not Railway Shepherds Bridge, On design review | No
priority | Bridge on Chorleywood Bottom modal with both Road
route) Chorleywood | filter possible change to a Safety and HIG
Bottom signalised option instead. Lead this is not
(Route 7) This could allow possible due to
shuttle running and for cyclists | space constraints,
and vehicles to use it. conflict between
vehicles,
pedestrian and
cyclists.
Signalising both
Shire Lane and
Chorleywood
Bottom would not
be viable.
Green Street, | Green Street, improve existing | Agree with Yes
Chorleywood | infrastructure, get vegetation maintenance of
cut back and maintained. Flag | existing shared
for future development. footway. Flag for
future
development
opportunities.
Potential for Route
8 to be extended
to Clement Danes
School
14 Shepherds Modal filter is not possible at Support removal Yes
Lane by M25 | this location due to farm, of modal filter

Page 255




14

Stag Lane,
Bridleway 19,
Chorleywood

Stag Lane, Bridleway 19 as an
alternative to get to Mill End
and Rickmansworth.

RoW aware of a
potential planning
application for the
area which could
provide an
opportunity to
upgrade the
bridleway and
provide footpath to
the primary school
along Stag Lane.
Add to LCWIP if a
planning
application is
received, flag for
future
development of
footpath and links
to RoW network
(bridleway 19).

Yes

Common
Road,
Chorleywood

Common Road one way
alternative to the route across
the Common (Route 8) from
the LCWIP.

No issues raised
by PTU during
consultation.
Buses 336 stops
on Common Rd 9
times a day mon-
friand 7 times on
Saturday. Not
suitable as one
way route due to
bus frequency and
diversion needed.
Remove One way
alternative to route
8

Yes

Rickmanswort
h Train
Station

No step free access at
Rickmansworth Station.

Review step free
access
programme to
stations with Tfl.
For progression
outside of the
LCWIP process.

No

A404, St.
Clement
Danes School

Outside Clement Danes
address speed as currently
40mph

Possible
consideration for
school zone but
unlikely given the
current nature of
the road, it's
unlikely this would
meet speed
management
criteria for 20’s
without
considerable
changes to road
layout. This would
be looked at as
part of any
possible extension
of route 8 to
Clement Danes.

To be
looked at
should
route 8 be
extended to
Clement
Danes.

Page 256




Station
approach/Shir
e Lane,
Chorleywood

Widen footpath and add
signals to the railway bridge at
Station approach/Shire Lane

On design review
with both Road
Safety and HIG
Lead this is not
possible due to
space constraints,
conflict between
vehicles,
pedestrian and
cyclists.
Signalising both
Shire Lane and
Chorleywood
Bottom would not
be viable.

No

A404

Potential crossing on
Rickmansworth Rd, A404
opposite the Parish Council
Offices

Discussed
crossing here with
Road Safety,
Lower speed limit
would need to
extended to cover
crossing. This
would help
facilitate the route
across the
common. (As this
is proven difficult
and unsupported,
The route across
the common
(section of Route
8) will be removed
and look to extend
the route to
Clement Danes
instead.

To be
looked at
should
route 8 be
extended to
Clement
Danes

Various Train
Stations

Add in desirable locations for
secure bike storage. From Bike
Theft data, would suggest
secure cycle storage needed
at Chorleywood Train Station,
Rickmansworth Town Centre
and train station. South Oxhey
Parade and Carpenders Park
station

Suitable locations
to be agreed with
TRDC. Appendix
of locations could
be added.
Potential issues
with existing bike
storage and ASB,
call for CCTV- be
mindful of this
when considering
future sites.
Discuss EV bike
charging
possibilities.
Considering
additional cycle
parking at
Chorleywood but
limited
opportunities at
expense of
parking bays. No
evidence of

Yes

Page 257




pressure for EV
bike charging

Common
Road,
Chorleywood

Common Road Route 8 one
way option to be removed, look
at option to replace with the
route around the edge of the
common alongside the road.

This has been
investigated and
unlikely to be a
viable option as
would still require
being on the
Common and this
is unsupported.
Remove routes in
or around the
common.

Yes

6 (not
priority
route)

Moor Park

Local route through Moor Park
has been identified as through
private estate and not for
public access.

Check local route,
public have right
to pass over
private estate
roads to access
station.

No

Park Road/
High Street,
Rickmanswort
h

Link from Route 2 at Park Rd
roundabout to the High Street,
Footpath 30, concerns over
pedestrians and cyclists being
encouraged to use narrow
footpath.

Footpath is
narrow.
Alternative route
via cloisters would
require ramp to
address steps to
the district offices
car park, not ideal
but there is
existing painted
cycle lane on the
Cloisters. For
alternative along
High Street it
would require
removal of parking
which is unlikely to
be supported by
members.

Consider ending
route at Park Rd
Roundabout with
High Street and
leaving it up to
people to make
their on way from
here?

No

19

Rickmanswort
h

Look at upgrading towpath
surfacing and canal path
connections to Aquadrome.
Believe some work ongoing
with Sustrans and Aquadrome
access. Also, where route 19
could use towpath instead.
Towpaths need to be
highlighted in LCWIP - Canals
and river Trust.

HCC aware of
Sustrans
approach.

TRDC would
encourage
towpath
improvements
linking NCN6 with
Ebury Way but
recognise
limitations around
Batchworth Lock.

Yes

Page 258




The Oaks/
Eastbury
Road, Oxhey
Hall

Review route through The
Oaks to Eastbury Road,
Possibility of this as a cycle
route connecting to the Ebury
Way. On desktop review, looks
to be going through residential
roads and short sections of
footpath which connect them.

Discuss with HCC.
Potential
alternative but
may be concerns
from residents.
This route was
reviewed during
site visit. Route is
suitable to be
used and requires
better signage.
The route was
well used during
site visit. There is
lighting that also
lines the footpath.
Would require
widening as
overgrown
vegetation there
but on site visit
seems a viable
option to connect
to the Ebury way.
Add as a link to
Ebury Way.

Yes

Batchworth Bridge lighting
issues to relevant team for
assessing.

Future towpath
feasibility study to
be added to work
programme.
Batchworth Bridge
issues raised
previously with
other HCC teams
and will be
progressed
outside of the
LCWIP process
(Currently tied up
in a petition).
TRDC are having
discussions with
CRT re: Ebury
Way entrance.
Sustrans also
have aspirations
for Riverside Rd.

No — Work
being
carried out
by HLB
team to
investigate
options
here.

Rickmanswort
h Highstreet

Additional secure cycle parking
in the High Street in
appropriate locations to be
discussed.

TRDC have
recently replaced
cycle stands at 3
different locations
in High Street.

Townfield,
Rickmanswort
h

Alternative route for route 3 to
use Townfield and path
alongside of the Fire station on
Rectory Road.

Townfield agreed
as additional
alternative route to
be added to the
LCWIP.

Yes

Page 259




Uxbridge Footpath 65 improvements Ongoing No
Road, Mill Route from Uxbridge Road to discussions with
End Aquadrome. HCC RoW re
FP65. To be
progressed
outside of the
LCWIP process.
Riverside Traffic light phasing on Refer to Signals No
Drive, Riverside Drive, long wait for team for review of
Rickmanswort | cyclists crossing phasing. To be
h progressed
outside of the
LCWIP process
21 Uxbridge Questions raised around the Discussed at No
Road/ cycle route on the NW side of gateway meeting.
Denham Way | the Uxbridge Road when This would be
existing shared use cycling reviewed and
exists on SE side and room considered at the
towards the Denham end to next stage of
widen the path for increased design when route
provision. (refers to route 21) progressed.
Oxhey Oxhey Lane/A4008, route to Not viewed as No
Lane/A4008 Bushey station. strategic route
A4125 Improvement in pedestrian Not identified asa | No
Hampermill access from Oaklands Avenue, | priority route.
lane/ Sandy WD19, leading to the TFL Rail | Footpath widths
Lodge Lane Station at Moor Park and to the | along Hampermill
footbridge over the Colne at lane and safety
Hampermill. are a wider HCC
issue. Bridge on
Watford Rural
002FP02
Croxley Suggest a cycle path on The Green is No
Green Croxley Green by removing common Land and
strip of grass between footpath | unlikely to be
and road and widening path for | supported/manag
cyclists and pedestrians. ed by CGPC

Page 260




THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL

Page 261




This page is intentionally left blank



GENERAL PUBLIC SERVICES AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT COMMITTEE

WORK PROGRAMME

No. | Items to be Link to Date of Next Purpose of the Report How the work Responsible | Outcome Expected
considered Strategic Meeting will be done Officer
Plan
October 2025
1. P3 Budget 14 October 2025 | The report will cover this Written report Finance
Management committee’s financial Business
Report position over the Medium Partner
Term (2025-2028) as at
Y Period 3 (end of June
Q 2025).
D Public Health 14 October 2025 | The report will provide an | Written report Partnerships
8 overview of work and Inclusion
w undertaken through Public Manager
Health Funded
workstreams
January 2026
3. P6 Budget 13 January 2026 | The report will cover this Written report Finance
Management committee’s financial Business
Report position over the Medium Partner
term (2025-2028) as at
Period 6 (end of
September 2025)
March 2026

€T Wa)| epusaby



No. | Items to be Link to Date of Next Purpose of the Report How the work Responsible | Outcome Expected
considered Strategic Meeting will be done Officer
Plan
4, P10 Budget 17 March 2026 The report will cover this Written report Finance
Management committee’s financial Business
Report position over the Medium Partner
term (2025-2028) as at
Period 6 (end of January
2026)
o
Q
«Q
@
N
(@)
AN




	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Variation of the Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) with Restrictions for Dogs
	Appendix 1 - Public Consultation Response Data
	Project Report
	01 October 2024 - 31 December 2024

	Have Your Say Three Rivers
	Variations and extension of Public Spaces Protection Order
	Highlights


	Appendix 2 - Equalities Impact Assessment
	Appendix 3 - Sustainability Impact Assessment

	8 Community Safety Annual Report 2024-2025
	9 Housing Allocations Policy Review 2025
	Appendix 1 - Housing Allocations Policy 2025
	Appendix 2 - Housing Allocations Policy 2025 Comparison Document
	Appendix 3 - Short Equality Impact Assessment
	Appendix 4 - Sustainability Impact Assessment

	10 App Based Parking Payment Solution
	Equality Impact Assessment

	11 Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan
	Appendix A - Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (including appendices)
	Appendix B - LCWIP Public Consultation Report to General Public Services, Community Safety & Infastructure Committee 15 October 2024

	13 Work Programme

